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Provide the highest quality desert organic milk in the world
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Youthful, Open, Transformative, Sustainable, and Collaborative
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Striving for 15 Years, Creating a Green Miracle
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China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (the "Company” or “China Shengmu”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), as China's first raw milk
supplier certified by both domestic and EU organic standards, has firmly pursued a high-quality development path guided by ecological priority
and green sustainability, with the Ulan Buh Desert as its core base. We have transformed 350,000 mu of desert into high-quality pasture, planted
over 98 million sand-fixing trees, and built a robust sand barrier, turning 220 square kilometers of desert into an oasis. This once barren land
has been transformed into an ecological organic paradise. We have significantly increased our investment in ecological construction, solidifying
the industrial environmental foundation, constructing 193.3 kilometers of roads, 277.9 kilometers of power lines, 11 reservoirs, 9 organic manure
fermentation plants, and 1 bio-organic fertilizer processing plant in the desert.
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China Shengmu has successfully established a closed-loop ecological industry of “desert oasis + organic farming and breeding”. By the end of
the reporting period, the Group owned 34 farms, including organic milk farms, DHA milk farms, organic A2 milk farms, and standard high-quality
raw milk farms, with a total of 144,000 dairy cows and a daily fresh milk production of approximately 2,015 tonnes. The annual production
capacity of ecological organic raw milk has reached 600,000 tonnes.
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China Shengmu was recognized by the United Nations Global Compact as the best practice in the category of “Sustainable Production and
Consumption”. China Shengmu'’s end-user brand organic milk won the Gold Award at the 17" Asia International Organic Product Expo

once again. For 15 years, the Group has focused on desert organic practices, and its advocated “Natural Slow-Rearing” organic
philosophy has resonated strongly within the industry. The Group firmly believes that high-quality milk originates from natural
sources. “Slow cultivation of soil”, “slow cultivation of grass” and “slow cultivation of cows” are the key factors behind the

success of Shengmu’s organic milk.
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Location Map of Organic Production Base
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | am pleased to present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
December 2024 to the shareholders.

In 2024, China's dairy industry faced many challenges due to the intertwining
of global macroeconomic fluctuations and structural adjustments in the
domestic dairy industry. Raw milk prices continued to decline, consumer
demand recovery was not as expected, and the industry as a whole was under
pressure. In such a complicated environment, small and medium-sized farms
were phased out at an accelerated pace, and the industry concentration further
increased. Large-scale and standardized farms gradually became the dominant
force in the market. In the face of such changes in the industry landscape,
the Group remained steadfast in its beliefs and continued to promote the
optimization of farm efficiency, cost control and synergistic development of the
industry chain by maintaining the mentality of proactive development, taking
appropriate actions and seeking changes in the midst of stability. During the
year, the overall management capability of the Company was further enhanced,
and the control of operating costs and the three key expenses continued to be
optimized. The management vigorously improved the operational efficiency
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of the farms and facilitated the solid development of the core business, with
encouraging improvements in herd quality, milk yield per milkable cow and
breeding levels during the year. In particular, the milk yield per milkable cow
exceeded 12 tonnes for the first time.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group owned 144,448 cows, of which 62,842 were
milkable cows, and sold a total of 699,803 tonnes of raw milk, representing a
slight decrease of 1.6% as compared with the corresponding period last year.
As a result of the decline in raw milk prices, revenue of RMB3,126.2 million
was recorded, representing a year-on-year decrease of 7.6%. Benefiting
from the decrease in feed prices and the impact of internal cost control, the
cost of sales per kilogram of milk decreased 5.2% year-on-year. As a result
of multiple factors, the Group's gross profit margin maintained at 29.6%,
which was basically the same level as that of the corresponding period last
year. Due to the Group's strategic optimization of its herd during the year, the
loss arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets
for the reporting period was RMB807.3 million, representing an increase as
compared with the corresponding period last year. The relatively prudent fair
value pricing of cows also helped the Group maintain a stable profit level under
the current industry situation, and ultimately recorded a net loss of RMB64.5
million for the year.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Despite sluggish growth in the overall consumer market, consumer demand
for high-quality, functional dairy products continues to grow. The growth rate
of high-end categories such as organic milk, raw DHA milk and A2 protein
milk was significantly higher than the industry average. As the largest supplier
of organic raw milk to the Mengniu Group, under such market environment,
the Group, by virtue of its profound accumulation in the field of organic milk
and continuous investment in high-end and differentiated products, has
successfully seized the opportunities brought about by the consumption
upgrade, with the proportion of sales of organic milk continuing to rise. In
the face of oversupply in the industry, the Group successfully raised the
milk yield per milkable cow to a record high of 12.05 tonnes by optimizing
the herd structure, culling inefficient cows, upgrading feed formulas as well
as strengthening the disease prevention and control system. Meanwhile,
the Group comprehensively implemented cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement. Through supply chain procurement and ecological synergy with
the Mengniu Group, the feed cost per kilogram of milk dropped by 4.1% year-
on-year. A series of refined management initiatives effectively alleviated the
downward pressure on raw milk prices and enhanced the Group's profitability.

Short-term market fluctuations cannot stop the pace of long-term development
of the Group. It is in the midst of such industry challenges that the Group has
become clearer about its strategic positioning and direction of development,
i.e. to continue to uphold the corporate mission of “Providing globally the most
premium desert organic milk”, and to adhere to its core business with an eye
on long-term sustainable development. As of the end of 2024, the Company'’s
gearing ratio was controlled at 50.7%, the credit facility was maintained at a
solid level of RMB10 billion, with safe and sufficient liquidity. The Group has
been practising a healthy financial strategy, and our stable financial position
not only provides us with a solid guarantee in response to the market, but
also lays a solid foundation for the long-term development of the Group. In
the current environment, ESG capability has gradually become a key element
of the core competitiveness of enterprises, and green and low-carbon
In this trend, the
Group has not only proactively responded to cost challenges, but also taken

transformation has changed from “optional” to “mandatory”.

sustainable development as an important part of its corporate strategy, and
through a series of innovative initiatives, the Group has therefore realised a
win-win situation in terms of both economic and environmental benefits. In
2024, the Group formally joined, and became a member of, the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD), which marked an important
step for Shengmu in the global sustainable development arena. The Group
successfully issued the country’s first natural-benefit commercial ESG-linked
loan, which was a move that not only set a precedent for ESG financing in
Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, but also set a new milestone in green
finance practice. The Group delivered an innovative answer in the 2024 CDP
(Carbon Disclosure Project) rating - after completing 100% disclosure for three
consecutive years, it was the first to obtain full "B" certification in the three
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major areas of climate change, water security and forest risk. As one of the
few enterprises in the world that deeply integrate the desert management
with the organic dairy industry chain, Shengmu has built a complete organic
ecological desert management industry system based on the Ulan Buh
Desert, and explored a unigue green breakout path through the sustainable
ecological model of “carbon sequestration with organic sand and grass,
zero deforestation of the supply chain, intelligent water conservation, and
restoration of degraded soils (AL EERR - THRMELESE - HEFHKR -
1E183R{E£3%)". In the 35th anniversary forum and ceremony organized by the
Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency, the Group was awarded the "Hong Kong
Green and Sustainable Finance Awards 2024". At the 16" Conference of the
Parties ("COP16") of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification
(UNCCD), China Shengmu's Multi-Capital Accounting is the first pilot project
in China under the "Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity in Agriculture
and Food Systems” (TEEBAgriFood) project initiated by the United Nations
Environment Programme (UNEP). The “China Shengmu Biodiversity and
Multi-Capital Accounting Report” released at COP16 is the first multi-capital
accounting report in China. We understand that sustainable development is
not only a corporate social responsibility, but also a core element of long-term
competitiveness.

Looking forward to 2025, it is expected that the growth in consumption of
dairy products will improve. Recently, the National Development and Reform
Commission has introduced the Special Action Plan for Boosting Consumption,
emphasizing that government departments at all levels should give greater
priority to boosting consumption. Policies such as promoting the income
of urban and rural residents, establishing a childcare subsidy system, and
carrying out special actions for healthy consumption will help unleash the
consumption potential of dairy products. From the perspective of industry
development trends, the stock of dairy cows is gradually declining and
the supply and demand situation faced by the dairy farming industry may
gradually improve. Under this situation, the Group will maintain its firm belief,
continuously refine its management, adapt to the new situation, solidify its
business and enhance its corporate value.

Dear shareholders, in 2024, challenges and opportunities co-existed, and while
we are addressing the challenges, we have also become clearer about the
direction of our development. The Group will continue to uphold its corporate
mission of "Providing globally the most premium desert organic milk”, work
hand in hand with industry peers and all sectors of society to promote the high-
quality development of China’s food industry, and make greater contributions
to building a healthy China and a country with strength. On behalf of the Board,
I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all our customers, employees,
partners and shareholders. It is because of your trust and support that we
have been able to move forward steadily in the complex and volatile market
environment, and in the future, we will continue to create greater value for our
shareholders with even stronger beliefs and more innovative initiatives.
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The Board has established the Company’'s mission, vision and core values. All Directors shall act with integrity, lead
by example, and promote the desired corporate culture.
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J Corporate mission: M
ATfEw —

Devote to the nation and promote agriculture, strive to be the best,

and develop together
HREEE FRIE— HEBE

(f Corporate vision: \)
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Create the world's leading organic milk brand

BB MYE — Mg
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- Times Perspective  —RF{{E]
Integrate into the new era  BRAZFTAFM
Integrate into global competition ARG S
Integrate into national rejuvenation B AR &1 H

- Agricultural View —E2¥H
Richest potential  &Z&E /&7
Worth striving for  {BESE

- Corporate View —1bE
Contribute to society ~ ZFERiE&
Strengthen the country 38 KBIZR

- Work Philosophy ~ —T {E%8
Integrate into the enterprise  BRAIE
Pursue excellence (&R E

- Success View —INE

Create Value  Al3&E(BE
Enrich society — JEEtt=

— Life Philosophy ~ —4 %%
Live with joy REEEE B —
Blessed life  E@A4L
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In 2024, the overall domestic economy operated steadily, achieving progress
while maintaining stability, with the annual gross domestic product (GDP)
reaching RMB134,908.4 billion, representing an increase of 5.0% as compared
with the previous year at constant price. The total retail sales of consumer
goods for the year amounted to RMB48,334.5 billion, representing a year-
on-year growth of 3.5%. The sales of consumer staples and consumer
discretionary showed a good growth trend. The retail sales of grain, oil and
food commodities recorded by businesses above a certain size threshold
(FREBLA_E B AI) increased by 9.9% year-on-year. The consumer price index
(CPI) for the year rose by 0.2% as compared with the previous year, among
which the prices of food, tobacco and alcohol decreased by 0.1%. The national
disposable income per capita for the year was RMB41,314, a nominal increase
of 5.3% year-on-year. The proportion of consumption expenditure per capita
on food, tobacco and alcohol (Engel's coefficient) was 29.8%, which was
generally unchanged from the previous year. Overall, domestic consumption
in 2024 grew steadily on the whole. The market scale continued to expand, the
consumption structure continued to improve, online retail and new forms of
consumption were relatively active, and consumer prices remained generally
stable. However, consumers’ spending power and willingness remained weak,

meaning the consumers’ demand is to be further stimulated.

In 2024, the dairy industry in China faced a challenging environment. The
consumption of dairy products was sluggish, and the price of raw milk declined
for three consecutive years, reaching a historical low. The production of
dairy manufacturing enterprises above the designated size (AR#8 LA % 5!
mmELER ) in China totalled 29.618 million tonnes, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 1.9%. In terms of imports, China imported a total of 2.768
million tonnes of various dairy products in 2024, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 9.5%, marking the third consecutive year of a significant decline
in imported dairy products. The imported dairy products were equivalent to
17.079 million tonnes of raw fresh milk, representing a year-on-year decrease
of 8.8%. In terms of major categories, in 2024, China imported a total of 2.046
million tonnes of dried dairy products, representing a year-on-year decrease of
8.0%, and imported 723,000 tonnes of liquid milk, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 13.5%. Among them, the import volume of milk powder witnessed
the largest decline, decreasing by 17.9%. The continuous decline in China's
dairy product imports is the result of both the downward trend in domestic
raw milk prices and the upward trend in international dairy product prices.
Since May 2024, the average price of imported bulk milk powder, which has a
significant crowding-out effect on domestic raw milk production, has started
to exceed the domestic raw milk price for the first time in over a decade. The
decrease in imported dairy products has, to some extent, alleviated the supply

pressure in the industry under difficult circumstances.
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In the dairy cow farming industry, although the supply of raw milk has started
to decline, the rate of decline is not as fast as that of downstream demand,
and the overall supply situation remains relatively loose. In 2024, the total
production of raw milk in China was 40.79 million tonnes, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 2.8%, marking the first decline in China's milk production
since 2018. Quarterly, the year-on-year growth rates of raw milk production in
the four quarters were 5.1%, 2.1%, -5.8% and -9.0% respectively, and the pace
of capacity clearance has significantly accelerated. The price of raw fresh milk
continued to drop to a historical low. By the end of December 2024, the average
price of raw fresh milk in the primary dairy cow producing provinces (regions)
as monitored by the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs was RMB3.11/
kg, representing a decrease of 15.0% as compared with the corresponding
period last year. The average price for the whole year of 2024 was RMB3.32/
kg, representing a year-on-year decrease of 13.4%. In terms of feed costs,
the prices of major feed inputs such as corn and soybean meal have dropped
significantly. According to the monitoring data of the Ministry of Agriculture
and Rural Affairs, in December 2024, the national average price of corn was
RMB2.32/kg, representing a year-on-year decrease of 17.4%, and the national
average price of soybean meal was RMB3.27/kg, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 24.3%. The total amount of imported forage has increased due to
a decrease in cost. According to customs statistics, in 2024, China imported a
cumulative 1.325 million tonnes of hay, representing a year-on-year increase
of 23.7%. Among them, the cumulative import of alfalfa hay was 1.096 million
tonnes, representing a year-on-year increase of 9.7%, and the cumulative
import of oat hay was 0.226 million tonnes, representing a year-on-year
increase of 213.2%. Overall, although the pressure on the cost side has been
reduced, the economic benefits of the dairy cow farming industry remain at a
low level, and there are widespread losses in farms. In this difficult situation,
approximately 80% of the farms have accelerated the culling of low-yielding
dairy cows. Meanwhile, a considerable number of farms have started to sell
female calves and reserve cows to ease the current operating pressure. For
the dairy cow farming industry, in the current situation, in addition to having
a stable raw milk sales channel, a healthy debt level and reasonable cash
reserve capacity are important conditions for maintaining the survival of the

farm.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The principal business of the Group is dairy cow farming, focusing on the
production and sales of desert-based organic milk, while satisfying customers’
diversified demands for high-quality raw milk, and continuing to develop a variety
of functional raw milk to enrich the Company's product structure and enhance its
profitability. In 2024, the Group produced 2,015 tonnes of raw fresh milk per day,
of which 21 organic certified farms produced 1,534 tonnes of raw fresh milk per
day, two DHA milk farms produced 86 tonnes of raw fresh milk per day, and one
organic A2 farm produced 22 tonnes of raw fresh milk per day. The diversified
and high-end product structure enables the Group to have obvious differentiated

competitive advantages in the dairy cow farming industry.

HERD SIZE

As at December 31 2024, the Group operated 34 farms, including 2 fattening
cow farms. The Group had 156,481 cows in stock, representing a 5.7% increase
as compared with the end of the previous year.

In order to effectively address the impact of the imbalance between the supply
and demand of raw milk, the Group has accelerated the process of culling
inefficient cows. As a result, the number of milkable cows in stock declined by
2.1% as compared with the end of the previous year, and the overall quality of
the dairy herd size improved significantly despite the slight decline in its size. In
terms of replenishing high-quality reserve cow sources, we have fully grasped
the market opportunity of the downward cost of imported dairy cows, and
introduced more than 8,100 high-quality young Holstein cows from Australia.
The number of calves and heifers in stock has increased by 12.8% as compared
with the end of the previous year. An adequate and high-quality reserve of
reserve cows is a fundamental condition for the Group to maintain a healthy and

positive development trend, and it also lays a solid foundation for the stability of

the future milk supply of the Group and the improvement of milk quality.
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31 December

31 December

Number of Farms (number) HWISHE ()
Milkable Cows (heads) R4 (5R)
Calves and Heifers (heads) B4 RAEKS ()
Fattening cows (heads) " B4 (38
Total (heads) &t (5R)

2024 2023
2024 5 20234
128318 12 A31H
34 34
62,842 64,193
81,606 72,373
12,033 11,463
156,481 148,029

(1) Fattening cows refer to a type of cow that mainly produces beef, the main purpose of
which is for selling.

OPERATION REVIEW

THE MILK PRODUCTION OF DAIRY COWS DURING THE PEAK PERIOD
CONTINUING TO INCREASE, AND THE AVERAGE MILK YIELD PER COW
EXCEEDING 12 TONNES FOR THE FIRST TIME

In 2024, the milk production capacity of the Group's dairy cows was further
enhanced, and the milk production during the peak period of dairy cows
continued to increase. Among them, the peak production of primiparpus cows
exceeded 40 kg/day, representing a year-on-year increase of 1.2 kg/day; and
the peak production of multiparous cows exceeded 50 kg/day, representing a
year-on-year increase of 1.5 kg/day. The milk yield per milkable cow reached
12.05 tonnes, representing a year-on-year increase of 0.67 tonnes. The Group
has continuously set new records of the highest milk production per dairy cow
since its establishment.

In the current market environment, the increase in the milk yield per dairy cow
enhanced the Company’s profitability. However, affected by the continuous
weak market demand, in 2024, the Group recorded a total raw milk sales
volume of 0.7 million tonnes, representing a year-on-year decrease of 1.6%.
Combined with the impact of the continuous decline in the sales price of raw
milk, the Group recorded a total sales revenue for the year of RMB3,126.2
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB257.4 million.
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(1 BEAE-SBAEETARING  HEXZ2H

&R

M SIEHNEFELER  EEBARR
% 12 g

2024F  REEPMFEPRENE—FIE
N EEENSREELR - Hh - 5
A BIEREERBLOAT /X R
RI2AF /R REFSEHESEIRS0
A/ R BHERISAT, K- KILF
BEER 120588 - FLIEMN0.67H - A%
@$ﬁmﬁaﬁiuxmmmm¢aémw
FOE% o

EERMISERET - MFBEEMENRAT
Qﬁm%ﬂ £ o RMX 5 THE KIFERKIS

FE UFEAEESSRNHEELES
7&0%Wﬁ'ﬂtbFE16%'§ﬂDFWHﬁE
ERFBETHRNTE 2FHBHEERAL
BAARE31262EBE T AEBREAR
B 257 LBHETT



Management Discussion and Analysis

IMPROVING QUALITY AND ENHANCING EFFICIENCY, AND THE
GROSS PROFIT MARGIN BEING BASICALLY ON PAR WITH THE
CORRESPONDING PERIOD LAST YEAR

In 2024, the overall raw milk price in the industry decreased significantly
as compared with the corresponding period last year, and the extent of the
decline was also notably higher than that of the corresponding period last
year. However, relying on its unigueness and good quality, the desert organic
raw milk sold by the Group maintained a relatively stable premium level
as compared with ordinary raw milk given the current industry conditions.
During the year, the average sales price of the Group's comprehensive raw
milk was RMB4.47/kg, representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB0.29/kg.
Benefiting from the downward trend of the prices of major feeds, the pressure
of feed costs has been alleviated to some extent. Meanwhile, the Group has
actively expanded measures to reduce costs and increase efficiency. Through
innovative management models, it has effectively reduced costs throughout the
entire life cycle of dairy cows.

Specifically, on the one hand, by optimizing the feed formula, the Group reduced
the daily ration cost of lactating cows, actively explored new technologies and
resources, and tapped into alternative forage materials. On the other hand,
through reasonable grouping of cows, precise feeding, and strengthening the
management of leftover feed in the farms, the feed conversion rate of dairy
cows was improved. Benefiting from the increase in milk yield per cow and
the decrease in feed costs, the Group's sales cost per kilogram of milk in 2024
was RMB3.14/kg, with the feed cost of sales per kilogram of milk at RMB2.54/
kg, representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB0.11/kg. As a result, the
Group's gross profit margin in 2024 was 29.6%, generally unchanged from
the corresponding period last year. In the current situation where the profit
margin of the industry has been significantly compressed, the stable gross
profit margin level fully demonstrates the differentiated competitiveness of the
Group's core business.
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STRATEGICALLY OPTIMIZING THE HERD STRUCTURE, AND
IMPORTING DAIRY COWS TO IMPROVE THE QUALITY OF THE HERD

The industry is experiencing an oversupply of raw milk, for which the Group
has proactively carried out strategic optimization of the herd structure. Cows
with lower efficiency were retired to improve the health level and breeding
capacity of the herd. The culling rate of dairy cows has increased compared to
the corresponding period last year, while the self-breeding and reproduction
rate of dairy cows has decreased, representing a decrease of 6.29 percentage
points as compared with the corresponding period. The dairy cow breeding
level of the Group has maintained a good momentum during the year. Various
important indicators affecting breeding, such as the 21-day pregnancy rate of
milkable cows, the 21-day pregnancy rate of young cows, and the proportion
of cows that have not been pregnant for 150 days, have all reached industry-
leading levels.

In line with the Company's future strategic plan to accelerate the growth of the
sales volume of organic milk, the newly-built smart farm by the Group at the
Ulan Buh Desert Base (the “Smart Farm”) officially commenced operation in
the first half of 2024. Currently, approximately 8,100 dairy cows imported from
Australia are being raised in this farm. The operation of this farm is not only the
Group's proactive strategic plan for the future recovery of the industry cycle,
and relying on their high-quality germplasm capabilities and good milk yield
per cow, these imported dairy cows will provide significant assistance to the
Group in further enhancing the quality of the herd. As of 26 March 2025, this
farm has already started milk production, with the cumulative milk production
is approximately 253.9 tonnes. As the proportion of milkable cows gradually
increases, the production level will further rise.

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT HAVING BEEN CONTINUOUSLY REFINED,
AND THE COMPANY HAVING WON MULTIPLE INDUSTRY HONORS

In terms of corporate management, the Group has continuously made
improvements and achieved remarkable results, winning a number of industry
honors. Over the past few years, the Group has focused on strengthening and
enhancing the lean management level of the farms. As of 31 December 2024,
a total of seven farms of the Group had passed the GAP (Good Agricultural
Practice) certification, and 21 farms had received the S-level recognition in the

“Modern Dairy Classification and Evaluation of Dairy Farms”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of end-user products, the organic products of the Group once again
won the Gold Award at the Asian Organic Expo at the 17" Asian International
Organic Products Expo. The Group has been concentrating on desert organic
practices for 15 years, and the organic concept of “slow cultivation of nature

(B #R18%)" advocated by us has struck a strong chord within the industry. The

Group firmly believes that premium milk comes from a good natural source,

grass (128

and that “slow cultivation of soil (1£& £)", “slow cultivation of
)" and “slow cultivation of cows (1224)" are precisely
the keys to the success of Shengmu's organic milk.

In terms of corporate governance, leveraging

on its achievements in the construction /-

BITR
BIOFACH

and management of the financial system,
the Group has won the “Best Financial
Strategy Award” in the Top 100 Overseas
Listed Companies Ranking List. The
Group's “from farm to factory” digital
transformation achieved a number of
breakthroughs during the year. Among them,
the “Cow Identification + Al Model Algorithm” at the

entrance of the farm milking halls and the first industry-level "Cow Milk
Calibration Model” (with an accuracy of over 95%) have further realised the
refined management of individual cow efficiency. Meanwhile, the Group's
Electronic Records Management System has also won the “Digital Intelligence
Pioneer Product - Best Practice Award”. The application of this project has
further accelerated the Group's digitalization process, achieving the goals of
improving quality and efficiency, and enabling low-carbon office operations.
It has also enhanced the level of refined cost management and improved the

enterprise’s risk governance capabilities.

CONTINUQUSLY PRACTISING ESG PRINCIPLES TO CONTRIBUTE TO
GLOBAL SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
The Group regards sustainable development as a core component of its

corporate strategies. Through a series of innovative

measures, it has successfully achieved a win-win

situation in terms of economic and environmental
benefits. In 2024, the Group officially joined
the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development (WBCSD) and became one of its
members. This marks an important and solid step
taken by the Group in the global field of sustainable
development.
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ESG disclosure plays a vital role in ESG governance. On the one hand, it
significantly enhances the transparency of corporate operations. On the other
hand, through ESG disclosure, enterprises can more accurately identify and
manage ESG-related risks and opportunities, thereby effectively promoting
the improvement of their own sustainable development capabilities and also
contributing to the healthy development of the entire market. Leveraging its
outstanding performance in ESG and proactive information disclosure, the
Group has won the "ESG Disclosure Contribution Pioneer Award” presented by
the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency (HKQAA) during the year, as well as
the "Golden Bee 2024 Outstanding Corporate Sustainable Development Report
- Employee Responsibility Information Disclosure Award” presented by the
China Business Council for Sustainable Development.

In the 2024 ratings of the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP), after attaining 100%
disclosure for three consecutive years, the Group has for the first time received
a comprehensive "B-level” certification in the three major areas of climate
change, water security and forest risk. As one of the few enterprises in the
world that deeply integrates desert governance with the organic dairy industry
chain, Shengmu, based on the Ulan Buh Desert, has created a complete organic
ecological desert control industry system. Through the sustainable ecological
model of “carbon sequestration with organic desert grass, zero deforestation
of the supply chain, intelligent water conservation, and restoration of degraded
soils (A EREM - THRMEEE - BEEKR - BERILIIR)
explored a unique green breakthrough path. At COP16, China Shengmu's

', it has

multidimensional capital accounting was the first pilot project in China
for the “The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity in Agriculture and
Food” (TEEBAgriFood) project initiated by the United Nations Environment
Programme (UNEP). The “China Shengmu Biodiversity and Multidimensional
Capital Accounting Report” released at this Convention conference is the
first multidimensional

capital accounting report

in China.

SEERKE20240F M TR R SR
RIFEESHER

AT SEORASH, SUNAAPATAERENTH,
BATARIAMRLARTS, HRATOS. AEARE. R

Be. ERG. RAH ORI, AEATEARETES
AR,

ESGIELESG )RR HIEESTHE EMME

Be—Am ' ©EEEE T MEBEBLHNER
B B—FHE  FBESCHEE  DEAENE

DnAB 3 B AN E IR R ESG AR MY B[R
B EMATHEBA S A RETRENN
B - R A AR R ET ISR R
& - BEELESC HEAEMRIFUREGRE
EERR AEEEARFEXERBRER
D (HKQAA) B EWESCH B BBl T8 X
B UERPREAFEEEISESSRE
W eBB 2024 EFLEARFEERRSE -
BTHREEEHEE] -

1E2024 FF COP (R IKIRIFE B R P O )T
Mrp o AEEEEE = F100%TRER
% ERIFEZ(  KLZE2RHENERR = KE
HEAEFSEZAIBRIRE - EAZKHE
PRI A M EEZEIERERE D
¥ EHUEBHMAMMDEAER  ITETRE

ENAREREDERER  BEEHY
HEW  THRMHEERE - BZ2HNR B
ERICTIB IMAIREERER - BRET

— BB RERT - FECOPI6RE
f o FERERETEANZEREABIRER
EIF (UNEP)ERBH RERMITHEERRES
B A ¥ % B3 1 48 75 2 [(TEEBAgriFood) 18 B
THENERERAMIEER - NACRLIREEH
R REER A S HEEES TEAZE
BREIRTFREAENHETEAZERS -

=L\,

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A



Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group has also achieved tangible benefits in the construction of ESG and
sustainable development. In 2024, the Group successfully issued the country’s
first nature-benefit commercial ESG-linked loan. This initiative not only set a
precedent for ESG financing in the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, but
also established a new milestone in the practice of green finance. The loan
amount is RMB100 million, with a term of 2 years and an annual interest rate
of 2.53%, which fully demonstrates the strong support from the financial
industry for green projects. This move is also another powerful proof that the
Group, in collaboration with banks, actively responding to the national strategy
of "“promoting high-quality development” and “actively implementing the United
Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development”. This initiative not only
strengthens the collaborative cooperation between enterprises and financial
institutions in promoting ecological civilization construction but also sets a new
example of financial support for the exploration of enterprises’ sustainable
development paths. The successful issuance of this green loan is, after the
Group successfully issued the country's first social responsibility bond, another
practical demonstration of our firm commitment to sustainable development.
In the future, the Group will make full use of the rich experience and its
own advantages accumulated in the ESG field to provide more sustainable
development solutions for society and actively contribute to building a greener,
more harmonious and sustainable world.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION

In terms of human resources, the Group is committed to improving labor
efficiency. By optimizing the organizational structure and implementing
performance incentive measures, we have effectively stimulated the vitality
of the team. During the year, both the ratio of employees to cows and the
production per capita of the Group have significantly increased as compared
with the corresponding period last year. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
had a total of 2,217 employees (as at 31 December 2023: 2,701 employees).
Total employees’ costs (including directors’ and senior management’s
emoluments and restricted share incentives of the Group) amounted to
RMB326.8 million in 2024 (2023: RMB377.4 million).

The Group adheres to the concept of common development and continuously
increases employee benefits. The Long Term Share Award Scheme of the
Company adopted on 19 April 2022 (the "Share Award Scheme”) is being
steadily promoted. Due to the achievement of various performance indicators
of the Company, which meet the vesting conditions of the Share Award
Scheme, the first and second tranches of the Share Award Scheme have
successfully completed the vesting of the corresponding shares. The vesting
of the third tranche of the Share Award Scheme is expected to be completed in
2025.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

ANALYSIS ON CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SALES REVENUE

Bt %% 1 BE

meEERkEMAEZEKES
Sl

HEWA

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

Sales volume (tonnes) 5= (WR) 699,803 711,465

Average selling price (RMB/tonnes) FHEF(ARETT,HE) 4,467 4,756

Sales revenue (RMB'000) HERAARETT) 3,126,184 3,383,629
2024 operating data showed that, benefitting from the improvement of dairy 2024 FEK&EHIEBA T SR I FEE
cow herd and the increase in yields, the Company’s total raw milk production MR MEBERH  ERILFEHERLL T
increased by 1.6% year-on-year against the backdrop of a year-on-year decline  [EHE ST » ARRNEEER LR
in the number of milkable cows in stock. In the face of the market environment  1.6% ° T ¥/ JR £ 81 4% % &5 KIS B R B ™
with persistently weak terminal demand for raw milk, the Company has 35IRIE @ AAHFREEK LR - BEEE

adopted a flexible operating strategy: focusing its incremental production
capacity on the refined feeding system for calves, while transforming value
through processing into whole milk powder. Under this operating strategy, the
total volume of externally-sold raw milk for the year was 0.7 million tonnes,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 1.6% as compared with 0.711 million
tonnes in 2023, and the overall production-sales structure maintained a
healthy balance.

The Group's average selling price of raw milk dropped by 6.1 percentage
points year-on-year to RMB4,467 per tonne (2023: RMB4,756 per tonne) as the
situation of supply exceeding demand in the dairy market failed to improve
effectively in 2024 and the selling price of raw milk continued to be low, and
the combination of unfavourable factors in terms of sales volume and selling
price of raw milk had a significant impact on the Group's sales revenue. The
Group's sales revenue for the year was RMB3,126.2 million (2023: RMB3,383.6
million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 7.6%.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A
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COST OF SALES, GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

BEEENWE D

HERAR » ERRERNR

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLEEE

Cost of sales (RMB'000) HEKRN(ARBTIT)
Gross profit (RMB'000) EMARETIT)
Gross profit margin EES

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
2,200,294 2,358,609
925,890 1,025,020
29.6% 30.3%

In 2024, the Group was deeply committed to refined farming and focusing on
operational efficiency improvement. By increasing yields and optimizing herd
structure, the yield reached 12.05 tonnes for milkable cows, representing
a year-on-year increase of 5.9%. The Group actively expanded the direct
sourcing of high-quality feedstuffs and obtained high-quality raw materials
at competitive prices to ensure the stability and quality of nutritional supply
for dairy cows, and at the same time continuously optimized the nutritional
formula of feedstuffs and accurately adjusted it according to the different
stages of growth and production needs of dairy cows, thus achieving a steady
decrease in feed costs. In terms of innovation in farm management mode, the
Group has introduced digital and intelligent management measures through
the efficient implementation of the Smart Farm Management Project to achieve
real-time monitoring and precise control of the breeding process, which has
effectively enhanced production efficiency and management precision and
promoted the lean direction of farm operation. During the year, the feed cost of
sales per kilogram of milk was RMB2.54/kg (2023: RMB2.65/kg), representing
a year-on-year decrease of RMB0.11/kg.

As a result of the combined effect of the above factors, the Group's raw milk
gross profit margin for 2024 was 29.6% (2023: 30.3%), basically remaining the
same as the corresponding period last year.

2024 F - REBRHIEMEEE  BE
BENEREA - BBRSEE  B(LF B
B ORI EEZEI1205M 0 FLELIER
5%,$Elﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬁﬁgﬁﬂfﬁ
RiE - UABFINERERSEEREN
FE BRIOMFEEHENETHEEES
M B BEELCRNEERT - KED
FTEERBBRMEERIEEALR - 1
TR AIELS T RS EBEER A
b AEEEHEEHSEEBEENEN
T 2ESIABTL - B LEEER -
BERBEBENEREITHBERT B
RATEERRETERE  HHHUSEE
Mz b 7 R o AFE - AT PR
EXRABARE 25470, A (202345 + A
R¥2657T/ AT)  RALTEAREKON
NI

EUALTEREZGRATE 2024FE  K&EH

FRHBEM K 5 29.6% (2023 4F : 30.3%) -
A FRFEART -
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LOSS ARISING FROM CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE LESS COSTS TO SELL
OF BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Loss arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets
mainly represents fair value changes in the dairy cows, due to changes in the
physical attributes and market prices of the dairy cows and the discounted
future cash flow to be generated by those cows. In general, the value of a
heifer increases when it grows to a milkable cow, as the discounted cash flow
from milkable cows is higher than the selling price of heifers. Further, when a
milkable cow is culled and sold, its value decreases.

In 2024, the Group's loss arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of
biological assets was RMB807.3 million (2023: RMB706.3 million), representing
a year-on-year increase in loss of RMB101.0 million. This was mainly due to:
(i) the fact that in order to mitigate the impact of the imbalance between the
supply and demand of raw milk and improve the quality of the dairy herd, the
Group accelerated the retiring process of inefficient cows, and as a result,
the number of cows retired recorded a significant year-on-year increase,
which, coupled with the low market price of culled cows during the year, led
to an increase in the loss arising from the changes in fair value less costs to
sell of the productive biological assets as compared with the corresponding
period last year; and (ii) lower than expected demand in the beef cow market
and a significant drop in selling prices resulted in a loss in the Group's
beef cow business, with a significant increase in loss as compared with the
corresponding period last year.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

In 2024, other income and gains amounted to RMB71.0 million (2023: RMB72.3
million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 1.8%. This mainly included
government grants, interest income, etc.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

In 2024, the Company implemented a dual strategy to optimize transportation
costs: on one hand, it reached a new freight rate agreement with its core
carriers to reduce freight rates and drive down logistics costs structurally;
on the other hand, it innovated its pricing model by implementing an offshore
pricing delivery strategy for regional sources of milk to effectively transfer part
of the carrier costs. As a result of these dual initiatives, selling and distribution
expenses for the year dropped to RMB49.1 million, representing a 21.8% year-
on-year decrease from RMB62.7 million in 2023, with significant cost control
results.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A
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ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2024, in order to cope with the challenges of the severe market environment,
the Group actively adopted effective measures to reduce costs and increase
efficiency. With the efficient operation of the information technology platform,
the Group achieved significant savings during the year through process
streamlining, functional streamlining, resource coordination and sharing, and
compression of expenditures, etc. Administrative expenses decreased by 8.3%
year-on-year to RMB152.6 million (2023: RMB166.3 million), accounting for
4.88% (2023: 4.92%) of sales revenue, representing a year-on-year decrease of
0.04%.

OTHER EXPENSES

In 2024, other expenses amounted to RMB5.8 million (2023: RMB2.5 million). It
was mainly for donation expenses.

FINANCE COSTS

In 2024, finance costs were RMB47.5 million (2023: RMB53.1 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 10.6%. The Group promoted business
cooperation with banking institutions in depth and maintained the credit
scale at a solid level of RMB10 billion. Based on the current market interest
rates in a historically low operating cycle, the Company proactively seized the
opportunity of the interest rate window and prioritized medium- and long-term
debt replacement and low-cost financing arrangements to optimize the capital
structure and lock in long-term funds.
The proportion of medium- and long-

term borrowings increased to 70.7%
and the consolidated financing
rate decreased by 0.23 percentage
points compared with the previous
year, which effectively enhanced
the stability and rationality of the
Group's debt structure.

The Group consistently adheres to

the concept of green development
and continues to practise green finance. During the year, we received the first
nature-benefit ESG-linked loan in China, for which we were awarded with the
Hong Kong Green and Sustainable Finance Award from the Hong Kong Quality
Assurance Agency in 2024.
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SHARE OF PROFITS AND LOSSES OF ASSOCIATES

The Group's associates include: (a) Inner Mongolia Mengniu Shengmu Hi-
Tech Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (A& RFEHEEIZLEERZAF]), in which
the Group held minority interests, which is primarily engaged in the operating
and selling of Shengmu organic liquid milk products; (b) Food Union Shengmu
Dairy Co., Ltd. (BREE EHILMABRRAF]) and Inner Mongolia Shengmu
Low Temperature Dairy Product Company Limited (N5 & EHIKAILRA R
72 7)) ("Shengmu Low Temperature”), both of which the Group held minority
interests in and produces dairy products with raw milk from the Group; (c)
Inner Mongolia Yiyingmei Dairy Co., Ltd. (A5 &z B EFLZEAFR A7), in which
the Group held minority interests and is principally engaged in the production
of high-end organic milk powders; (d) Mudanjiang Liangyuan Technology
Limited A TIRERHZABR A B)), in which the Group held minority interests,
which is primarily engaged in feed processing; and (e) Bayannur Yimuyuan
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (EEEBMEPUREMRIEBRR AR, in which the
Group has a minority interest, which is principally engaged in the processing of
organic manure.

In 2024, the share of profit of the above associates for the year was RMB2.3
million (2023: loss of RMB10.2 million) due to the significant improvement in

the operating conditions of Shengmu Low Temperature.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

All profits of the Group were derived from its operations in the People's
Republic of China (the "PRC" or "China”). According to the requirements of the
Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the "EIT Law"), the Group's subsidiaries
in the PRC are generally subject to a PRC corporate income tax at a rate of 25%.
According to the preferential provisions of the EIT Law, the Group's income
arising from agricultural activities, such as dairy farming and processing of
raw agricultural products, is exempted from enterprise income tax. Under
the PRC tax laws and regulations, there is no statutory time limit for such tax
exemption as long as the relevant PRC subsidiaries of the Group complete

filings with the relevant tax authorities as required.

In 2024, the Group's income tax expense was RMB1.2 million (2023: RMB3.1

million).

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A
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(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT
COMPANY AND PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

As a result of the above combination of factors, the loss attributable to owners
of the parent company for the year was RMB65.5 million (2023: attributable
profit of RMB86.1 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB151.6
million.

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests mainly represents the profit for
the year attributable to the dairy farmers with whom we cooperated in relation
to dairy farm management of our farms. In 2024, profit attributable to non-
controlling interests amounted to RMB1.0 million (2023: RMB8.5 million).

In 2024, the Group's cash EBITDA (Non-IFRS Financial Measure)™ was
RMB957.8 million (2023: RMB991.0 million), representing a year-on-year

decrease of 3.3%.

Note: Cash EBITDA is defined as earnings before finance costs and tax after adjusting the
following items: (i) depreciation and amortization charged to profit and loss; (ii) other
income and gains (non-cash items); (iii) impairment losses under the expected credit
loss model, net of reversals; (iv) other expenses (non-cash items); and (v) loss arising
from changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's operating funds and capital expenditures are mainly derived from
cash flows generated from internal operations and credit facilities provided by
major correspondent banks.

In 2024, the Group's credit facilities continued to maintain a credit limit of
RMB10 billion, with a stable credit utilization rate of less than 30%, which
continuously protected the Company's stable operation. Having considered
(i) the projected cash flows from operating activities of the continuing
operations; and (ii) the existing financial assets and leverage level of the
Group, the Directors believe that the Group has sufficient financial assets to
settle its debts and to finance its day-to-day business operations as well as its
contracted capital expenditure as at 31 December 2024.
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings
amounted to RMB2,274.3 million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB2,131.2
million), all of which were denominated in Renminbi, of which interest-bearing
bank borrowings repayable within one year amounted to RMB666.6 million
(as at 31 December 2023: RMB911.4 million). Interest-bearing liabilities carry
interest rates ranging from 0.82% to 3.20% per annum (for the year ended 31
December 2023: 0.87% to 3.26%).

The Group's net borrowings are calculated on the basis of interest-bearing
bank borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) less cash and bank balances
and short-term investment deposits. Net borrowings as at 31 December
2024 amounted to RMB1,209.0 million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB1,053.4

million), representing an increase of 14.8% from the end of 2023.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total equity amounted to RMB4,175.8
million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB4,236.3 million), comprising current
assets of RMB2,121.3 million, non-current assets of RMB6,343.0 million,
current liabilities of RMB2,639.2 million and non-current liabilities of
RMB1,649.3 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's financial gearing ratio, calculated as
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (including lease liabilities) divided
by total equity, was 55.9% (as at 31 December 2023: 51.5%), representing a
year-on-year increase of 4.4 percentage points.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total restricted bank deposits amounted
to RMB129.0 million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB148.8 million), of which
RMB43.3 million was pledged to banks in the PRC as deposits for the issuance
of letters of credit and bank drafts and RMB85.7 million was frozen due to
litigation.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's capital commitments in relation to the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounted to RMB5.2 million (as
at 31 December 2023: RMB43.7 million), the decrease was mainly attributable
to the fact that the Smart Farm, which is under the management of the Group,
had completed its farm basic construction during the year. Its main source of

fund is from external financial institutions.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided guarantees for bank borrowings
of RMB70.0 million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB69.0 million) of Bayannur
Shengmu High-tech Ecological Forage Co., Ltd (BEE /2B EM SR AREE
BPFR/AF]) . The external guarantees provided by the Group were recognised
in the financial statements, adopting the valuation of the guarantees as
determined by the independent professional valuer as the best estimate of
payment required for the performance of the relevant existing obligations in
accordance with the requirements of IFRS Accounting Standards.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group's operations are primarily located in Chinese Mainland and the
majority of transactions are conducted in RMB. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had no significant foreign exchange risk in respect of its operations
except for cash of approximately RMB3.6 million and RMB1.5 million
denominated in HKD and USD respectively. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
had not entered into any arrangement to hedge against any foreign exchange
fluctuations.

CREDIT RISK

The Group only trades with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is
the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. Credit risk related to the Group's
other financial assets arises from default of the counterparty with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments. Since the
Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties, collateral is

generally not required.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In 2024, the Group's operations were in compliance in all material respects
with currently applicable national and local environmental protection laws and

regulations in the PRC.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

In 2024, the Group did not make any material acquisitions and disposals of

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR ACQUISITION OF
CAPITAL ASSETS AND EXPECTED SOURCE OF FUNDING

Save as disclosed above in the section headed “Capital Commitments”, as at the
date of this report, the Group does not have any plan for material investments

or acquisition of capital assets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no material subsequent event of the
Group from the end of the reporting period to the date of this report.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

In 2025, the "No.1 Document”
Communist Party of China and the State Council clearly proposed to support

released by the Central Committee of the

the stable development of the animal husbandry industry, promote the relief
of the dairy cow and beef cow industries, stabilize basic production capacity,
implement national standards for sterilized milk, and support the integrated
development of dairy farming and processing with family farms and farmers’
cooperatives as the main bodies. Meanwhile, it emphasized the development
of characteristic rural industries, the adherence to acting in accordance with
market laws, the significant development of the cultivation of green and
characteristic agricultural products, the promotion of the transformation and
upgrading of the agricultural product processing industry, the implementation
of the agricultural brand boutique cultivation plan, the construction of the
characteristic agricultural industry clusters, and the improvement the level
of agricultural industrialization. It also called for the in-depth implementation
of rural industrial integration development projects to cultivate new rural
industries and new business forms. The “Action Plan for Cultivating and
Strengthening the Agricultural and Sideline Food Processing Industry (2025
- 2027)" issued by the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region points out that it is
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Management Discussion and Analysis

necessary to accelerate the cultivation and strengthening of the agricultural
and sideline food processing industry in the region, and promote the large-
scale, industrialized, branded development of agriculture and animal
husbandry and the high-quality development of county-level economies. For
the dairy industry, it is necessary to strengthen the construction of five major
milk source bases, rely on the advantages of milk sources, and continue to
expand and strengthen the liquid milk industry. Under the policy guidance
of the state and local governments and with the strong empowerment of
industrial resources, the Group will leverage on the unique resources of the
Ulan Buh Desert to effectively promote the implementation of various business

goals.

Looking ahead to 2025, the supply-demand situation in the industry remains
severe. In the face of such difficult circumstances, the Group still maintains a
firm belief, continuously refines its management, adapts to the new situation
and environment, aligns with government strategies, serves people’s livelihood
needs, solidifies the industry, and enhances its enterprise value. As the largest
organic raw milk supplier to the Mengniu Group, a core business goal of the
Group in 2025 is to ensure the growth of Mengniu's Deluxe Desert Organic
business with high quality. We will rationalize the relationship between the
upstream and downstream of the industrial chain, continue to strengthen the
organic resource capabilities of the entire industrial chain, and provide high-
quality raw milk to customers with high quality and strict requirements. The
Group will also focus on promoting matters such as comprehensive cost
control, efficiency improvement, environmental protection upgrading, and
water resource guarantee, so as to achieve new breakthroughs in the Group's
operational capabilities.
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The board of directors of the Company (the "Board”) is pleased to present
its report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group” or “we/us”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “year” or “2024") which were approved by the
Board on 26 March 2025.

Principal Businesses

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group's principal
businesses is dairy farming business. The Group primarily engages in the
production and distribution of raw milk through our subsidiaries in the People's
Republic of China (the "PRC").

For details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group, please refer to note 1 to
the financial statements.

Results

The Group's consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the financial statements.

Business Review

The business review of the Group, including a fair review of the Group's
business, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced the Group,
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the financial year, an indication of likely future development in the
Group's business, key performance indicators, environmental policies and
performance, and the Group's key relationships with its employees, customers
and suppliers and others that have a significant impact on the Group and on
which the Group's success depends, is set out in the sections of this annual
report headed "Chairman’s Statement”, "Management Discussion and Analysis”,
" Report on Corporate Governance Practices” and in the notes to the financial
statements.

The Group is exposed to a variety of business risks, including financial risks,
regulatory and environmental risks, climate, animals disease and other natural
risks in the ordinary course of business. Further details of the Group's principal
risks, please refer to note 17 and note 38 to the financial statements.

Five-Year Financial Highlights

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out in the section headed “Financial Summary” in this
annual report.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

For details of the changes in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year, please refer to note 13 to the financial statements.

Donations

The Group made donations in the a total amount of RMB2,126,000 during the
year of 2024 (2023: RMB2,545,000).

Dividend Distribution

The Board of Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK0.23 cents).

Distributable Reserves

The Company's distributable reserves amounted to RMB3,430.0 million as at 31
December 2024 (as at 31 December 2023: RMB3,474.4 million). For details of
the changes in the Company’s reserves in 2024, please refer to note 39 to the
financial statements.

Share Capital

For details of the changes in the Company's share capital in 2024, please refer
to the consolidated statement of changes in equity in the financial statements
and note 28 to the financial statements.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed
securities (2023: a total of 206,932,000 ordinary shares of the Company was
purchased in the open market as restricted shares at a consideration of
HK$72,673,000 (equivalent to RMB66,657,000) by the trustee of the Share
Award Scheme).
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Annual General Meeting and Closure of
Register of Members

The upcoming annual general meeting is scheduled on Friday,13 June 2025
("AGM 2025"). For determining the entitlement of the shareholders of the
Company (the "Shareholders’) to attend and vote at the AGM 2025, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 10 June 2025 to
Friday, 13 June 2025, both days inclusive. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM 2025, unregistered holders of shares of the Company should
ensure that all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Financial Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 June 2025.

The notice of convening the AGM 2025 and related circular will be published
on the website of the Stock Exchange and on the website of the Company at
http://www.shengmuorganicmilk.com and despatched to the shareholders in
due course.

Pre-Emptive Rights

Neither the Articles of Association of the Company nor the laws of the Cayman
Islands, where the Company is incorporated, contains any provisions relating to

pre-emptive rights.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In 2024, the five largest customers of the Group in aggregate accounted for
98.9% (2023: 99.8%) of the Group's total revenue and the largest customer
accounted for 93.3% (2023: 95.3%) of the Group's total revenue. In 2024, the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 44.5% (2023: 30.6%) of the
Group's total amount of purchases and the largest supplier accounted for
20.2% (2023: 11.7%) of the Group's total amount of purchases.

In 2024, to the knowledge of the Directors, other than China Mengniu Dairy
Company Limited (“China Mengniu", one of the top five customers) and Beijing
Dabeinong Technology Group Co., Ltd. (“Dabeinong Group”, one of the top five
suppliers), none of any of shareholders or any of Directors or any of their close
associates who owned more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share capital,
had any interest in the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group. Each
of China Mengniu and Mr. Shao Genhuo, (the de facto controller of Dabeinong
Group), is a substantial shareholder of the Company.
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In 2024, we did not experience any material disputes with our customers or

suppliers.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation to which the Shareholders
are entitled by reason of their holding of the Shares.

Directors

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company’s Directors were as

follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. ZHANG Jiawang (Chief Executive Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEN Yiyi (Chairman,
appointed on 28 May 2024)

Mr. LU Minfang (former Chairman,
resigned with effect from 28 May 2024)

Mr. ZHANG Ping

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun

Mr. SUN Qian

Ms. SHAO Lijun

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Liyan (Lead INED,
designated on 26 March 2025)

Mr. WU Liang

Mr. SUN Yansheng

Biographical Details of Directors and
Members of Our Senior Management

Biographical details of Directors and members of our senior management are
set out in the section headed "Directors and Senior Management” in this annual

report.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all loss or
liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands) which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability coverage for the Directors

and officers of the Company.
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* Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or an appointment
letter with the Company for a term of three years starting from the respective
appointment date and shall retire by rotation at the general meeting according
to the requirements of the Articles of Association of the Company. The Board
may appoint any person as a Director from time to time and at any time either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed
shall hold office only until the next annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election. None of our Directors has entered into any
service contract or appointment letter which cannot be terminated within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation)
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the financial year.

Changes to Information in respect of
Directors

Mr. LU Minfang resigned as a non-executive director of the Company, chairman
of the Board, and chairman of the nomination committee and the strategy and
sustainability committee with effect from 28 May 2024 due to adjustments of
work arrangements. Mr. LU resigned as an executive director of China Mengniu
(HKEX stock code: 2319) (together with its subsidiaries, the “Mengniu Group”),
the vice-chairman of the board and a member of each of the strategy and
development committee and the sustainability committee of the China Mengniu.
He ceased to be the chairman of the board of directors of Shanghai Milkground
Food Tech Co., Ltd. (E/§¥WAIEZ R REHZMH AR A F]) ("Milkground”), a
company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600882) ,
committee, with effect from 17 May 2024.

and as a member of the nomination committee and the strategy

Mr. CHEN Yiyi was appointed as a non-executive director, the chairman of the
board, and the chairman of the nomination committee and the strategy and
sustainability development committee of the Company, with effect from 28 May
2024. He was also appointed as the chairman of the board, and the member
of the nomination committee and the strategy committee of Milkground with
effect from 17 May 2024.
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With effect from 26 March 2024, Mr. ZHANG Ping has resigned from his role as
an executive director and a member of the Sustainability Committee of China
Mengniu, due to further optimization of duty allocation in the Mengniu Group.
Mr. ZHANG will continue to serve as chief financial officer of the Mengniu Group
and will focus on his duties and responsibilities as chief financial officer of the
Mengniu Group.

Mr. WANG Liyan was designated as the lead independent Non-Executive
Director (“"Lead INED") by the Board on 26 March 2025.

Save as disclosed herein, during the year, there was no change of information
required to be disclosed by the Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and
(g) of Rule 13.51(2) and Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules where applicable.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

Mr. CHEN Yiyi, a non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Board, is
currently a vice president of Mengniu Group and is responsible for its strategic
and investment management. Mr. CHEN is also the non executive director of
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (7 B3R X412 3% B R 2 7)) (‘China Modern
Dairy”), a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1117), and a director and the chairman of the board of directors of Milkground.

Mr. ZHANG Ping, a non-executive Director, is currently a vice president and
the chief financial officer of Mengniu Group. Mr. ZHANG is also a non-executive
director of China Modern Dairy.

Mr. ZHAQO Jiejun, a non-executive Director, is currently a head of animal
husbandry industry chain of the Mengniu Group. He is also currently a non-
executive director and chairman of China Modern Dairy.

Mr. LU Minfang, a former non-executive Director and the former Chairman of
the Board, was the executive director and vice-chairman of the board of China
Mengniu up to 10 October 2024. During the Reporting Year, Mr. LU resigned
as the chairman and a non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings
Ltd (7= A1 B 42
the Stock Exchange on 5 July 2023. Mr. LU was the chairman and a non-

%GR A A))("Yashili”), whose shares were delisted from

executive director of China Modern Dairy until 1 February 2023. He was also
the chairman of the board and a director of Milkground until 17 May 2024.
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China Mengniu is one of the leading dairy products manufacturers in the
PRC, principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of premium
dairy products, including liquid milk, ice cream, formula milk and other dairy

products.

Yashili is an investment holding company which, together with its subsidiaries,
is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy products and

nutritional products.

The principal activity of China Modern Dairy is the production and sale of raw

milk to customers for processing into dairy products.

Milkground is principally engaged in the research and development, production

and sale of cheese-related dairy products.

The above-mentioned competing businesses are managed by separate entities
with independent management and administration. The Directors are of the
view that the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses independently
of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of these entities. When making
decisions, the relevant Director, in performance of his duty as Director, has
acted and will continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, all Directors have confirmed that for the year ended
31 December 2024 and as at the date of this annual report, they and their close
associates have not engaged in or held any interest in any business which is or

may be, directly or indirectly, in competition with the business of the Group.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received a letter of confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as to his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Material acquisition and Disposal of
Subsidiaries and Associates and Joint
Ventures

In 2024, the Group did not make any material acquisitions and disposals of

subsidiaries and associates.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
And Debentures of the Company

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, as at
31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the "SFQ")) which were required to be immediately notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or the interests or short
positions which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFQO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or the interests or short positions
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(the "Model Code"), to be immediately notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

LONG POSITION IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES
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RGO HEBERD TR

Number of
Shares/
underlying Percentage
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares of interest
1
e B, EntE HERDE AR EHEADL
ZHANG Jiawang Beneficial owner 175,183,580 2.09%
SR AE EmlEEA
(1) Including 17,075,000 award shares granted but not yet vested under the share award (1) BIEREARDFIRGD ZE T8I HE R REE

scheme of the Company (subject to the vesting conditions set out in the Company's
share award scheme and the relevant grant letter) and 19,978,580 award shares which
have vested.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2024, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations which were required to
be immediately notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

917,075,000 I 2B I (0 (MEZB T & AN A &R
1 82 Eh A 2 R ARRAIR T AR M BRI ) &
CERER 19,978,580 AL EERIAL D ©

BREXHBEREN BESHA RZZ
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TERABBIEN AR RS E A A EEH
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MEFEIEBIE XVERE 7 k8 D AR RN A e
RAR R ZFRNERSAE (BEREER
BEFRAEGIBBESCRESRAES
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e Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt

Securities

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme” and “Share
Award Scheme” in this annual report, at no time during the year ended 31
December 2024 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Litigation

A civil judgement was issued by the Intermediate People’s Court of Huhhot (the
“PRC Court") (the “Judgment”) on 16 August 2021 in relation to a claim made
against Inner Mongolia Shengmu Hightech Farming Co., Ltd. (AR5 & 24k =%
WZEEBR 2 7)) ("Shengmu High-tech”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and two of the Company's former directors concerning a claim
made by the plaintiff. Accumulated povision was made amounting to RMB85.0
million for the probable losses, which was reflected in the 2022 and 2021
annual financial report, to the Group based on the reasonable estimation of
the outcome of the lawsuits after taking into account the legal advice by the
management. For further details, please refer to the announcements published
by the Company on 16 September 2021 and 22 October 2021 and the 2021
Annual Report. Shengmu High-tech had applied to the High People's Court of
Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region for a second trial and no adjudication has

yet been made.
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Interests of the Substantial Shareholders

So far as is known to any Director of the Company, as at 31 December 2024,

the following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executive of the

Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares or the underlying

Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the

Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of

Part XV of the SFO, or were, directly or indirectly, interested or deemed to be

interested in 5% or more of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in

all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group:
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FTERRNEDR
RARBEAESHAA  R-T_MEFE+—
A=+—H " TIAL(ERRAEERES
TR BRRSMN B S AR BRI AP A AT
R AR ARIRRE 75 K A E 5158 336 1547
EAFEMNELMOBRIORE - HIRIFE
75 REAE DI XV 3RS 2 M 3 D RB RO TER
AARE MR ENRESORE - RE
BRI A A RN AT AME
AER TEAEEERNKE ARMNBERAE
EREOEAERRIIRA 5% S IA L HOHEE

Capacity/ Number of Shares/

Name Nature of interest underlying Shares Percentage

BE AR 519 REtE B, MR BB ER)s

Start Great Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 2,513,178,555 (L) 29.99% (L)
BalEEA

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 2,513,178,555 (L) 29.99% (L)

HERFIEBRAF RIEHEE R

Nong You Co., Ltd. Beneficial owner 1,301,651,000 (L) 15.53% (L)
BB A

Beijing Zhi Nong Investment Co., Ltd. Interest of a controlled corporation 1,301,651,000 (L) 15.53% (L)

IRERREFREELF REHEE R

Shao Genhuo Interest of a controlled corporation 1,301,651,000 (L) 15.53% (L)

EBIRRE RIEHEE R

Greenbelt Global Limited Beneficial owner 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
BB A

BPEA Private Equity Fund V, L.P. Interest of a controlled corporation 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
REHEE R

BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P. Interest of a controlled corporation 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
RIEHEE R

BPEA Private Equity GP V Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
RirHEEER

BPEA EQT Holdings AB Interest of a controlled corporation 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
REHEE R

EQT AB Interest of a controlled corporation 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
RIEHEE R

Notes: I

(1) Based on 8,381,295,229 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

(2) (L) Indicates a long position.

(3) Start Great Holdings Limited is the subsidiary of China Mengniu.

(4) Greenbelt Global Limited is held as to approximately 99.35% by BPEA Private Equity
Fund V, L.P. BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P., is the general partner of BPEA Private Equity
Fund V, L.P. BPEA EQT Holdings AB is the sole shareholder of BPEA Private Equity GP V
Limited, which is also the general partner of BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P. BPEA EQT
Holdings AB is wholly owned by EQT AB, which is listed on Nasdag Stockholm.

(1) ER—_Z-_mMF+-_A=+—HBETH
8,381,295,229 f%

(2 (DiELFE -

(3)  Start Great Holdings Limited & B4 M /&
RA] e

(4) Greenbelt Global Limited FA BPEA Private Equity
Fund V, LP.35 %) 99.35% A% {5 ° BPEA Private
Equity GP V, L.P. & BPEA Private Equity Fund V,
LP.BEBAFE A » MBPEA Private Equity GP
V Limited 7IA BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P. #J
@A A BPEA EQT Holdings AB A BPEA
Private Equity GP V Limited BJM— %3 - BPEA
EQT Holdings AB FRE AT E R HIE BT L
HIEQT ABZEHA ©
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Interests of the Substantial Shareholder of
any Member of the Group (Other than the
Company)

AL B AR AT (A
ATBIN) TERRNR
m

Percentage
Name Name of member company of interest
HE 1A MEARINER EEBEDE
WU Jianye Bayannur Shengmu Pangu Farming Co., Ltd. 45.00%
RgEEl EEr@mERREYEREREMELRA
Inner Mongolia University Aodu Assets Inner Mongolia IMU-Shengmu High-tech Dairy Co., Ltd. 30.00%

Management Limited

AEREABRPEELLBREER

AREARBERSHHEEBR AR

Save as set out above, our Directors are not aware of any person (not being a
Director or chief executive of our Company) who, as at 31 December 2024, was
interested, directly or indirectly, in 10% or more of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member
of our Group (other than our Company) or any options in respect of such capital.

Share Option Scheme

On 18 June 2014, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme which is
subject to the provisions under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees,
Directors and other participants, and to provide a means of compensation
through the grant of options for their contribution to the growth and profits of
the Group, and to allow them to participate in the future growth and profitability
of the Group. The participants of the Share Option Scheme are any executive,
non-executive or independent non-executive Directors or any employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
or associated companies or any other person whom the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the Group. The basis
of eligibility of any of the class of the participants to the grant of any options
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board from time
to time on the basis of their contribution to the development and growth of the
Group and any invested entity.
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No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the adoption
date of the Share Option Scheme and up to the latest practicable date prior
to the publication of this annual report. A summary of the terms of the Share
Option Scheme has been set out in the "Appendix IV — Statutory and General
Information — E. Share Option Scheme” in the prospectus of the Company dated
30 June 2014 (the "Prospectus”). The Share Option Scheme was approved by
shareholders’ resolutions of the Company passed on 18 June 2014 and has
expired on 18 June 2024. No further options may be granted upon expiration of
the Share Option Scheme.

Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme with effect from 19 April 2022
("Adoption Date”). Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the ordinary shares
in the issued share capital of the Company (the "Shares”) to be awarded under
the Share Award Scheme (the "Award Shares”) will be comprised of Shares
purchased by a professional trustee appointed by the Company (“Trustee”) on
the market.

OBJECTIVE OF THE SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to recognise the contributions by
certain employees of the Group and to provide them with incentives in order to (i)
improve the corporate governance structure to achieve sustainable development
of the Company; (ii) attract, retain and motivate outstanding talents and build a
common interest among shareholders, the Company and employees; (iii) fully
motivate the core employees and continue to stimulate high-quality growth of
the team performance; and (iv) attract external talents for the Company. Eligible
participants under the Share Award Scheme comprise employees in specified
positions in any member company of the Group.

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF ANY INDIVIDUAL PARTICIPANT UNDER
THE SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Under the Share Award Scheme, the number of the Award Shares vested and
to be vested in respect of the Award Share(s) granted to each participant for
the 12-month period up to and including the date of grant of the last Award
Share to such participant shall be no more than 1% of the number of issued
shares of the Company from time to time.

DURATION

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board or any
persons authorised by the Board with powers to administer the Share Award
Scheme under the rules of the Share Award Scheme (the “Share Award
Authorised Representatives”’) pursuant to the rules of the Share Award Scheme,
the Share Award Scheme shall be effective from the Adoption Date and shall
remain in full force and effect for a period of 10 years from the Adoption Date.
The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is approximately 7 years.
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ADMINISTRATION

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Share
Award Authorised Representatives and the Trustee in accordance with the
rules of the Share Award Scheme and the trust deed between the Company
and the Trustee in relation to the Share Award Scheme (the “Trust Deed").
The decision of the Share Award Authorised Representatives with respect to
the interpretation of the Share Award Scheme and any dispute relating to the
conditional entitlement to acquire Shares pursuant to the rules of the Share
Award Scheme and the grant letter issued thereunder (the "Award”) or the
Share Award Scheme shall be final and binding. The Trustee shall hold the
trust fund in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed.

SCHEME OPERATION
SOURCE OF THE SHARES TO SATISFY ANY VESTED AWARDS

The Trust is required to purchase the existing shares on the Stock Exchange at
the prevailing market price or at a price set by the Board with the contributed
amount received in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed. The Shares so
purchased shall constitute the Award to be granted to the eligible participants
under the Share Award Scheme and the Shares are to be held by the Trustee
for the benefit of the eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme
under the Trust on and subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Award
Scheme and the Trust Deed.

VESTING OF AWARDS

Subject to the terms and condition of the Share Award Scheme and the
fulfillment of all vesting conditions to the vesting of Award Shares on such
eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme as specified in the
Share Award Scheme and the grant letter, within 120 days of the Share
Award Authorised Representatives completing the calculation of the vesting
percentage for a particular Award, the Company will arrange for the issuance
or transfer to the eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme (after
deduction of any applicable taxes, social security contributions and other
levies) such number of Shares in respect of which Award has vested. The
relevant number of Shares will be determined in accordance with the basis set
out in the grant letter. The grantee is not required to pay any purchase price
upon vesting of Award Shares.

CASH EQUIVALENTS

In case of any restrictions under the Listing Rules (including the Model Code),
any securities trading rules, applicable laws, regulations or statutes in any
relevant jurisdictions applicable to the Company, or if the Share Award
Authorised Representatives so decide in their absolute discretion, any vested
Awards may be satisfied in cash by: (i) an equivalent cash payment to the
eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme; or (ii) the Company
procuring the disposal of an equivalent number of Shares attributable to the
vested Awards and the transfer of such sale proceeds in cash to the eligible
participants under the Share Award Scheme, in each case, subject to the terms
and conditions of the Share Award Scheme.
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VOTING RIGHTS

Unless otherwise specified in the Share Award Scheme or the grant letter, an
eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme is not entitled to exercise
voting rights, receive dividends or dividend equivalents, and will not have any
other rights of a shareholder until the Shares are issued or transferred to him
or her. The Trustee shall not exercise any voting rights in respect of the Shares
held under the trust constituted by the Trust Deed.

TERMINATION

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the tenth anniversary of the
Adoption Date or such earlier date as determined by the Share Award
Authorised Representatives’ sole discretion. No further Award Shares shall be
granted after the termination of the Share Award Scheme but such termination
shall not affect any Award Shares previously granted.

GRANT OF AWARD SHARES

During the year, no ordinary shares of the Company were purchased from the
open market (in 2023, the Trustee of the Share Award Scheme purchased a
total of 206,932,000 ordinary shares of the Company from the open market
as award shares for a total consideration of HK$72,673,000 (equivalent to
RMB66,657,000)). As at the date of this annual report, the number of the Share
Awards available for grant under the Share Award Scheme is 135,066,000
Shares, representing approximately 1.61% of the total issued Shares.

On 19 April 2024, the Board resolved to grant (i) 75,054,000 Award Shares
and Award which will be satisfied in cash (the “Cash Award") in the amount of
RMB?,603,000 to 61 middle and senior management personnel of the Group
(excluding Directors), and (ii) 10,792,000 Award Shares and Cash Award of
RMB1,380,800 to Mr. Zhang Jiawang, an executive director of the Company,
such 85,846,000 Shares in aggregate represent approximately 1.02% of the
issued share capital of the Company as of the date of this annual report.
None of the aforesaid Award Shares were vested during the year. None of the
grantees has been and will be granted options and award shares exceeding the

1% individual limit under the Listing Rules and the Share Award Scheme.
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Each of the 62 Grantees is required to comply with the rules of the Share
Award Scheme, and vesting of the Award Shares is subject to the fulfilment of
vesting conditions as specified in the Share Award Scheme and the relevant
grant letter. Subject to satisfaction of the vesting conditions, fifty percent of the
85,846,000 Award Shares shall vest on 21 April 2025 and the remaining fifty
percent shall vest on 20 April 2026.

The Award Shares granted are subject to the terms and conditions of the
scheme and the fulfillment of all vesting conditions to the vesting of the Award
Shares imposed on such selected participant as specified in the rules of the
scheme and the grant notice. The performance goals in the vesting conditions
are determined by the Board of Directors based on certain non-market
performance and service conditions of the Group. The performance indicators
involved include the net profit attributable to the parent company, free cash

flow, the milk yield per milkable cow, the cost of sales per kilogram of milk, etc.

The fair value of an Award Share as at 19 April 2024, being the date of grant,
was HK$0.188. The fair value of all the Award Shares granted to the 61
middle and senior management personnel of the Group (excluding Directors),
and the Award Shares granted to Mr. Zhang Jiawang, an executive director
of the Company, on 19 April 2024, was HK$14,110,152 and HK$2,028,896
respectively. The fair value of the Award Share is measured by the closing
price of the Award Shares at the day before the grant date. For details of the
relevant accounting policy for the determination of fair value, please refer to

notes 2.4 and 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

For details of the Share Award Scheme, please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 19 April 2024 and note 30 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed in sections headed "Material Acquisition and Disposal of
Subsidiaries and Associates and Joint Ventures” and “Share Option Scheme”
of this annual report, during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement (as defined in section 6 of the
Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong
Kong)).
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Transaction, Arrangement or Contract of HEEREZERRREZEH
Significance with Directors and Controlling BEARS RS EE

Shareholders

Save as the related party disclosures set out in note 35 to the financial FREFTSIRRMIFE 35 AL 5 58 M N[ #5148
statements and as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected  BEEX 5 | — &0 BN » AR &) 8 E A {a] B
Transactions” below, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significancein  BAREHEZE T -_MWNF+-_A=+—HILF
relation to the Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries & @ WHEFIVEE - EE 2 HEFEHIAN
was a party and in which a Director, an entity connected with a Director or & ZIEMR R EE S HEESEAERZWT
a controlling shareholder of the Company had a material interest, whether fAIERNEBEKEEAHEASTS - THA

directly or indirectly, subsisted for the year ended 31 December 2024. [ o
- - . :l: EI-; AY —_
Continuing Connected Transactions FEBRERS
The Company's continuing connected transactions during the year of 2024 are  R-ZE-MFE » AR ANBFEBEL ZIG
as follows: SET
1. RAW FRESH MILK SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 1. EHHEER TR
In 2022, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) RIZEZ=F BHSR(AERS R
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (A& &5 REEWBAR)BARERFIE
FIEEERMD AR LA (‘Inner Mongolia Mengniu” (for itself and (EBBRHERANRAEEERSH
on behalf of its subsidiaries)) entered into a framework agreement in (BEAFEREXEWBRAR))HMEE
relation to the sale of raw fresh milk from the Group (the “Raw Fresh AREBMERILFT TERE ([ £
Milk Supply Framework Agreement). HHEERGE]) -
Date: 17 November 2022
B —E-_F+—A++tH
Parties: (i) Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries); and
(i) Inner Mongolia Mengniu (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
BEoraE (i) EHERH(REAFERKREMEBLRGE) &
(il ARERF(REARFERKREMEBLA)
Listing Rules As China Mengniu holds approximately 29.9% equity interest in the Company through Start Great
Implications: Holdings Limited ("Start Great”) (which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Mengniu), China

ERAIRE

Duration:

HARR

Mengniu is a connected person of the Company. Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Mengniu, and therefore an associate of China Mengniu and also a connected
person of the Company.

AR B 43838 Start Great Holdings Limited([ Start Great)) (A BRSF2EHERR)
FARRARR299% RiE - FRRFR/RAARNBEAT - ARGRFATEEFNIESE
BB ARATERFHNBEA » TRAARINEEAL -

1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025
—E = -A-BARE_FE-_AFTHA=1T—H

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A



Principal Terms:

Pricing:

Annual Cap:

FELR :
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The Group shall sell raw fresh milk which meets Inner Mongolia Mengniu's purchasing standard
and quality requirements to Inner Mongolia Mengniu on a daily basis in accordance with the
monthly milk supply plan to be agreed between the Group and Inner Mongolia Mengniu, and the
Group shall ensure that on average more than 80% of the raw fresh milk it produces in each year
will be sold to Inner Mongolia Mengniu. The specific amount to be purchased shall be the amount
as confirmed by the Group and Inner Mongolia Mengniu. The daily delivery amount is determined
by the amount as weighted by Inner Mongolia Mengniu.
$EIH%$EFEEW§E§¢T$%E’JH FNEEGEERAAR ARG LERTE LB ERE
ERNAEHT  BARESHRRTHGFRAANTERFHEREERN80% A LM EH
?L o ﬁ%,\ﬂﬁﬂ SHEBRRAEENAZTHRFIRENEHE - BHRXNBEURNTHERLM
THES A% -

The purchase price of raw fresh milk was determined in accordance with market conditions,
seasonal factors and sales price of raw fresh milk in the region and adjusted based on the
quality and rating of raw fresh milk by taking into account various milk quality indicators as well
as the logistics subsidy as agreed between Shengmu High-tech and Inner Mongolia Mengniu.
The final purchase price of raw fresh milk varies in accordance with the quality grade as agreed
between Shengmu High-tech and Inner Mongolia Mengniu. The quality of milk supplied by the
Group shall comply with the standards set by the government and the requirements of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. The Group shall ensure that on average more than 80% of the raw fresh milk
it produces in each year will be sold to Inner Mongolia Mengniu. During the contract period, if
the rating of the quality grade of the raw fresh milk from the Group changes, the purchase price
shall be adjusted based on the latest rating.

AHIOBEERET R  FHMEZOEBEEHIHEERET  EXNAHIAOMERS
ACETHAE  TERZBFTNEERFEUNERSHMEAT LRI 2R ENDRMEE - &
EHEHMEASHERFHE AR CRRBEEEREESAMAM TR - AEBEPAHES
NZEE /,ﬂé.\lﬁzl*%uisz?&&W%é%iz%* c REBEHHERTEHFFAATHRYF
HEHEER 0% A LAEST - RELOHRE  MASEAHIEEERNTTAE  BE
BISERSHATEHE °

For the year ended/ending:

Cap: 31 December 2023: RMB3,400.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB3,226.1 million
Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB4,300.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB2,917.7 million
Cap: 31 December 2025: RMB5,000.0 million;

HETIIEHILEFE :

FR: CZE-=F+-A=+—H: AR¥34000EETL: BEXHELE  ARKE3226.1
A&ETT

PR N FE+_A=+—H: ARE4L3000BET BRI 505 ARK 29177
AETT

R ZFE-AF+=-_A=+—H8: AR¥500006&T :

Details of the Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework Agreement are set out EEIEEERBEOFBIHREAR
in the announcement of the Company dated 17 November 2022 and the AR AE—E-_—_F+—A+tHAKN

circular of the Company dated 11 December 2022.

NERARQARBHA-_ZT - —F+=
A+—BHM@EK -
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FUYUAN INTERNATIONAL BULK RAW MATERIALS SUPPLY FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT (TERMINATED ON 1 JANUARY 2025)

On 24 November 2022, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf
of its subsidiaries) and Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial
(Group) Co., Limited (N B IREIBREZE (£BE) BRAF)
International”) (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a

(“Fuyuan

framework agreement in relation to the supply of materials by Fuyuan
International and its subsidiaries ("Fuyuan International Group”) to
the Group (the “Fuyuan International Materials Supply Framework

Agreement”).

The Fuyuan International Materials Supply Framework Agreement
has been be terminated upon the Modern Farming Materials Supply

Framework Agreement (as defined below) coming into effect on 1

2REIR X RERMEEER TG ZE(ER
—ERF-A—H#KL)
RZEZZF+—AZ+WA - BH
SR AERFRREREMBARF)H
NEHEREBEX(EE)BRAF
([EREBD(BEARS RREREN
BAr) 2 RERREMB AR E
REIBREE MRS EHREYMREI Y
HE 28 top 7 ([ 2 R B R 4D R PE AR 2R 165
&)

B-Z-_AF—A-BAKKEDH
HEERBZE(ER LT X EME
= IRER R EAE 2R R BE BN AR L -

January 2025.

Date: 24 November 2022
HE - T —F+—AZ+WMH
Parties: (i) Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries); and
(i) Fuyuan International (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
BERE (i) EHESHH(RERFERKREAWMBLRA) &
(il EBRERREASFKRKREMBLF)
Listing Rules As at the date of the Fuyuan International Materials Supply Framework Agreement, Shengmu
Implications: High-tech was an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Fuyuan International

ERANRE

Duration:

HARR

was a non-wholly owned (as to 99.06%) subsidiary of China Modern Dairy, which was in turn
a 30%-controlled company of China Mengniu. China Mengniu is a substantial shareholder and
therefore a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, Fuyuan International is an associate
of China Mengniu and therefore a connected person of the Company.
RERBEBRMEHEERGRII LB  EREHNARRAZHELZENBRAF - EIREIK
RPBIRRHEREE 99.06% REFEZEMBLAR  MPRBRKBRERTERFZ30% X
ZRE c FRRFRARAZEERRE - A RARRIZHEEAL - HHEM - EREER A
BIRFCHMEA - ARITREARB ZEEAL -

From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 (Terminated on 1 January 2025)
B =F - A RRE_Z_AF+T_A=+—H(RZZ-R1F—A—B&KL)

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A



Principal Terms:
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Fuyuan International Group shall sell raw materials (including but not limited to maize, soybean
meals, coarse fodder and feed additives, etc.) which meet the Group's purchasing standard to the
Group. The purchase amount shall be specified by the Group based on the Group's actual needs,

to be confirmed in each purchase order placed with Fuyuan International Group.

T BN EREBREEREAAEEEENEARERBEENRM(BEETRNENR - T4 - HEA
BIRERAMBIE)  BEERASEREEEERFILRTE  URBRAAEREREET
BERHER ©

Pricing: The purchase price of the raw materials to be procured under the Fuyuan International Materials
Supply Framework Agreement shall be determined based on the current market price. Shengmu
High-tech will compare quotes of similar raw materials from at least two other independent third
party suppliers to ascertain the relevant market price.

EB BIEERERMHHEERGZMRBRENBEEARBRITTEETE - EHSRBER
ZOMREAMB L= HEFABRUREREAREE@ETE -

Annual Cap: For the year ended/ending:
Cap: 31 December 2023: RMB30.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB10.2 million
Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB30.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB2.5 million
Cap: 31 December 2025: RMB30.0 million.

FEER : BHETHHBIEFE

m

R Z2FE-=ZF+-A=+—HB: ARK3I00EE L BERRXH528E  ARKI02BET

\
!

i}

\
/
B

FR:ZFE-mF+=-—A=+—H8: AR¥300EETL: RH5&E ARE25BET

FR: ZCE-RF+-_A=+—"8: AR¥300HET

The Fuyuan International Materials Supply Framework Agreement
was terminated with effect from 1 January 2025 before its expiry. On
30 December 2024, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its
subsidiaries) entered into the materials supply framework agreement
with Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd.* GRRHE(EBE)BR R F)
("Modern Farming”) (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries which
include Fuyuan International) in relation the supply of materials by
Modern Farming to Shengmu High-tech commencing from 1 January
2025 to 31 December 2027 (the "Modern Farming Materials Supply
Framework Agreement”). Details of the Modern Farming Materials
Supply Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 30 December 2024,

BRI R FEAE R R T H B
ARZZ_AF—A—BEKRILE - B
—ToNFE+-_AZ=+H BHeE
(BEARGRREEMBAT)HERNK
WEEER)BRARAEMAKE]D
(BEABERREEWNBRAR(BRIER
BEE)RRARREE T _AF —
A—REE-_Z-_t+HF+-_A=+—
H 1E MBS B E YR RT SR
FEEZR I ([ RARBE R EESR
wEl) c BRMEDHHEERHE
MWEBRR AR BA-T_NF
TZA=THEHRE -
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2022 AIYANGNIU TECHNOLOGY MATERIALS SUPPLY FRAMWORK
AGREEMENT

On 5 August 2020, Shengmu High-tech entered a materials supply
framework agreement in relation to the supply of materials by Inner
Mongolia Aiyangniu Technology Co., Ltd. (RS HEBF R AR A F)
("Aiyangniu Technology”) for a term of period from 5 August 2020 to 31
December 2022 (the "Original Framework Agreement”).

Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and
Aiyangniu Technology (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered
into a materials supply framework agreement (the "2022 Aiyangniu
Technology Materials Supply Framework Agreement”) on 28 March
2022 to (i) terminate the Original Framework Agreement; (ii) renew for a
term of period commencing 28 March 2022 and ending on 31 December
2024, (iii) revise the annual cap for the year ending 31 December 2022;

and (iv) set annual caps for the years ending 31 December 2023 and

“ECCFERESRRRMERESRY

a2
CE23

R-ZZ-_ZTF)\ARHE BHSHE
SNMHERIERBE  ARBRAR

EEEFHXBERAATEESH
ROHEDE > HRE-F_FFN
ARBREE-FT-_—F+-_A=+—
B (TRAERTE]) -

P AERAERREREREB A
AEBEEFRR(BERNTRRKE
MEBAR)RKR-_ZE-—€=A=+N
BEl Rt EEE R —E ==
ﬁﬁ%*ﬂ&%ﬂTﬁE%%mD*
LA (i) #2 1 IR AE 2R W o HL%%@’
5_7__¢ A+ NB#EE=
_E¢+_H:+—Eﬁﬂlnuﬂ@

2024.

E-T-—F4+-_A=+—HILtFE
MEELER: URIVEEEHEZZT
ZEFRZE_NFE+=ZA=1+—H
IHFENFELR -

Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and Aiyangniu Technology (for

EHEM(REAG ERKERENBAR) REBFHR(BERG MRKRENBAR)

As at the date of the 2022 Aiyangniu Technology Materials Supply Framework Agreement,

Date: 28 March 2022
HE] TR ZF=A=+/\H
Parties:
itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
TH7 -
Listing Rules
Implications:

ERANEE

Duration:

HARR

Principal Terms:

Aiyangniu Technology was a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Mengniu. China Mengniu
was a substantial shareholder and therefore a connected person of the Company. Aiyangniu
Technology was an associate of China Mengniu and therefore a connected person of the
Company.

RIBZ—_FEBFNEYHHEERRZ LB  EEFHERTERFN—[HHELE
MEBAR - FERFRAAFTNEERR - AAARRNBEEALT - EBFRERPER
FRBEA - AL TMAARRBNBEAL -

From 28 March 2022 to 31 December 2024
—E I F =R+ NHEZZ-WF+=A=+—H

Aiyangniu Technology shall sell materials (including but not limited to feed, veterinary medicines
and dipping liquid for cows) which meet Shengmu High-tech's purchasing standard to Shengmu
High-tech. The purchase amount shall be specified by Shengmu High-tech based on its actual
needs in each purchase order signed and confirmed by Shengmu High-tech.
EEIMEANEHSHEEFEERNSRIRBRENYH (BRETRN M - #m - &
AR KESEAENSHREBEEERFBREERSREZE RERNEHRBEITERIETE -

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A



Pricing:

Annual Cap:

FELER

Details of the Original Framework Agreement are set out in the

Report of the Directors

EEEHE

The purchase price of the materials to be procured under the 2022 Aiyangniu Technology Materials
Supply Framework Agreement shall be determined based on the current market price when Shengmu
High-tech submits the purchase order to Aiyangniu Technology and after mutual agreement between
Shengmu High-tech and Aiyangniu Technology. Shengmu High-tech will compare quotes of similar
materials from at least two other third party suppliers to ascertain the market price and Aiyangniu
Technology will ensure that the purchase price of the materials to be procured under the 2022
Aiyangniu Technology Materials Supply Framework Agreement will not be higher than the quotes
provided by third party suppliers.

“T - _FEBFNEYAHEERGEE TEREDHORBER - ARBEXSHAEERFR
RIRTRBITERNRTHHER  SEHEHEZEFHMEARBERETE - ERSRELERE
LEINMRE=ZFHEBOREDEORE - UETTHER  BEEFREERERBE-S==
ERFIMEDHHEER G ZREMHNRBER TSR E=Z T HEHIRHARE -

For the year ended:
Revised Cap: 31 December 2022: RMB120.0 million (Note*); Actual transaction amount: RMB3.3 million
Cap: 31 December 2023: RMB120.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB1.7 million

Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB120.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMBQ.3 million

Note*: The original annual cap was RMB30.0 million under the Original Framework Agreement.

BETIIAHILFE

CEATLER: —E-—F+=-_A=+—H: ARE120088t({ix) & AREE

e —

33E&ETT

3=

AP

PR ZEZ=F+_A=1+—H: ARKI120088T : BEEX 525 AREB17EHET
FR: —E-MF+-A=+—H: ARKI1200088L: ERX54%E : ARKIIEET

Mk~ : RIBRIERBZ  REELRAARK00BET °

FIERGZNFBHNARB RS

announcement of the Company dated 5 August 2020. Details of the
2022 Aiyangniu Technology Materials Supply Framework Agreement
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2022.
On 30 December 2024, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf
of its subsidiaries) entered into the Modern Farming Materials Supply
Framework Agreement (as defined above) with Modern Farming
(for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries which include Aiyangniu
Technology). The annual cap under the Modern Farming Materials Supply
Framework Agreement is RMB33.0 million for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2025, 2026 and 2027, respectively. Details of the
Modern Farming Materials Supply Framework Agreement are set out in

the announcement of the Company dated 30 December 2024.

—TEZFEFNAHAREHNRAE ZF
T FEREFEBRYEEERIERB R
WFHBEHRAR TEHHF%_v__
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*

2023 DABEINONG GROUP MATERIALS SUPPLY FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT AND REVISION OF ANNUAL CAPS

On 30 December 2020, Shengmu High-tech entered into a materials
supply framework agreement in relation to the purchase of feed,
additives and medicines from Beijing Dabeinong Technology Group Co.,
Ltd.* b RARIERB R EBEROBRAR)

term of period commencing 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023 (the

("Dabeinong Group”) for a

“Original 2021 Framework Agreement”).

On 28 March 2022, Shengmu High-tech and Dabeinong Group entered
into a materials supply framework agreement (the "2022 Dabeinong
Group Materials Supply Framework Agreement”) to (i) terminate the
Original 2021 Framework Agreement; (ii) renew for a term of period
commencing 28 March 2022 and ending on 31 December 2024; (iii) revise
the annual caps for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023; and (iv)
set annual cap for the year ending 31 December 2024.

On 15 August 2023, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its
subsidiaries) entered into the 2023 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply
Framework Agreement ("2023 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply
Framework Agreement”) with Dabeinong Group (for itself and on behalf
of its subsidiaries) to (i) terminate the 2022 Dabeinong Group Materials
Supply Framework Agreement; (ii) renew the 2022 Dabeinong Group
Materials Supply Framework Agreement for a term ending 31 December
2025; (iii) revise the annual caps for the two years ending 31 December
2023 and 2024; and (iv) set an annual cap for the year ending 31
December 2025.

For identification purpose only
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Date:
HE]:

Parties:

HESRE

Listing Rules

implications:

EWRANRE

Duration:

HARR

Principal Terms:

Pricing:
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15 August 2023
—Z-=F/\A+EARA

Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries); and

(1)

(2)  Dabeinong Group (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
(1) EBEHER(REAFERKREMBLAF) &

(2) KRIEBREB(BEASFERKREMBLG)

As at the date of the 2023 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply Framework Agreement, Mr. Shao
Genhuo held 24.49% equity interest in, and was the de facto controller of, Dabeinong Group.
He was a substantial shareholder of the Company and a connected person of the Company. As
Dabeinong Group was an associate of Mr. Shao, Dabeinong Group was therefore a connected
person of the Company.

RITE_=ZFRIEBREEYRERERGRT LB - BBRBAEERBERILERE24.49%
Pt - RRILREBBNBERIESIA - RITAARFNEIEMREARARINEEAL - ARK
IEREERMBAENBEA  AUHALEREESARFNMEAL -

From 29 September 2023 to 31 December 2025
TR =FAAZtTNABEZZE-_RAF+ZA=1+—H

Dabeinong Group shall sell to Shengmu High-tech materials (including but not limited to feed,
additives and medicines) which meet the purchasing standards of Shengmu High-tech. Shengmu
High-tech will purchase from Dabeinong Group in the form of written orders based on actual
demand and Shengmu High-tech determines the final purchase of goods, specifications, quantity
and related quality, delivery and other services.
ANEREERARAEHSHOEN A ERSRHRBRENDH (BEE TRV G - RnE &
BER)  EUSHMREERST R USEENEARALREERE HTRERENE
Y RRESE  BENEEES  JEZFRBEAT -

The price of the materials purchased by Shengmu High-tech from Dabeinong Group shall be
based on the prevailing market price at the time of the submission of the relevant purchase order
by Shengmu High-tech to Dabeinong Group. Dabeinong Group undertakes to sell at a price no
higher than the market price of similar materials. For the purpose of determining the prevailing
market price, Shengmu High-tech shall request quotations from at least two independent
suppliers.
EHERMAILLRERBENDHNEREREBEERSHERAAIL EEERI KB ER
ERONTIHEME - ALEEEAGHEEERTRRRABEMHNTISER - KHEESRFHNT
5B EREMAmMELREE=HEERE -
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Annual Cap: For the year ended/ending:
Revised Cap: 31 December 2023: RMB300.0 million (Note**); Actual transaction amount:
RMB211.5 million
Revised Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB300.0 million (Note**); Actual transaction amount:
RMB247.8 million
Revised Cap: 31 December 2025: RMB300.0 million;
Note**: The original annual cap was RMB146.0 million under the 2022 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply Framework
Agreement.
FEER: HETPAHBIEFE
BETER : —T-=F+_"A=+—H: AR¥30008&E (") ERRHLHE :
ARB21NSEET
LIEFTER : ZE-WF+-A=+—H: ARB30008ET(HF")  EBRXZ S5
ARB2478BET
BETER: —T-AF+-_A=+—H:: ARM¥3000B&T
sk - RIBEZT Z ZF AL EEBE RS CREEERAARKE 1460BETT
Details of the 2021 Original Framework Agreement are set out in the ZEC—FRERBENOFBEEAR
announcement of the Company dated 30 December 2020. Details of the NREIBAE T T+ -_A=+H
2022 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply Framework Agreement are set MAE . _E-—FRIUEEZEEYHR
out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2022. Details of HEERBENFHBEHNA QA A
the 2023 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply Framework Agreement are F%fgiii AZ+N\BHNAE-
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 15 August 2023 and TECCF AR EEEYREEESR
the circular of the Company dated 14 September 2023. BEOFBEARAQARABHAES
T=FNATHREMAERB#AES

T —FNATUBEREEK -
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YIYINGMEI RAW FRESH MILK SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 5. mBXAHIMEERDGS
On 28 March 2022, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of the RZE-_—_F=ZA=+N\B " B¥s
Group) entered into a raw fresh milk supply framework agreement BHAEAGRREASZE) BEASR Y
with Inner Mongolia Yiyingmei Dairy Co., Ltd.* (RS BB EIAEGR HEEIEERAR([ZEEAE)
ANF)) ("Yiyingmei Dairy”) in relation to the sale of raw fresh milk from HEWRSR RS FDEEHTL
Shengmu High-tech to Yiyingmei Dairy (the “Yiyingmei Raw Fresh Milk R AEMIMHEERE(RBEE
Supply Framework Agreement”). EELHENERTE ) -
Date: 28 March 2022
B —E-_F=A-1\H
Parties: (1) Yiyingmei Dairy; and

(2)  Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of the Group)
HEP I (1) =EEIAFE R

(2) EHERH(AREAFERREAEEH)
Listing Rules As at the date of the Yiyingmei Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework Agreement, Mr. Shao Genhuo

Implications: was a non-executive Director of the Company in the preceding 12 months of the date of entering

ERANRE

Duration:

HARR -

Principal Terms:

FEEK

into the Yiyingmei Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework Agreement. Mr. Shao held 24.49% equity
interests in Dabeinong Group, which was interested in approximately 91.36% in Yiyingmei Dairy
and hence Yiyingmei Dairy was a subsidiary of Dabeinong Group. Mr. Shao was therefore a
connected person of the Company and Dabeinong Group and Yiyingmei Dairy were associates
of Mr. Shao and therefore each of Dabeinong Group and Yiyingmei Dairy was also a connected
person of the Company.

MREEERT U LEEHIHEEERBZBNAN2EARNSERFFNTESE - 1
MEEEHIHEERRRIT LB  BBEERARNILREE 26.49% NRE - MALLRSE
FIFARBEEIEDN 6% RE  FRBXIAER/KRILREENMB AR o Eitt - A8
FERRRBNEAEAL  MALBEERGEEAXERBEENBEA - ALEBETFR/R
NRIHBAEAL -

From 28 March 2022 to 31 December 2024
—E - F =R+ N \HEZE-_NF+=-A=+—H

According to the monthly milk supply plan, Shengmu High-tech shall sell raw fresh milk to
Yiyangmei Dairy that meets Yiyangmei Dairy's purchasing standards. The specific quantity of
milk purchased is based on the quantity confirmed by Shengmu High-tech and Yiyangmei Dairy,
and the daily delivery quantity is determined by volume weighted by Yiyangmei Dairy.
EHESRREAEHIE  AREXIFLETERBEIRRBRENEHT - A8
DERBHENENSREREXIEEANHERE  BRAREHEUR BRI ENEEH
ERE -
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Pricing: The purchase price of raw fresh milk shall be determined and adjusted in accordance with

market conditions, seasonal factors and quality of raw fresh milk. The final purchase price of raw

fresh milk varies in accordance with the quality grade as agreed between Shengmu High-tech

and Yiyingmei Dairy.
EME E B IRBEBRARBTISEN

CFEMERERARINEERETE LRHE - AHINK

RERBEBRBENSMERBEXIAXNENERBEREMIDY -

Cap: 31 December 2022: RMB17.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB1.8 million

Cap: 31 December 2023: RMB84.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB3.3 million

Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB146.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB7.1 million

Annual cap: For the year ended:
FEER : BHETYIEHIEFE -

PR ZZT_—F+-RA=+t—H: ARB 17088 EREXRS5ERE  ARK18BET

R - =F+-A=+—H8: ARKSLIIEE

R ZEZWF+=A=+—H: AR% 14608

Mr. Shao resigned as non-executive Director with effect from 30 July
2021 but continues to be a connected person of the Company as a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Details of the Yiyingmei
Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework Agreement are set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2022.

The term of the above Yiyingmei Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework
Agreement ended on 31 December 2024. The Yiyingmei Dairy (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and Shengmu High-tech (for itself and
on behalf of the Group) subsequently entered into a raw fresh milk supply
framework agreement on 30 December 2024, in relation to the sale of the
raw fresh milk from Shengmu High-tech to Yiyingmei Daily for a period
commencing from 1 January 2025 and ending on 31 December 2027
(the "2025 Yiyingmei Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework Agreement”).
Details of the 2025 Yiyingmei Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework
Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30
December 2024.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A

CERRSeR ARKTIBET

BEEA T -_—FtA=-1+HEE
EINITESRYS - BIEREARRE
ZRE - DAARAIMNBEEALT - &
BREMHIFEERERGROFFEHR
ARRBHAZTE-_—_F=A=+N
EE}] ‘\tt °

PSR EE S HEERGE
T-_ME+=-A=+— E%ﬁo&
BEINE(ARBEAGRRREMNER
A)BREHER(AEARS RREASE
EH)EBR-_T-_MF+-_H="1H
I AL MEIERGE AR EH
EESERARERS SRl gy
HRBE-_Z-_AF—H—RARE_Z
—tF+= ﬂ—+—E¢U:§:£
FREXEHAMEERBER] -
ToRFREEAMHIHEESR %
MHFBIRARRIARA-T-_MF
TZA=THMRE -
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YIYINGMEI PROCESSING SERVICE FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 6. HBEENMIRBIERTZ

On 28 March 2024, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of the RZE-_WMF=A=+/\H  XRQ7A
Company and its subsidiaries), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of MEZ2ENB AR ER SR (AER
the Company, entered into the processing service framework agreement FRREARRREKEAR)EKIE
with Yiyingmei Dairy, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Dabeinong Group BEEENFEZEMB AR REEILE
("Yiyingmei Processing Services Framework Agreement’), pursuant to FIMMTRAGIERH#([HZEEMT
which Yiyingmei Dairy agreed to provide processing services in respect FRISERGZE]) @ Bl B FEIE
of the production of milk powder for the Group from time to time during B B PN 25 82 2 N T AR 75 4 22 13 s HARR
the term of the Yiyingmei Processing Service Framework Agreement, NEZEZNF=A=+/\HRBEZ

commencing on 28 March 2024 to 31 December 2026.

Date:
=R

Parties:

HESRE

Listing Rules
Implications:

ERANEE

Duration:

HARR -

Principal Terms:

E_RFTA=T—BILTEAX
SEREFRDHEENINIRY -

28 March 2024
—E-FE=A=+\H

Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of the Group); and

(1)

(2)  Yiyingmei Dairy

(1 EHERH(REAFERKRAEEH) : &
(2) =EEIE

As at the date of the Yiyingmei Processing Service Framework Agreement, Shengmu High-
tech was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Shao Genhuo held 24.66%
equity interest in, and was the de facto controller of, Dabeinong Group. Accordingly, Dabeinong
Group was an associate of Mr. Shao. Mr. Shao also held the entire equity interest in Beijing
Zhi Nong Investment Co., Ltd. (bt R%E B EBMREFAF) (‘Beijing Zhi Nong’), which in turn
holds the entire equity interest in Nong You Co., Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Accordingly, each of Mr. Shao and Dabeinong Group is a connected person of the Company.
Yiyingmei Dairy is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Dabeinong Group. Accordingly, each of Mr.
Shao, Dabeinong Group and Yiyingmei Dairy is a connected person of the Company.
RRBEMIRBERGEAS  ERSRAARRBEZEMB AR - SRR ELEFARKR
IEEEE26.66%NRE - RAILEERENERZEHIA - Bt - KIEREE RIS ENBE
A BEETHAIIREREREGREEQAFA(TLERER DO HRE  MILRERFAR
ANREIEZRIT Nong You Co., Ltd. )2 #BAZHE - Bt - ABSE 4 AL B E B /AR RIHREDE
AT  mBERIAFXR/AILBREEN 2 EMBERT - Bt - Bl%4E - RIEREERHEET
¥EBARTRABINBEEAL -

From 28 March 2024 to 31 December 2026
—ENE=A -+ N \BEZE_RFt+_A=1+—H

Yiyingmei Dairy shall provide processing services in respect of the production of milk powder for
the Group from time to time during the terms of the Yiyingmei Processing Service Framework
Agreement.

RABEMTRBERBZAOBRA - mBEXIFG TR AREBREDH £ EH IR
f% o
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b Pricing: The processing fee for processing services borne by the Group will be negotiated on an arm's
length basis and determined in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms.
The processing fee shall be determined on a cost plus basis with reference to cost analysis,
market research, general industry standard, quality requirements, profit margin settings and
price adjustment strategies. Yiyingmei Dairy supplies the packaging for the milk powder products
and Shengmu High-tech will pay to Yiyingmei Dairy the cost of the packaging.

EB REBESINIRBARENINTEGRATIRAER - WA BEBBERIREEREBIER
BE o MIEBARKANMKELE  WREBXARST - Ti5HAE - —RITEFE HEER
FHERERBEAREKEE =L2XAXRHIVERNEE  EXaRmmEEdl
EXNBEER -

Annual cap: For the year ended/ending:

Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB21.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB2.6 million
Cap: 31 December 2025: RMB17.0 million;
Cap: 31 December 2026: RMB11.0 million;

FEER : HETHHEBIEFE
R ZE2EZWF+ZA=+—H: ARE2108E8L: BERZeE  ARB26B8TT
PR T -RFTRA=1t—H: AR 17088
ER: ZEARF+ZA=+—H: ARENMO0BET

Details of Yiyingmei Processing Service Framework Agreement is set out mBEMITRBIERBHRNFBHR

in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2024, ARElHBEAZZE-_WF=A=+N

HE)RE o
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YIYINGMEI MILK POWDER PURCHASE FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 7.

On 28 March 2024, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of the
Company and its subsidiaries), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the milk powder purchase framework agreement
with Yiyingmei Dairy, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Dabeinong Group
(the "Yiyingmei Milk Powder Purchase Framework Agreement’), in
relation to the purchase of milk powder by the Group from Yiyingmei
Dairy from time to time during the term of the Yiyingmei Milk Powder
Purchase Framework Agreement, commencing on 28 March 2024 to 31
December 2026.

Date:
=R

Parties:

HESRIE

Duration:

HARR -

Principal Terms:

Report of the Directors

EEEHE

B XM ERBAER 755

RZZE-WHEF=A=+/\B " &R
Fsﬁ?ﬁiéﬁﬁ%Aﬂ%%(mﬂ(ﬁﬁzﬁﬁf
RRERARRE) REHMEAR)EAIL R
SENFEREMBRARIRBEIERT
YRR R e ([ R BRI IR
ﬁﬁﬂ: e ) AR ERASERE
BXNHRBERBZHNR(BE -F
TWHFE=ZAZFTN\BRBREZZSZRF
TZA=+—RIE)ATKmREET
ERBOH -

E)I

28 March 2024
—E-MFE=/F=-1+N\H

(3)  Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of the Group); and
(4)  Yiyingmei Dairy

(3) EHERHAEAFERKRAEEH): &

(4) =mBEIZE

From 28 March 2024 to 31 December 2026
—EoNE=ZAt+NHEZZ-_XFt+_A=+—H

Yiyingmei Dairy shall sell to Shengmu High-tech milk powder which meets the purchasing
standards of Shengmu High-tech. Shengmu High-tech will place written orders based on its
actual demand and determine the final details of the purchase, such as specifications, quantity,
quality, delivery and other services.

RBEXIEMERSHMEERSERSRHRBRENDY - ERSHREBEEERFIRTESE
EF B @ WAFRENRBFE - OR% - 88 E8 - INREMRE -
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b Pricing: The price of milk powder purchased by Shengmu High-tech from Yiyingmei Dairy shall be
determined by the parties on an arm’s length basis, with reference to the prevailing market price
for milk powder of comparable quality at the time of the submission of the relevant purchase
order by Shengmu High-tech to Yiyingmei Dairy. Yiyingmei Dairy undertakes to sell at a price
which is no higher than the market price of similar milk powder. For the purpose of determining
the prevailing market price, Shengmu High-tech shall request quotations from at least two
independent suppliers before making the relevant purchase order. If the price of the product
supplied by Yiyingmei Dairy in the same period is higher than the market price of the product or
the price supplied by Dabeinong Group to a third party, Shengmu High-tech shall have the right
to adjust the price of an executed purchase order, and Yiyingmei Dairy agrees that Shengmu
High-tech may deduct the difference from the payment due to Yiyingmei Dairy. Shengmu High-
tech will review the price and quality of the milk powder from time to time to ensure that the milk
powder is in line with the Group's quality standards, as well as to ensure that the transaction
terms are fair and reasonable, and no less favourable than those available from independent
third parties.

EfE - ENEHREEXIERBOHNERERE S 2ZERSRARBXARRERRER]
BERAKEENHNERTSER  RATRAET  af2XAXAHRHEHEERTENFAEA
PHETISER - RETERNTHER  ERSRETEERREECA  BEEED
MBI R ERHRE - MRBEXIEFARHENERERSNZEMNTIHERRIAILE
SEMFE=FTRHNER  BEHSHARARERITHRBIIENER  SBFXIXRASE
HEB AT EN TR B XA ENFIETRHREE - ERESRETHRENHHERRES -
NHERDHTEAEENLEERE  TRERXZHERAFEE - B TNBENEILE=7RHH

iR o
Annual cap: For the year ended/ending:

Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB30.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB1.5 million

Cap: 31 December 2025: RMB25.0 million;
Cap: 31 December 2026: RMB17.0 million;

FELER HETHHHPILFE :

R -WNFE+_A=+—H: AR¥30.08E L BEEXFLE: ARK158E
G

R ZFE-AF+_A=+—H8: ARK25088L:

FR: ZE-RF+-_A=+—8B: ARKI17088T:

Details of Yiyingmei Milk Powder Purchase Framework Agreement is set @XM EBIERG RN BHR
out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2024. ARRIBHAZZ-_NFEF=ZA=+N
AR RE -
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are of the
view that the continuing connected transactions referred to above are entered
into during the ordinary and usual course of the Group's business on normal
commercial terms or better and according to the agreements in respect of
such transactions, the terms of which are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditors have confirmed that: (i) nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions in this annual report have not been approved by the Company's
board of Directors; (ii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the price and terms of the transactions were not, in all material
respects, determined in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;
(iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and (iv) with respect
to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing connected transactions set
out above, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded the maximum

annual cap as set by the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, none of the related party transactions as disclosed
in note 35 to the financial statements constitute non-exempt connected
transaction or non-exempt continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the Group's related party transactions are set out in note 35 to the
financial statements. During the year, the related party transactions mainly

comprised:

(1) sale of products to certain associates (such associates constitute
associates under the accounting standards as the Group holds certain
shares in them);

(2)  sale of raw fresh milk to China Mengniu Group;

(3)  purchase of materials from Aiyangniu Technology in accordance with the
2022 Aiyangniu Technoloy Materials Supply Framework Agreement;

(4)  purchase of materials in accordance with the Fuyuan International
Materials Supply Framework Agreement;

(5)  purchase of materials from Dabeinong Group in accordance with the
2023 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply Framework Agreement;

Report of the Directors
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5% (BREYIFWTES) RALAFTE
TORERER G HEAEENAE R K
KA ¢ RIBIE R B IRR S B R
#1T RREARXSNHELET - BRA
FEE - WANABRRMEBEME -

ARRNZBENER - () MREA #E
EAEESKREBRAFERSHARE
MBEBEXIREARBEZTGHE
(A BERA BEETANEECRERR
ERRXZHERRERARESERTERE
AEENEERRETE © (i) REEFMA
BECANEESRERRBERZIEREX
FEAREBERE BB ZHNEABEET
K (iv) st Bl SRR ERERX ZNATEM
B OREERA BMEEANEESRERR
PR BR IS ERER B AR R FTRT A
M= FELR -

BRAEFFTHE BR & SN - BI RS R M FE 35 P B
EMREE AR SHETEREMRAE14LAE
BTHIEREAER IR FFEBRER
5 o NARIER » ARAE BT LEMREIE
TLABERHERTE °

AR Z

AEBRBB I X0 HBER M B RERME
3/ AEHHM IR FTERH

(1) RZHEBEZEAR(RERERZEFHRER
AIFAETRND  BtZERREX
SR ZBME AR HEEM

(2) AFERFEELEEHT

3) BRE-_ZT-__SERFREWEHE
ERBZAE B FRBRBYH

(6) AR Y8R IS R R FHE 2 1 R
ik

(6) WRE-_F_=—FALRKEMHHE
ERBZAANIL R EERBYH
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(6)  sale of raw fresh milk to Yiyingmei Dairy;

(7)  purchase of milk powder and processing services in respect of the

production of milk powder from Yiyingmei Dairy;
(8)  payment of emoluments to key management of the Group;

(9)  guarantees provided by the Group for the bank borrowings of Shengmu
Forage; and

(10) entrusted loan provided by the Group to Shengmu Forage. The
arrangement whereby Shengmu Forage provided biowaste (i.e. cow
dung) cleaning services to our organic dairy farms for free in return for
our supply of such unprocessed biowaste from our organic dairy farms to
Shengmu Forage for free, is an exempt continuing connected transaction,
details of which have been set out in the section headed “Continuing

Connected Transaction” in the Prospectus.

Employees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 2,217 employees (2,701
employees in total as at 31 December 2023). Total staff costs for 2024 (including
the emoluments of Directors and senior management of the Company)
amounted to RMB326.8 million (RMB377.4 million in 2023). The Group believes
that the dedicated efforts of all of its employees are the very essence of the
Group's rapid development and success in the future. The Group provides
management personnel and employees with on-the-job education, training and
other opportunities to improve their skills and knowledge. In general, the Group
determines employee compensation based on each employee’'s performance,
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has made contributions to the
social security funds and housing reserve for its employees in accordance with
the relevant national and local social welfare laws and regulations. Employees
in Hong Kong are provided with retirement benefits, under the Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme.

The Group has also approved and adopted the Share Award Scheme and the
Share Option Scheme (which has expired on 18 June 2024). The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate the Directors, senior
management and employees of the Group and other participants. The Share
Award Scheme was also adopted to recognize the contributions by certain
employees of the Group and to incentivize them to contribute to the sustainable
development and high-quality growth of the Company.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A
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Retirement Benefit Plans

The Group has participated in a number of fixed contribution retirement plans
for eligible employees within the Group in accordance with applicable laws and

regulations.

Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior
Management

The remunerations of Directors and senior management are determined
based on their working experience, industry expertise, educational background
and skills as well as the Group's performance and operating results and with
reference to the remuneration policies of other companies in the industry
and prevailing market rates. Directors and employees also participate in
performance incentive arrangements relating to the performance of the Group

and individuals.

For the year of 2024, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director or
any of the five highest paid individuals of the Company as an inducement to join

or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

For details of remuneration paid to the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 of the

Listing Rules, please refer to notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.

Sufficient Public Float

Based on the public information available to the Company and so far as all
Directors are aware, the Company had maintained the public float as required
by the Listing Rules throughout the period up to the latest practicable date
prior to the publication of this annual report.

Foreign Currency Risk

Details of foreign currency risk are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code

For details of the Company’s corporate governance practices, please refer to
the section headed "Report on Corporate Governance Practices” in this annual
report.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

EEEHE

Event after the Reporting Year

Saved as disclosed in this report, no other material events of the Group
occurred after 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

Auditors

Ernst & Young has audited the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

All references in this part of the annual report (Report of the Directors) to other
parts, sections of or notes in the annual report, form part of the Report of the
Directors.

By Order of the Board of

China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited
CHEN Yiyi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. ZHANG Jiawang (58 HBE), aged 46, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company and is also a member of the Strategic and
Sustainability Committee. Mr. ZHANG was a non-executive Director of the
Company from 26 September 2016 to 29 June 2018. He was appointed to our
Board as an executive Director on 25 January 2019. Mr. Zhang joined Beijing
Dabeinong Technology Group Co., Ltd. (Jt R AL 2RI EEBRHERAF)
in August 2001 and has held various positions, including outreach director,
president’s assistant, development and investment manager, manager of
strategy and development, and vice president since then. Mr. ZHANG is also the
vice president of China National Sand Control and Desert Industry Society and
the vice president of China Dairy Association.

Mr. ZHANG received his bachelor's degree from Inner Mongolia Agricultural
University (R HEZZEKEZ) in July 2001, majoring in horticulture and his
master degree in executive master of business administration from Renmin
University of China (FFEI AR KRER) in January 2010. He is currently studying
for a doctorate degree in management jointly developed by Guanghua School
of Management of Peking University and the University of Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. ZHANG did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEN Yiyi, aged 50, joined the Group as a non-executive Director and
Chairman of the Board in May 2024. Mr. CHEN is also a vice president and head
of strategic management of Mengniu Group, and is responsible for the strategic
and investment management. Mr. CHEN was appointed as a non-executive
director of China Modern Dairy (1117.HK) since February 2023. He was also
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of Milkground (a company incorporated
in the PRC, the stock of which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with
stock code: 600882.SH) since May 2024.

Before joining Mengniu Group, Mr. CHEN worked for many well-known
international companies such as Nestle SA, International Paper Co, Tetra Pak
Sidel, China Resources Enterprise and listed companies in Hong Kong and
Mainland China for 25 years serving as the national commercial manager,
North Asia regional director, vice chief strategy officer, president and executive
director and other senior management positions. Having served in the fast-
moving consumer goods industry such as dairy and retail industry for
many years, Mr. CHEN has had extensive experience in industrial operation
integration, strategic planning management, corporate cooperation and
mergers and acquisitions and industry-wide vision and international business
experience. Mr. CHEN graduated from Fudan University with Bachelor's degree

in law.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Save as disclosed above, Mr. CHEN did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. ZHANG Ping (58¥), aged 60, is a non-executive Director of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 25 August 2020. Mr. ZHANG, who joined the
China Mengniu Group (stock code: 2319.HK) in 2014, was an executive director
of the China Mengniu during the period from December 2021 to 26 March 2024,
and is currently a vice president and the chief financial officer of the China
Mengniu Group. Until July 2023, he was also appointed as a non-executive
director of Yashili (a subsidiary of Mengniu Group, former stock code: 1230.
HK, delisted in July 2023). Mr. ZHANG is also a director in several subsidiaries
of Mengniu Group, including major subsidiaries Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy
Group Limited (AR & FFILE (5E) iR BBRAF]) and Inner Mongonlia
Tegoxin Dairy Co., Ltd. (A H = FH IR MBER A F]). He has over 35 years
of experience in the fast-moving consumer goods industry, specializing in
management of operation, finance and audit as well as risk control. Mr. ZHANG
successively worked as manager of internal audit and system development
and finance director at Swire Beverages Co., Ltd., general manager of its bottler
manufacturing company and chief executive officer of Coca-Cola Bottlers
Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr. ZHANG is also a non-executive director of
China Modern Dairy (a listed company in Hong Kong), and a non-independent
director of Milkground, a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr.
ZHANG graduated from Beijing Information Science and Technology University
(b 512 BREHE K E) with a master’s degree in management engineering.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. ZHANG did not hold any directorship in any public

listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun (8 E), aged 48, is a non-executive director of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 30 March 2020. Mr. ZHAO is currently
the head of animal husbandry industry chain of Mengniu Group (a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2319)). Mr. ZHAO is also currently
a non-executive Director, chairman of the board, chairman of the nomination
committee and strategy and development committee of China Modern Dairy,
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability whose

shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1117).
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. ZHAO joined Mengniu in 2000 and has served successively as regional
manager, sales director, general manager of operation and general manager
of planning and logistics. Mr. ZHAO has more than 20 years of experience in
the dairy industry, with strong leadership qualities, and specializes in both
sales management and supply chain management. Mr. ZHAO has in-depth
knowledge of PRC dairy market and great foresight in the PRC dairy industry.

Mr. ZHAO received his bachelor's degree majoring in business administration
from China University of Geosciences, Wuhan (Ff B8 K E(HE)) in 2009
and his master’s degree in software engineering from Beihang University (1t
FZEMARAE) in 2013

Save as disclosed above, Mr. ZHAQ did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. SUN Qian (f&5&), aged 51, is a non-executive Director of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 26 March 2014 and he is a member of
the Strategic and Sustainability Committee. Mr. SUN currently is a partner
of Sequoia Capital China. Mr. SUN received a bachelor's degree in applied
mathematics from Harvard University in the United States in June 1997, and
a master’s degree in business administration from Harvard University and a
juris doctor’'s degree from Harvard Law School in the United States both in
June 2003. Mr. SUN was a director of Bona Film Group Limited (principally
engaged in film distribution business), a company listed on NASDAQ (delisted
from NASDAQ on 8 April 2016), from 2007 to 2011 and a director of BIT
Mining Limited (formerly known as 500.com Limited) (principally engaged in
cryptocurrency mining) (listed on NYSE, stock code: BTCM), a company listed on
the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: BTCM), since October 2013. Mr. SUN was
a director of CooTek (Cayman) Inc. (delisted from the New York Stock Exchange
on 16 June 2022), a company with input method being its core business, since
July 2014. From December 2013 to June 2016, Mr. SUN was a non-executive
director of Dongpeng Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (delisted from the Stock Exchange on 22 June 2016) and from
October 2020 to September 2023, he has been a director of Dongpeng Holdings
Company Limited listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (52.003012).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. SUN did not hold any directorship in any public

listed companies in the last three years.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Ms. SHAO Lijun (BREE#E), aged 39, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company on 30 July 2021. Ms. SHAO is currently a director of Nong
You Co., Ltd. and the general manager of Beijing Zhi Nong, each of which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Ms. SHAO is currently a director of
Beijing Dabeinong Technology Group Co., Ltd. ({1t AL BRI EBA D R A
&), Inner Mongolia Shengmu High-tech Farming Co., Ltd. (5% & EE R EE
AR A7), Beijing Dabeinong Holding Co., Ltd. (3t AL ZIEREER A F]), and
Beijing Dabeinong International Science and Technology Co., Ltd(3b TR K4L 2 E
BEHEBR AT, and a general manager and executive director of Changchun
Shengshihuinong Agriculture and Trading Co., Ltd. (RERTEZEZEER
2 7A]). Ms. SHAO obtained a Bachelor of Law degree from China University of
Mining and Technology (AP BI#E % K E2),

Save as disclosed above, Ms. SHAO did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Liyan (£ &), aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 28 June 2017 and was designated as
a Lead INED on 26 March 2025. He is also a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee. He is currently a professor of the Department
of Accounting and a doctoral advisor of Guanghua School of Management in
Peking University and a certified public accountant in the PRC. He obtained
his doctor's degree from Peking University. His major research area lies in
accounting information and corporate value, overseas listing, dual financial
report, corporate governance system, environmental cost, accounting,
corporate sustainability report and CSR report. He also serves as the chief
editor of China Accounting Review and China Management Accounting. Mr.
WANG has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Jinshang Bank Co., Ltd., a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with
limited liability whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2558), since 5 November 2019. Until August 2023, Mr. WANG served as an
independent director of Unigroup Guoxin Microelectronics Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002049). He also served as
an independent director of Beijing Dabeinong Technology Group Co., Ltd (1t
Kt BRI EERS AR AR, a company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002385), until March 2023.
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Directors and Senior Management

Save as disclosed above, Mr. WANG did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. WU Liang (:2 %), aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 22 December 2020 and also a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He is currently a distinguished professor of Tongji University and
the executive dean of the National Research Institute of Modernization of Tongji
University (FE RS BIREBA/CIAZET). Mr. WU joined Xinhua News Agency
(¥7ZE4L) in 1993 and served in various entities of Xinhua News Agency for
over 25 years. He successively worked as the chief of the economic segment
and a member of the editorial board of the Outlook Weekly of Xinhua News
Agency (FTEEBX 2 TI4L), the executive vice chief editor and the executive
chief editor of the Financial National Weekly (B7 & BIZ#&H)), and the chairman
and the chief executive officer of Outlook Think Tank (BXZ2%5 &) between 2006
and 2018. Mr. WU graduated from Shandong University (LI KXE) with a
bachelor’s degree in chemistry in 1993 and also obtained his bachelor’'s degree
in journalism from China Journalism Academy (1 B3I £267%) in 1998.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. WU did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. SUN Yansheng (FR#E4), aged 41, is appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 30 July 2021.

EEkEREEE

B EXPTREESN - ERAERBE=FAL
EREMERMLETARREES -

REEE 5 RN_TE_TF+_A
T RERERARREMIFRITES
FKEIEZZEEKE - FTHZEENE
Lig#Z B ek E - %A/ RREAESE
BEERBERABERERCHTRAT
o REER—NAZFINAFEL L RH
EHMZEERTERALF RN _-F
ERFE_T )\ FHHEAREENELE
PBENHEEBREERRETEKE (MK
BRBT)EHRGELRTERE BE
PEEERREH - REER-NN=FF
ENURAR  BBHEXETEM - YR
—HAANFEXRFEFEHSER - BHEE
FELTEM -

B EXPIIEESN REARBE=FAL
BREN LW AREEES -

BEERE 61 R-T-_—F+tH
—TRERERARABILIIFNITES -

ANNUAL REPORT F[E ¥R 2024

7
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Mr. SUN is currently an independent director of Lanpec Technologies Limited
(HRRERALES I EERMDBR AT, a company incorporated in the
People's Republic of China with limited liability, the shares of which are listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601798), an independent director
of Mudanjiang Hengfeng Paper Co.Ltd (tfHTEZHAERNDBR A, a
company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability,
the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600356). In addition, he was appointed in January 2024 as an independent non-
executive director of Concord Healthcare Group Co., Ltd. (3P 52 F18& Z2 547
BEREEMMHER AT a company incorporated in the People's Republic of
China with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2453). Until July 2024, he was also an independent non-executive
director of Steve Leung Design Group Limited (REXRZAEEERAF), a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the shares
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2262) and until August
2023, he was an independent director of Newonder Special Electric Co.,Ltd (3T
FEXFTEERIMD AR 1)), a company incorporated in the People’s Republic
of China with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen
GEM (stock code: 301120), and until June 2022, he was also an independent
director of Arctech Solar Holding Co., Ltd. (L& EEHTELREHIIMD AR
731A)), a company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited
liability, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 688408)).

Mr. SUN qualified as a PRC Lawyer in June 1994 and founded Beijing Tian Yin
Law Firm (bt R RIRERIFETSFT) in December 2002. From February 2013 to
April 2016, he was a member of the planning committee of the China Securities
Regulatory Commission, which was principally engaged in the carrying out
of forward-looking research on and to propose solutions to capital market-
related laws and policies, where he was mainly responsible for advising
on regulatory reform as well as carrying out research on capital market
supervision, registration reform and information disclosure. From April 2016
to April 2024, he was the founding partner of Beijing Duncheng Investment
Management Consultation Centre (Limited Partnership) (It RBGHIRE BIEE
AL (BRAE#)), which is principally engaged in the provision of investment
advice on industries and government guidance and the management of industry
funds, where he was mainly responsible for participating in the formation of
industry funds, guiding the formation of local government industrial funds and

serving as a listed company and government financing and strategic adviser.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. SUN obtained a Bachelor of Law degree from the Inner Mongolia University
(NEEAE) in 1986 and a Master of Law degree from the Renmin University
of China (FBI AR KE2) in 2003. He also received a certificate of completion
for a postgraduate course in political economics from the Harbin Institute of
Technology (W HE T2 KE) in 1999.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. SUN did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHANG Jiawang (5RZRHE), aged 46, is the chief executive officer and
executive Director of the Company. His biographical details are set out under
the section "Executive Director” above.

Ms. GAO Lingfeng (5%Bl), aged 54, holds a master's degree in business
administration from Inner Mongolia University of Technology. Ms. GAO Lingfeng
joined China Shengmu in 2009 and is currently the head of support system
and vice president of China Shengmu. She is responsible for the coordination
and management of the Company’s milk resource quality, milk sales, human
resources, administration and outreach. Ms. GAO Lingfeng has extensive
experience in the operation and management of the entire livestock breeding
industry chain. Ms. GAO has worked for Yili Group and Mengniu Group,
holding various positions including Director of Quality Inspection Department,
Director of Quality Control Management Centre, Director of OEC Office and
General Manager of Western Business Division. She was awarded the title of
“Outstanding Dairy Worker of the Year 2022, "Outstanding Person of Inner
Mongolia Famous and Special Agricultural and Livestock Products Output
in 2023", “The Most Beautiful Science and Technology Worker”, and "Female
Striver in Technological Innovation in 2024".

Mr. NIU Yuesheng (4 B #), aged 50, holds a master’s degree and graduated
from Inner Mongolia University majoring in business administration. He is a
senior accountant, a senior international financial manager and an associate
member of the Association of International Accountants (AAIA). Mr. NIU
Yuesheng joined Shengmu Group in 2019 and is currently the Chief Financial
Officer and Vice President of China Shengmu. Mr. NIU Yuesheng is responsible
for the Group's finance and digital intelligence, including the coordination
and management of strategic finance, operational finance, shared finance
and investment and financing business. Mr. NIU Yuesheng has worked for
Mengniu Group and has many years of experience in finance, having held
various positions including factory finance manager, senior finance director of
supply chain of the Liquid Milk Division and senior director of investment and
equity management of the Group. Mr. NIU Yuesheng is also an expert member
appointed by the Inner Mongolia Digitizing Association.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEhEREEE

Mr. LIU Gaofei (2|5 7), aged 43, is a post-doctoral fellow of China Agricultural
University/Beijing Jingwa Agricultural Science & Technology Innovation
Center, holds a doctorate degree in animal husbandry. He is a senior animal
husbandry officer, senior economist and senior food safety manager. Mr. LIU
Gaofei joined Shengmu Group in 2019 and is currently the Head of Operations
System and Vice President of China Shengmu. He is responsible for the Group's
procurement management, farm technology operation and feed production
management. Mr. LIU Gaofei has extensive experience in the operation and
management of the dairy farming industry chain. Mr. LIU worked for Mengniu
Group and held various positions including General Manager of the Milk Source
General Management Centre and General Manager of the Quality and Safety
Management Centre.

Mr. LI Kwok Fat (Z=Ef|Z%), aged 49, was appointed as Company Secretary of
the Company in 2022. Mr. LI is currently the company secretary and financial
controller of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1117.HK). Mr. Ll is a
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. LI holds a master degree of finance and a master's degree
in corporate governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. LI
has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance, accounting, corporate

secretarial and compliance service field.

For details of Directors’ interests (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) in shares
of the Company, please refer to the section headed "Report of the Directors
- Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company” in this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no further information of our Directors or senior
management is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2) (h) to (v)

under the Listing Rules.
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Report on Corporate Governance Practices

Overview

The Company ensures that the Company and its subsidiaries are committed to
achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The Board
understands the influence and importance of high standards of corporate
governance on the value of the Company, and that good corporate governance
is in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

We have adopted, applied and complied with the code provisions contained in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “Corporate Governance Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) (as amended from time to
time) for the year ended 31 December 2024,

Board of Directors

The Board is the decision-making body of the Company, and is responsible
for formulating overall strategies and policies of the Group and approving
its implementation plans to ensure that the Group achieves its goal swiftly.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the responsibilities performed by
the Board include © formulation of strategies of the Company; formulation
of development goals, guidelines and policies and implementation plans of
the Company; control of and assessment on the fulfillment of the Company's
financial and operating goals; review and approval of annual financial budgets,
final accounts plans, profit distribution plans and compensation plans of
the Company; establishment of effective internal control systems for risks
assessment; and review and approval of the Company’s material contracts and
transactions, information disclosure, connected transactions and other matters

required to be handled by the Board.

Moreover, the functions of corporate governance of the Board include :
formulation and review of corporate governance policies and practices of the
Company; review and monitoring of the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management; review and monitoring
of the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; formulation, review and monitoring of the code of
conducts for staff and the Directors; and review of the Company's compliance
with other provisions contained in the Listing Rules from time to time and
disclosure in the Report on Corporate Governance Practices.
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Report on Corporate Governance Practices

TERERERERE

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the
Board to several committees under the Board (including the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Strategic and
Sustainability Committee) and senior management. All Board committees
perform respective functions and duties within their terms of reference (which
are available for inspection by the public on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange).

With the leadership of the chief executive officer, the senior management is
delegated by the Board with authorities and duties on the daily operation and
management of the Group. The delegated functions and work progress will be
reviewed regularly. Approval from the Board shall be obtained by the Company

before entering into of any material transactions.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including one executive Director (Mr. ZHANG Jiawang); five non-executive
Directors (Mr. CHEN Yiyi, Mr. ZHANG Ping, Mr. ZHAO Jiejun, Mr. SUN Qian and
Ms. SHAO Lijun); and three independent non-executive Directors (Mr. WANG
Liyan, Mr. WU Liang and Mr. SUN Yansheng). The Chairman of the Board of the
Company is Mr. CHEN Yiyi. Mr. LU Minfang resigned as a non-executive Director
of the Company and the Chairman of the Board with effect from 28 May 2024
due to adjustments of work arrangements. Mr. CHEN Yiyi was appointed as a
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Board with effect from 28 May
2024.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”,
there was no financial, business, family or other material relationship between
the Directors of the Company and in particular, between the Chairman of the
Board of the Company and the chief executive officer.

Biographical details of the existing Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.
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Report on Corporate Governance Practices

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND DISMISSAL OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) has
signed a service agreement or an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of three years. The Directors shall be subject to retirement from office
by rotation or re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to Article 16 of the Articles of Association of the Company
(the "Articles”).

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for the re-election. Pursuant to Article 16.3 of the Articles, any Director
appointed by ordinary resolution to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Directors shall hold office only until the next following general meeting

of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

According to Article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual general meeting of
the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less
than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director appointed pursuant to
Article 16.2 of the Articles shall not be taken into account in determining which
Directors are to retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the
close of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election.
The Company at any annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may
fill the vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.
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Report on Corporate Governance Practices

TERERERERE

DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board implements a policy of diversified composition of the Board. For the
purpose of sustained and balanced development, the Company recognises that
the Board diversity is critical for facilitating its strategic goals and maintaining
its sustainable development. The Board appoints members based on their
skills and qualifications, and also considers the value of having a diverse mix
of perspectives and backgrounds. The Board considers various aspects of
diversity, such as gender, age, culture, education, career, skills, knowledge
and tenure, in its initial selection of Board members. After that, the Board
matches the Company's specific requirements for talents with business goals
and strategies at different phases of development. As of the date of this report,
the Board consists of nine Directors, one lady and eight gentlemen, who have
diverse and professional backgrounds. Three of the Directors are independent
non-executive Directors, who contribute to a critical review and oversight of
the board management process. Having reviewed the board diversity policy
and the Board's composition, the Nomination Committee considered that the
requirements of the board diversity policy had been met and no measurable

objective had been set to implement the board diversity policy.

The Company will, from time to time, review the composition of the Board and
continue to look out for, among others, suitable female talents, to ensure a
pipeline of diverse directorship candidates. This ongoing process reflects the
Company's dedication to diversity and inclusive excellence at the leadership

level.

As of 31 December 2024, 61% of the Company’'s employees (including senior
management) are male, whereas 39% of the Company’s employees (including
senior management) are female, which the Company believes is a good and
healthy gender ratio of the workforce. The Company is committed to ending
gender discrimination, promoting gender equality, and safeguarding the legal
rights and interests of female employees. Moving forward, the Company
remains committed to embracing diversity and ensuring gender equality in
its talent acquisition efforts. This steadfast approach reflects the Company's
dedication to fostering an inclusive workplace. The Company will consistently
integrate these core principles into its recruitment strategies.

The Board will from time to time review the board diversity policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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Report on Corporate Governance Practices

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the reporting period, the Company complied with Rule 3.10(1) and Rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which requires the Company to maintain at least
three independent non-executive Directors and have an independent non-
executive Director with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. Mr. WANG Liyan, one of the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company is a certified public
accountant in the PRC. Mr. WANG Liyan was designated as a Lead INED by the
Board on 26 March 2025.

The Company has received the letter of confirmation issued by each of the
independent non-executive Directors as to his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all the independent non-

executive Directors are independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. CHEN Yiyi. is the Chairman of the Board, while
Mr. ZHANG Jiawang is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. As such,
the roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company are
separate and performed by different individuals. Mr. LU Minfang resigned as
the Chairman of the Board with effect from 28 May 2024. Mr. CHEN Yiyi was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 28 May 2024.

BOARD PROCEDURES

Meeting Arrangement

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional operational meetings
are also held, when required. The Company Secretary is responsible for
preparing agenda and notices for the meetings. Senior management of the
Group also provides to the Directors in a timely manner relevant information
regarding key business developments of the Group and issues affecting the
Group. Agenda and other information decks are normally delivered to the
Directors before the meetings. The Directors also have independent access to
the senior management in respect of operational issues. The Directors may
take independent professional advice where appropriate to discharge their

duties, at the Company's expenses.

Record of Meetings

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are kept by the
Company Secretary and are not only available for inspection by the Directors
but also sent to the Directors for their records. All Directors have access to the
Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures

are complied with and advising the Board on compliance matters.
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TERERERERE

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board convenes a meeting on a regular basis and at least four meetings

each year. In 2024, the Board held 4 meetings at which the operating results,

investment issues, etc. of the Company were considered and discussed.

Attendance record is below :
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Number of

Board meetings

attended/
held during
his or her
respective
tenure Attendance
EHEZEEN
FHREBE
BITEES
Members EEERE PN HE=E
Executive Director HITEE
Mr. ZHANG Jiawang REREL A 44 100%
(Chief Executive Officer) (BEEHTE)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. LU Minfangne! B SRR A A M 171 100%
Mr. CHEN Yiyi (Chairman)™' BR 5 — S A ()i 3/3 100%
Mr. ZHANG Ping RESEAE 44 100%
Mr. ZHAO Jiejun HEAELAE 44 100%
Mr. SUN Qian oS St A 100%
Ms. SHAO Lijun BPEE &+ 44 100%
Independent non-executive Directors BAUFHTES
Mr. WANG Liyan FIERE 44 100%
Mr. WU Liang Rt 44 100%
Mr. SUN Yansheng RIEE LA 414 100%

Note:

(1) Mr. Lu Minfang resigned as non-executive Director and Chairman of the Board on 28
May 2024 and Mr. Chen yiyi was appointed as the Chairman of the Board on the same

date.
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Director Training

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains
informed and relevant. The Company is responsible for arranging suitable
training for all Directors at the Company's expense. The Group continuously
updates the Directors on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

A summary of training received by the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2024 according to the records provided by the Directors is as

TREBERBRE

EEEH
RiFREERTAMSTRIEXC1.4 - 26
ERA2EFENEERR  AERLER
IR Mivee - RMMHESENE
BRFHBE N - AR BERERES
ZHEENE - BRBEARRIEE - A%
ErERESENAHRE MR REMER
MEERENRITER - AERBMAETEL
REMMIE RFEEEIQNRE

REEFERENTE 82T _HF+—
A=1T—BLLFE BFEEINHEIIR2W

follows : K

Type of trainings
Directors = IR
Executive Director HITES
Mr. ZHANG Jiawang SREKAE e ABC
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. LU Minfang (resigned on 28 May 2024) ESMEE(R=ZFE=ZFEARA =+ VHET) AB,C
Mr. CHEN Yiyi PR — A& ABC
Mr. SUN Qian S Pk ABC
Mr. ZHANG Ping RFESRE AB.C
Mr. ZHAO Jiejun HEAEE LA ABC
Ms. SHAO Lijun MEER T ABC
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFEHITES
Mr. WANG Liyan TUERE AB,C
Mr. WU Liang RemfAk ABC
Mr. SUN Yansheng Sl ABC
A Reading materials, journals and updates relating to the business and industry ~ A: [ESECEMITERRGEOMA - BT &

development &M
B:  Reading materials relevant to the latest development of the Listing Rules and other B :  [IiEHE FMAREBMNRIER L EMBERNES
applicable regulatory requirement REBBHME

C:  Attending or delivering seminars and/or conferences and/or forums C:  ZMBHHANERHEHERHRE

Mr. CHEN Yiyi obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on 28 May 2024, and he has confirmed that he understood his obligations
as a director of the Company.
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TERERERERE

Board Committees

The Company has four Board committees, namely the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and the Strategic
and Sustainability Committee. Each committee performs its work in accordance

with the terms of reference approved by the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include determining
the policies in relation to human resources management, reviewing the
Company's remuneration policies and determining remuneration packages for
the Directors and senior management members. As at 31 December 2024, the
Remuneration Committee comprised one non-executive Director (Mr. ZHANG
Ping) and two independent non-executive Directors (Mr. SUN Yansheng and Mr.
WU Liang) and was chaired by Mr. SUN Yansheng.

According to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company, the Remuneration Committee convenes at least one meeting in each
year. In 2024, the Remuneration Committee convened one meeting, whereby
the overall remuneration policy and structure for the Company's Directors
and senior management members and proposals on the establishment of
standard and transparent procedures for the formulation of remuneration
policies were reviewed, as well as reviewing and approving matters relating
to the Share Award Scheme. The Remuneration Committee reviewed and
approved the grant of 75,054,000 Award Shares and Cash Award in the amount
of RMB?,603,000 to 61 middle and senior management personnel of the
Group (excluding Directors), and 10,792,000 Award Shares and Cash Award of
RMB1,380,800 to Mr. Zhang Jiawang, an executive director of the Company, on
19 April 2024. The Remuneration Committee consider that the grant of award
shares and cash award as an incentive to motivate the management team and
retain talents for the continuous growth of the Group, is fair and reasonable
and in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the
Board. As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprised a non-
executive director (Mr. CHEN Yiyi) and two independent non-executive Directors
(Mr. WANG Liyan and Mr. WU Liang) and was chaired by Mr. CHEN Yiyi. Mr.
LU Minfang resigned as the chairman of the Nomination Committee with
effect from 28 May 2024. Mr. CHEN Yiyi was appointed as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 28 May 2024.

The Nomination Committee recommends potential candidates to appointments
on the Board based on merits of such candidates, having regard for the
benefits of diversity of the members of the Board and the necessity of ensuring
a balanced composition of expertise appropriate for the businesses of the
Group. The selection of potential candidates is based on a range of diverse
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills, knowledge, and
leadership qualities, and ultimately, the contribution that such candidates will

be able to bring to the Board, to complement the abilities of existing Directors.

According to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee of the
Company, the Nomination Committee convenes at least one meeting in each
year. In 2024, the Nomination Committee convened one meeting, whereby
the members discussed the structure and composition of the Board of
the Company, performed qualification review on preliminary candidates
recommended by the management of the Company and identified suitable
candidates, advised on the proposed changes to the Board for the purpose
of the Company’'s corporate strategies and assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors. Prior to election of a new Director,
the chairman of the Nomination Committee submits recommendations and
relevant materials of the directorial candidates to the Board of the Company
based on the nomination policy of the Company for directorship.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company adopted a nomination policy for directorship (the “Nomination

Policy”) on 24 March 2023 which supplements the Terms of Reference of

the Nomination Committee. It aims to set out the processes and criteria for

the nomination of a candidate for directorship in the Company which seeks

to ensure that all nominations of Board members are fair and transparent

in order to facilitate the constitution of the Board with a balance of skills,

experience and diversity of perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements

of the Company's business.

1. SELECTION CRITERIA

1.1. When considering a candidate nominated for directorship or a

director’s proposed re-appointment, the Nomination Committee

will take into account the following factors as a reference :

whether the qualification, skills, experience and industry
knowledge of the candidate meet the business needs or are
in line with the long-term development of the Company;

effect on the board’'s composition and diversity in all its
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years
old or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, and the compliance with the diversity policy of the

Company;

commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to
effectively discharge his/her duties. In this regard, the
number and nature of offices held by the candidate in
public companies or organisations, and other executive
appointments or significant commitments will be considered;

any potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the

candidate is selected;
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. for the appointment or re-appointment of independent non-
executive directors, the independence of the candidate and
his/her immediate family from the Company; and

° in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an independent
non-executive director ("INED"), the number of years he/she

has already served.

The above factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate on a

case by case basis.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as a director of the Company and
to the public disclosure of their personal data on any document
or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a director of the Company.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide

additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

2. NOMINATION PROCEDURES

2.1

Subject to the provisions in the Company's Articles, if the Board
recognises the need to appoint an additional director, the following

procedures should be adopted

4 the chairman of the Nomination Committee shall call a
meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations
of candidates from Board members if any, for consideration
by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The
Nomination Committee may also identify or select candidates
to be recommended to the Board, with or without assistance

from external agencies or the Company;

i

1.2.

1.3.

XERAERRE

e HRBIUFMITEFHZE
THEHET FEAR
HERZXBBHARANE
AVE R

s HEEBEHRITBEIIEH
TERIBILIFEBTE
EDHBERT - # HE
ARFGHOF 2K -

BiEA=EES2E T TIEREB
HAELRABAREN - REEES
EREERRBENBIRT - R
BARBLRBRATAAL -

ERRIE AR KB RERENR
RARIVENEABR - AR
wPHREERERARRNE
= WRBAEERFRERE
Uk ERRAEBRMMANEAZER
B2 mARBESREEN
BB -

HRRBELE REREEAR
SKIRE AR T E R R -

2. REER

2.1.

ETERARR AR E OB
T HEEERFBNBVERT
—RBINVESF - BARANTRE
5

e REAZBECIFEAKRR
wLEegE UHFE
FEeRE(WMA)RARE
A HREZEEESH
AIEZE - REBEZEBENA
G 2 NN )7
BT BEREEAES
SHEBOREA

ANNUAL REPORT F[E ¥R 2024

85



N

- &
QP

e

Report on Corporate Governance Practices

TERERERERE

the Nomination Committee may use any process it deems
appropriate to assess the suitability of and the potential
contribution to the Board by the candidates based on (but
not limited to) the criteria set out in section 2.1 herein,
which may include personal interviews, background checks,
presentations or written submissions by the candidates and

third party references;

the Nomination Committee will hold a physical meeting to
consider the matter and avoid the making of decisions by
written resolutions unless it is impractical that a physical

meeting be held;

the Nomination Committee shall provide to the Board for its
consideration with all the information required, including
infomation set out in Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules in

relation to the candidates; and

the Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
to the Board, including the terms and conditions of the

appointment.
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meeting.

upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee. The

Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
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Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprised two independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. WANG Liyan, and Mr. WU Liang and one non-
executive Director, Mr. ZHANG Ping. Mr. WANG Liyan possesses the relevant
professional qualifications required under the Listing Rules. The Chairman of
the Audit Committee is Mr. WANG Liyan.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to oversee the Group's
financial reporting system, risk management system and internal control
procedures, and to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
the applicable standard. The Audit Committee has been provided with sufficient

resources to discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 December

2024. Major work completed by the Audit Committee during the year includes :

. reviewed the Group's annual report, interim financial information and
annual consolidated financial statements;

. reviewed significant accounting and audit issues;

° reviewed the external auditor’'s qualifications, independence and

performance;

. reviewed the external auditor’'s management letter and the

management's response;

. reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit Committee under
the CG Code;

. assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of financial reporting

procedures and internal control system;
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. reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's systems of
internal control and risk management and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, including advising on identification of connected

parties and formulating relevant policies;

. reviewed the continuing connected transactions entered into by the

Group or subsisting during the Reporting Year; and

. reviewed the utilisation of annual caps on certain continuing connected

transactions of the Group.

Strategic and Sustainability Committee

The Company established the Strategic and Sustainability Committee on 30
July 2021. As at 31 December 2024, the Strategic and Sustainability Committee
comprised one executive Director (Mr. ZHANG Jiawang) and three non-
executive Directors (Mr. CHEN Yiyi, Mr. ZHAQ Jiejun and Mr. SUN Qian) and
was chaired by Mr. CHEN Yiyi. Mr. LU Minfang resigned as the chairman of
the Strategy and Sustainability Committee with effect from 28 May 2024. Mr.
CHEN Yiyi was appointed as the chairman of the Strategy and Sustainability
Committee with effect from 28 May 2024.

The primary functions of the Strategic and Sustainability Committee include
formulating the Company’'s long-term development strategy, reviewed the ESG
report and the ESG policies and strategies of the Group, as well as considering
environmental, social and corporate governance related matters. The
sustainability department of the Company will report the work progress to the
Strategic and Sustainability Committee on a regular basis.
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TEERERBSE

The attendance record of Directors at meetings of the Audit Committee, the

Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee is as follows

i & 5T 8%

EXHFEREZES

BENgRmEMT

FMEREMERE

Number of attendances/meetings

held during his or her respective tenure

EHEHEBENES
HERE SRETRE

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Committee Committee = Committee

Directors =2 ENEEER FHWEEE RELES
Mr. LU Minfang™t’ & B S A N/ATNER  NATEA 0/0
Mr. CHEN Yiyimte! BR 5 — o A N/A TiE A N/A 8 A 171
Mr. ZHANG Jiawang SRR SE A N/A N A N/ATER N/A TNEA
Mr. ZHANG Ping RESE 3/3 2/2  N/ATE A
Mr. ZHAO Jiejun AT N/A 38 R N/ATEA  N/A TEA
Mr. SUN Qian oS St N/A 5 A N/ANER  N/ATES
Ms. SHAO Lijun BB E 2t N/A N A N/ATER N/A TNEA
Mr. WANG Liyan FTIERE 3/3 N/A i@ 1/1
Mr. WU Liang Rk 3/3 2/2 1/1
Mr. SUN Yansheng FRIEE S E N/A N3 A 2/2  N/A @A

Note:

(1) Mr. Lu Minfang resigned as non-executive Director and Chairman of the Board on 28
May 2024 and Mr. Chen yiyi was appointed as the Chairman of the Board on the same

date.
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TERERERERE
- %

«/  General Meetings BREXE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the attendance record of each Director EHZE-Z-WF+_-_A=+—HILFE &
at General Meetings is as follows : EEHERRAGE ZRHOT ¢

Number of attendances/meetings

Annual General Meeting and

Extraordinary General Meetings (if any)

held during his or her respective tenure

EEZENEER
HERE ERBITRE

Directors s BRBFASRBERISHAZ (0E)

Mr. LU Minfangnte! [E B o A 0/0

Mr. CHEN Yiyirte' PR 5 — SE e /1

Mr. ZHANG Jiawang SRR SE A 11

Mr. SUN Qian Bt 1/1

Mr. ZHANG Ping SRS A /1

Mr. ZHAQ Jiejun HEE S E /1

Ms. SHAO Lijun BB E 2t 11

Mr. WANG Liyan TUELAE 171

Mr. WU Liang Rk 1/1

Mr. SUN Yansheng RIEA A 171

Note: [

(1) Mr. Lu Minfang resigned as non-executive Director and Chairman of the Board on (1) E&#KEER-_ZT-_WERA -+ N\BHEIK
28 May 2024, which was before the date of the 2024 annual general meeting of the NEIRZZEZWEFAAATHARITH T
Company held on 14 June 2024, and Mr. Chen yiyi was appointed as the Chairman of the FREBFRSBIZA)BGEIFRTEER
Board on the same date. EECXF AR LEEZTRESE

EFE o
The 2024 annual general meeting of the Company was held on 14 June 2024. ARRZEZNFRFBEFAER T

FRATHHEHSRTT -
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Model Code for Directors’ Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific queries to the Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Directors’ Responsibility for Financial
Reporting in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group's
accounts and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules,
meanwhile, the senior management should provide relevant and sufficient
information and explanation to the Board to enable it to make informed
assessment of the financial and other decisions.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to

continue as a going concern.

The statement of the auditors of the Company in respect of their reporting
responsibilities on the Company's financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” contained in

this annual report.
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Dividend Policy

In accordance with the Company's dividend policy adopted on 28 March
2023 (the "Dividend Policy”), the declaration and payment of dividends shall
be determined at the sole discretion of the Board. The Company's ability to
distribute dividends will depend on, among others, the Company's profits,
operating results, cash flow, financial condition and capital requirements,
contractual restrictions which the Company is subject to, other factors of
the Company which the Directors consider relevant, and the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. The remaining profits that are not distributed

will be used for the development and operation of the Group.

The Company'’s distribution of dividends shall also comply with any restrictions
under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the
Listing Rules, the Articles, as well as subject to the approval of shareholders of
the Company (as applicable).

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views are
Available to the Board

The Company has put in place a mechanism as set out below to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board during the year. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent. The Company has also received written confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

PURPOSE

These mechanisms are to ensure that there is a sufficient independent element

on, and independent views and input are available to, the Board.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least three INEDs and
at least one-third of its members being INEDs (or such higher threshold as may

be required by the Listing Rules from time to time).

Apart from complying with the requirements prescribed by the Listing Rules
as to the composition of certain Board committees, INEDs will be appointed to
other Board committees as far as practicable to ensure independent views are

available.
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INDEPENDENCE ASSESSMENT

The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the Nomination Policy and the
independence assessment criteria as set out in the Listing Rules with regard to

the nomination and appointment of INEDs.

Each INED is also required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if
there is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may materially
affect his/her independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess annually the independence
of all INEDs by reference to the independence criteria as set out in the Listing

Rules to ensure that they can continually exercise independent judgement.

COMPENSATION

No equity-based remuneration (e.g. share options or grants) with performance
related elements will be granted to INEDs as this may lead to bias in their

decision making and compromise their objectivity and independence.

BOARD DECISION MAKING

INEDs (as well as other directors) are entitled to seek further information
and documentation from the management on the matters to be discussed at
board meetings. They can also seek assistance from the Company’s company
secretary and, where necessary, independent advice from external professional

advisers at the Company’s expense.

INEDs (as well as other directors) shall not vote or be counted in the quorum
on any board resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which such
Director or any of his/her close associates has a material interest.

The chairman of the Board shall at least annually hold meetings with the
INEDs without the presence of other Directors to discuss major issues and any

concerns.

REVIEW OF THE POLICY IMPLEMENTATION

The Board shall, or may designate a board committee to, make an annual
review of the implementation and effectiveness of this policy.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

Our Group has complied with and implemented relevant necessary risk
management and internal control policies in accordance with the Corporate

Governance Code during the year.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to maintain sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems of the Company, which are
designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to

achieve business objectives.

The Board is also responsible for monitoring our risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems.
The Board also ensures the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company's accounting,
internal audit, financial reporting functions as well as those relating to the
Company's ESG performance and reporting. The Board conducts review of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group once every
year. The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, including all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls in 2024 and the

Company considers them effective and adequate.

The compliance management center of the Group is established to act as the
management institution of risk management and internal control, responsible
for the evaluation of the establishment, optimisation and implementation
of internal control system throughout the industrial chain of the Group to
determine whether the internal control system of the Group is reasonably
designed, gives rise to risks and is implemented effectively, as well as
providing management support for the improvement and refinement of such
defects and risks identified, if any, in the process of evaluation. Meanwhile, the
compliance management center is also responsible for diagnosing material
risk control matters in each segment throughout the industrial chain of the
Group, analysing, assessing and selecting risk management object for review
so as to provide solutions to risk control and related requirements, and
tracking the progress and result of risk control for acceptance for the purpose

of effective risk management and control.
During the year, each operating and management department of the Group

continued to work on system improvement and process optimisation to realise

the management goal in a more effective and consistent way.
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The Group conducts risk management and internal control in different aspects
in line with different levels of corporate governance, and aims to implement
necessary adjustment, restriction, assessment and control measures to
enhance the economics, efficiency and effectiveness of the implementation
of the Group’'s operational goals, to keep the assets of the Group safe and
intact and to ensure the correctness and reasonableness of accounting data,
compliance with relevant laws, regulations and rules, and to use reasonable
endeavours to eliminate fraud or error in all operational procedures. All
employees are committed to continually enhancing the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company, tying such systems to our corporate

strategies as well as integrating such systems into our day-to-day operation.

With respect to the dissemination of inside information, the Group
acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO, the Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that inside information should be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable. The Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on
fair disclosure by pursuing broad and non-exclusive distribution of information
to the public through channels such as financial reporting updates, public
announcements on the Stock Exchange's website and the Company’'s website.
Unauthorised use of confidential or inside information is strictly prohibited
by the internal policies of the Group, and the Group has also established
and implemented procedures for responding to external enquiries about the

Group's affairs.

The Group maintains an internal audit function. Internal audit reports are
presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee, who reports the findings
to the Board. Based on the assessment by the Audit Committee, senior
management members and the internal audit department, we did not identify
any material internal control flaw or deficit, nor was any major issue raised for

improvement, as at 31 December 2024.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has formulated an internal Code on Information Disclosure (“Internal
Code’) to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of
information disclosure of the Group in accordance with the requirements of the
SFO and the Listing Rules. The Internal Code provides for detailed rules in the

following areas.

— basic principles of information disclosure

— duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure

— information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria thereof

— procedures for the circulation, review and disclosure of information
— confidentiality of the undisclosed information

— accountability and handling measures

— information communication system with investors, securities analysts

and the media, etc.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company attaches great importance to the establishment of clean
governance and anti-corruption work. We have established management
systems and set up the discipline inspection department to implement various
requirements on anti-corruption work to strictly manage corruption issues
and ensure that every member of the Company does not go beyond the bottom
line of business ethics. The Company has enhanced its anti-corruption policy,
strictly prohibits the employees from accepting any form of rebates, agency
fees, facilitation fees and gifts, and strictly prohibits management personnel
from taking advantage of their positions to seek personal benefits for relatives
and specific related persons to prevent conflicts of interest. The Company
strengthens the supervision and inspection of high-risk nodes and fields,
encourages internal mutual supervision, and continues to carry out training to

deepen the awareness of integrity.
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Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group always upholds the practice of integrity and law-abiding spirit at
all levels. Employees are well aware of and acknowledge the importance of
anti-corruption. The Group has a well established whistle-blowing policy to
encourage and allow employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in matters of financial reporting, farm operation, corporate compliance, and
other malpractices at the earliest possible opportunity. Employees can raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties such as misconduct
and malpractice in any matter related to the Group with the audit committee/
a designated committee comprising a majority of independent non-executive
directors). Complaints received will be handled in a prompt and fair manner.
The policy aims at protecting the whistle-blowers from unfair dismissal,
victimisation, and unwarranted disciplinary actions. Anti-corruption trainings
are conducted annually for all farms and subsidiaries. During the year, all
employees have received anti-corruption training, including seminars, online
training, promotion of anti-corruption activities and self-evaluation. The Group
will review the mechanism and whistle-blowing policy annually and to ensure

its relevance and effectiveness.

Company Secretary

Mr. LI Kwok Fat acts as an authorised representative under Rule 3.05 of the
Listing Rules, the company secretary, and the process agent of the Company
for accepting services of process or notice on behalf of the Company in Hong
Kong as required under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). Mr. LI is responsible for the provision of corporate
secretarial services, facilitation of the Board process, as well as communication
among Board members, management and Shareholders.

All Directors have access to the advice and service of Mr. LI to ensure that the
Board procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are properly complied
with. Mr. LI complied with the professional training requirements with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules during the financial year.
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External Auditor and its Emoluments

The Group's external auditor is Ernst & Young. For the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024, the emoluments paid or payable for the audit and
non-audit services (including review and consultancy services) provided by

Ernst & Young was as follows :

S8 BB N B <=

AEBOINB LB ATAE D FBH -
HE-F-=FR-F-MET-A=F—
AR - REARGOB RIFERE
(DEEM R HRI)E X SEN OB
m -

Audit Services Fit R
Non-audit Services JEE T ARTS
Total 4t

2024 2023
Amount Amount
(RMB) (RMB)
—E-NEF —EZ=F
G k-t
AR ONSn
2,100,000 2,100,000
480,000 480,000
2,580,000 2,580,000

Communication with Shareholders and
Investors/Investor Relations

During the year, the Company has amended its shareholders’ communication
policy ("Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) setting out the principles of
the Company for Shareholders’ communications, with the objective to ensure
timely and accurate communication with its Shareholders.

The Company adopts a range of communication methods, such as hybrid
annual general meetings, reports and announcements, circulars, various
investor and analyst meetings as well as the Company's website to ensure the

Shareholders are kept well informed of the Group's key business imperatives.
In addition, we have a dedicated investor relations email account for taking

enquiries and for receiving information requests from Shareholders (please
refer to page 99 of this annual report for more information ).
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We assign dedicated staff members to maintain good relationships with
investors and regularly or occasionally communicate or coordinate with
institutional investors, with an aim to enhance communication and mutual
understanding in a timely manner. During the 2024, over 53 investor meetings
have been conducted. We also update our investor relations website in a timely
manner, to ensure that the Shareholders and investors can have timely access
to and understanding of the Company's latest data, information and reports.
Our annual general meetings are effective forums for the Shareholders to
share their views with the Board. Shareholders are welcome to attend the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

Investors are welcomed to send their enquiries to our investor relations
department at zgsm@smorganic.cn or browse the Company's website
(http : //www.shengmuorganicmilk.com) for the latest information of the
Group.

The management will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy annually. The Board and the Company
are of the view that the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’

Communication Policy was adequate and effective for the year.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's attention to the
Company Secretary at the Company’s principal office address at Room A, 32nd
Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The
Company Secretary will forward communications relating to matters within the

Board's purview to the Board.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the operations,
strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at general meetings.
Proposals shall be sent to the Board by email at zgsm@smorganic.cn (investors
relations) or pursuant to the following address via personal delivery, mail
Board of Directors, Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (attention :

or courier to *
Shareholders’
Communication Department) not later than : (a) 6 weeks before the annual
general meeting of the Company to which the request relates; or (b) if later,

when the notice of the annual general meeting is despatched.
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The request will be verified with the Company’'s Share Registrars and upon
their confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will request the Board of Directors to review the proposal. After
a thorough review of the submitted proposals, the Board may, in its sole
discretion, consider if such proposals are appropriate and shall be put forward
to the Shareholders for approval at next annual general meeting or at an
extraordinary general meeting to be convened by the Board, as appropriate,

and the Shareholders concerned will be advised of such outcome.

Procedures for Director’'s Nomination and
Election by Shareholders

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring director for
election as a director at a general meeting, the Shareholder should lodge at
the Company's principal office address at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower,
262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, (a) a written notice signed by
such Shareholder (other than the proposed person) duly qualified to attend and
vote at the meeting of his/her intention to propose such person for election;
and (b) a written notice by the proposed person indicating his/her willingness
to be elected together with the personal information of the proposed person
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and consent of publication
of his/her personal information. The period during which the aforesaid notice
may be given shall be at least seven days : such period will commence on the
day after the dispatch of the notice of general meeting and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting. The Company would take
appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements, in the event a valid

notice is received.

Procedures for the Convening of
Extraordinary General Meetings by
Shareholders

General meetings may be convened on the written requisition of any one
or more members of the Company deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong at Room A, 32nd Floor COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have
such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objectives of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition represent not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

Ernst & Young e .

27/F, One Taikoo Place ﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ

979 King’s Road BB ERREE 979 57
§ a Quarry Bay, Hong Kong Kb —RE27ig

Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Shengmu
Organic Milk Limited (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries (the "Group”) set out
on pages 108 to 239, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is

provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying

consolidated financial statements.
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Valuation of dairy cows

Biological assets of the Group, which represent dairy cows
and beef cattle, were measured at fair value less costs to sell
amounting to RMB3,466,521,000 as of 31 December 2024.
Dairy cows of the Group include milkable cows, heifers and
calves, which are raised for the purpose of producing raw
milk. Beef cattle are raised to three to six months old and then
for sale. The fair value of biological assets as assessed by
management was significant to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements since (i) the carrying values of such
biological assets accounted for approximately 40.95% of the
total assets of the Group; and (ii) significant estimates were
involved in management's fair value assessment. Management
engaged an external valuation expert to assist in the valuation
of the biological assets as at 31 December 2024.

The accounting policies and disclosures for biological assets
are included in note 2.4 material accounting policies, note 3
significant accounting judgements and estimates and note 17

biological assets to the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ELNNEEREERSE

Valuation of dairy cows
We assessed the objectivity, independence and competence of
the external valuation expert engaged by the Group.

We evaluated the underlying basis and assumptions used by
management. In particular, we assessed the assumptions
applied to which the outcome of the valuation was most
sensitive, including the estimated local market selling price
of the relevant dairy cows, feed costs per kilogram of the
production of raw milk, daily milk yield at each lactation cycle
and local future market prices for raw milk. We checked the
computation of the fair value of biological assets.

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’'s disclosures
relating to the fair value measurement of biological assets.
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Other information included in the Annual
Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting

process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

BB ARE

R MM BERGRS VR

RAERBNERE

BANBR  RHBRBGRAMBHRRE
TR R R R ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ’xﬂﬂﬂiﬁﬁ%a&
FOLES A IEARE - YHABERMERN

THEISRE - RAERZEBRRBEHFIN
BR BRI ZIMRREREEAM B H o HAI
CERABENATAEAEMALE £
EEEAEE -

/\I¥17T<m5m7}<$5l’11%§§ CETRERERE
AR ERETHNRRARERRFAENR —

EATEERBRM o $EFRPR M AT LA BB BREF S8R
SIfE - PARE B T PR Bl X bE 4B AR 2Rk A]
R ERSRAMBRER I EEFREME
R EOERTE - B 75 B Y £E AR PR Al AT AR 1
BKRo

ERBEFEFETENETEZNERT &

PIER 7TREHE - RIS TRREREE -
BAIIL

o ERRUFNEEAHL BB R BREF ok £E R T B BUAR
BB WMERTFEEREREM AR
B RETRMITEZE T A EHE L
Bz - LA RERG T EEE N EZR
B ERERMERNER - ANEG
AgErREE HE BEEAR &
BRpRat - skoE B R EBIE %‘JZL S|
S ARBEBR R AMGFME T E KRR
PR 3t & [ Bea Lt B 66 R 1 B8 B A E K ER
RFRA AR E S o
TR BRI S
HENBEZRR 1EEE’\JI#£TE\K
EABESNERMERER -

ANNUAL REPORT F[E ¥R 2024

105



N

- &
QP

e

106

Independent Auditor’s Report
R R T

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Yee Chung Man (practising certificate number: P05744).

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

LEERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z 2024 F 12 A 31 HiFF/E

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Loss arising from changes in fair value
less costs to sell of biological assets

Fair value changes of financial
guarantee contracts

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Provision/(reversal) of impairment losses
on financial assets, net

Other expenses

Finance costs

Share of profits and losses of associates

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic

Diluted

SHEWA
SHE A

EF

ERELNER

BERRAOHATELE

H AU A N s

HERDHEFX

TR

THMEEZRERR
Bl (BmE)FE

HAhFAxz

BB A

DIEBE AR B
BRBLAT (B18), 8T
PRSI
FR(ER),IEF

AT & IAEN
(SYNCIE 2PN
IR 2

BAREBRESFEA
i ER(BE) &R

Notes 2024 2023
FY & 2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
5 3,126,184 3,383,629
(2,200,294) (2,358,609)
925,890 1,025,020
17 (807,302) (706,302)
(81) (124)
5 70,960 72,319
(49,062) (62,746)
(152,565) (166,309)
(149) 1,651
(5,836) (2,545)
7 (47,456) (53,104)
2,317 (10,174)
6 (63,284) 97,686
10 (1,231) (3,074)
(64,515) 94,612
(65,495) 86,076
980 8,536
(64,515) 94,612

12
(RMB0.0080) RMBO0.0104

(AE#0.00807T) AR¥0.01047T

(RMB0.0080)

RMB0.0103

(AE#0.00807t) AR¥0.01037T
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GETHEWER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 % 12 A 31 AIFF/Z

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that
will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at
fair valuethrough other
comprehensive (loss)/income:

Changes in fair value

Net other comprehensive (loss)/income
that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

FR(ER),EF

Hit2H (B18), s
HAeRERBRERDHE
ERSNEMER
(E1H]), M
BERNFERA
EEEMER),
Wi micE
NEEE

A ERERBRER
DRERENEMEE
(E18), e %5

FREME2E(EE),

Wam - HIERBLE

FRZHEEE)
W s AR

AT & IAEN
(SYNCIEZEUN
IR 2

Note 2024 2023
g 2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T ARKFIT

(64,515) 94,612

22(a) (5,000) 4,000
(5,000) 4,000

(5,000) 4,000

(69,515) 98,612

(70,495) 90,076

980 8,536

(69,515) 98,612
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/\\ Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ER BARBHRRE

* €59/ 31 December 2024 202441231 H
C?

e

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Other intangible assets

Investments in associates

Biological assets

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Other financial assets

Cash and bank balances

Long-term receivables
Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Biological assets

Trade receivables

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Other financial assets

Restricted bank deposits

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and bills payables

Other payables and accruals
Lease liabilities

Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

FRBEE

E N S

EREEE

HitpE|ILEE

B R ERIRE
EMEE

B FOR - b RUKEIE R
HiEE

Hib S REE

B MRTTHES

RHREUGRIR

FRBEERR

REBEE

FE

EMEE

B 5 RUGRIR

FARNRIR - Eopb EUGRIA I
Hib B E

Hib S REE

ERHIRITER

B MRTTHS

MENVEERE

nBEE

B HRNFIENENER
Ht e RERIARE N
HEAE

FERSRITHER

PSR IR

MENBERE

FRE

T

\

REERRBERE

13

14(a)

15
16
17

21
22
23
18

19
17
20

21
22
23
23

24
25

14(b)

26

Notes yJiyJA 2023
B &E 2024 F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
1,885,925 1,945,138
594,896 595,729
23,285 10,893
34,644 23,353
3,380,138 3,122,650
— 49,848
56,000 61,000
368,058 552,429
— 829
6,342,946 6,361,869
856,609 1,006,841
86,383 91,579
287,701 303,329
64,400 79,053
— 130,000
128,988 148,783
697,225 395,457
2,121,306 2,155,042
1,649,760 1,706,705
304,565 390,779
17,036 13,380
666,565 911,383
1,227 —
2,639,153 3,022,247
(517,847) (867,205)
5,825,099 5,494,664
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

Notes 2024 2023
FMIEE 2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 14(b) 41,587 38,553
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EIRITIER 26 1,607,720 1,219,856
Total non-current liabilities IERB A ELRE 1,649,307 1,258,409
Net assets FEE 4,175,792 4,236,255
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & A F#EA A EILHEZ
Share capital & A< 28 69 69
Treasury shares held under RIER M B B AW
share award scheme EFS 29 (43,754) (76,887)
Reserves (e 29 4,006,692 4,099,886
3,963,007 4,023,068
Non-controlling interests R = 212,785 213,187
Total equity FERAREE 4,175,792 4,236,255
Zhang Jiawang Zhang Ping
REKAL RE
Director Director
EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
TMERREEX

Year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 % 12 A 31 HIFF/Z

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAEEARE
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at fair
value through
Share Share other Exchange Non-
Share Treasury premium — Contributed option  comprehensive Reserve  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
Note capital shares account surplus reserve income funds reserve profits Total interests equity
RATEA
AfrEhE
nemeE
i34 B BERR  RDEER  BEER  BRESE NTERE  BRES ENRBEE  REEN &t rebEs EReR
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000
ARETT  ARETR ARBTT  ARETT  ARETR ARBTL  ARETR  ARBTT  ARMTR ARETR  ARETRT  ARETR
At1 January 2023 ROBF1R1B 9 (26188) 2436970 190371 115,245 (22,162F 652,304 16617 393,981 4,055,187 206,495 4,261,682
Profitfor the year Egf| - - - - - - - - 86,076 86,076 853 9,412
Other comprehensive income FRER2ERE :
for the year:
Changes in fai value of BATE AL h2ENE
equity investments at fair value WESRELTERS
through other comprehensive pily 3
income, net of tax - - - - - 4,000 - - - 4,000 - 4000
Total comprehensive income FREAYGEE
for the year - - - - - 4,000 - - 86,076 90,076 8536 98,612
Share purchases for Share R EEiERAEE
Award Scheme 30 - (66,657) - - - - - - - 66,657) - (66,657)
Share Award Scheme Ripseastl 30 - - - - 32475 - - - - 30475 - 32475
Shares exercised under Share RERGDREE R
Award Scheme - 15958 524 - (17.311) - - - - (829) - (829)
Dividend distribution ReAR - - (87,184) - - - - - - (87,184) - (87,184)
Dividends paid to non-contralling ERTEERRRNRE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (1,844) (1.8644)
Transfer from retained profits BRERART - - - - - - 16,983 - 16,983) - - -
At 31 December 2023 R023%F12R318 09 (76.887)  2368310¢ 190371 130409 (18,162 669,287 16617 463054° 4,023,068 13187 4,236,255
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

Year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 % 12 A 31 A IF F/Z

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATREEARE
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at fair
value through
Share Share other Exchange Non-
Share Treasury premium  Contributed option  comprehensive Reserve  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
Note capital shares account surplus reserve loss funds reserve profits interests equity
BAVETA
Aft2EEE
g&
i34 ke EERE ROEE  BHER BREGR AVERE  BRED EXRDRR  REEA & FEREE  ERAE
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR  ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR ARNTR ARBTR  ARETR  ARRTR
At1 January 2024 RNUEIATE 69 (76,887) 2,348,310 490371 130,409 (18,162 669,287 16,817 463,054 4,023,068 213187 4,236,255
Proftfor the year ERE = = = = = = = = (65495)  (65,495) 980 (64515)
Other comprehensive loss ENEHREEE:
for the year:
Changes in fair value of BATEALD2EEE
equityinvestments atfairvalue ~ MVERREDTESE
through other comprehensive HBBEE
loss, net of tax - - - = = (5,000 = = = (5,000 = (5,000)
Total comprehensive loss ENZEERLE
for the year = = = - - (5,000) - - (65,495) (70,495) 980 (69,515)
Share Award Scheme POEGRE] 30 - - - - 28022 - - - - 28022 - 28022
Shares exercised under Share RERH R B TENRA
Award Scheme = 33133 1,150 = (34,283) - - - - - - -
Dividend distribution REAK _ _ (17,588) _ _ _ _ . _ (17588) _ (17:588)
Dividends paid to non-controling ~ SF FIHERRRARE.
shareholders = = = = = = = = = = (1,382) (1,382)
Transfer from share option reserve S BRRIERA - - 95,558 - (95,558) - - - - - - -
Transfer from retained profits BRERIRA = = - - - - 9,508 - (9,508) = = =
At 31 December 2024 R0UE12A318 69 (43,756) 2,427,430 490371 28,590 (23,162 678,795 16,817 388,051 3,963,007 212,785 4,175,792
# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB4,006,692,000 (2023:  # ZERERFPRESRAVBRARANERSE

RMB4,099,886,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

E# AR 4,006,692,000 7T(20234F © AR

4,099,886,0007T) °
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/\\ Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
C VTS PIIE

S ﬁ) Year ended 31 December 2024 &2 2024 F 12 A 31 HIFF/Z
(?

X Notes 2024 2023

oz 2024 F 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREET T AREEFIT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEBMEBHESAE

(Loss)/profit before tax BrFiAT(E5I8),mF - (63,284) 97,686
Adjustments for: FEE
Loss arising from changes in fair value EMEEANTEEBRIEE
less costs to sell of biological assets BRELXNEE 17 807,302 706,302
Fair value changes of financial P RERENNAFEED
guarantee contracts 81 124
Finance costs BB R 7 47,456 53,104
Lease interest HERNE 4,800 —
Share of profits and losses of associates SaK(a): AN =F 16 (2,317) 10,174
Interest income FE WA 5 (32,487) (29,555)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BELEE
plant and equipment HE EiE 5 3,767 5,141
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets & HEMEREEREIE 5 110 -
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BERRETE
and equipment b 121,803 106,370
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 6 17,808 19,472
Amortisation of other intangible assets H e E =g 6 1,527 1,310
Impairment of items of inventories FEEB RE 5 20,799 3,511
Impairment loss on/(reversal of) CREERE
financial assets &8, (#E) 149 (1,651)
Share award expenses & 15 2B =% 30 34,201 32,475
Foreign exchange differences, net HNGE 2 BFFE 5 326 (354)
962,041 1,004,109
Decrease/(increase) in inventories &R,/ (3Em) 129,433 (129,702)
Increase in biological assets - current EYEEEIN—RE (127,057) (121,109)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B S REWGRIER L,/ (3 m) 15,628 (26,473)
Decrease in deposits and other receivables 1% 4 Kz EL{h & U g IE R 3,350 5,407
(Increase)/decrease in restricted SERHIRITERGLM) R
bank deposits (8,416) 9,804
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills B RN FIBARENEE
payables ORd),/#Em (41,246) 180,497
(Decrease)/increase in other payables Hin e sIE R FEIRRE A
and accruals CRA) /4 (23,698) 14,872
Cash generated from operations KEEANRS 910,035 937,405
Interest received RSN 6,202 5,953
Income tax paid BAATSHE (4) (3,074)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEBFBRSREFE 916,233 940,284
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 % 12 A 31 A IFF/Z

Notes 2024 2023
g3 2024 F 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES R &EEBFIBIRERE
Purchases of items of property, HEME  BELRFEEE
plant and equipment (234,511) (291,697)
Additions to right-of-use assets Mg REEE (2,818) (4,391)
Additions to other intangible assets Mg EMmEREE (400) (870)
Prepayment for biological assets EMEETE R — (48,358)
Payments for breeding calves and heifers EEES B KR (1,160,712) (970,429)
Proceeds from disposal of biological assets &4 W EEMFTEHIE 342,238 358,994
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME - M=
plant and equipment RIBIEE TSR 9,556 7,312
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary LARTERR & — R B A Al
in prior period PS5k 1E 15,000 —
Investment in an associate R—EBEARNRE (9,800) -
Payments for previous acquisition S RTUCE — KB A R FR
of a subsidiary - (5,000)
Interest received B & 7,023 10,822
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ~ HEIZAFEAERS
at fair value through profit or loss SREEZFEHIE 130,000 329,000
Placement of term deposits with original FAREHBBRE=EADN
maturity over three months T BTERK (63,252) (540,000)
Dividends received from an associate B —EEE A B E 825 825
Net cash flows used in investing activities SEEBFARSREFHE (966,851) (1,153,792)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ BiEEEBFTB RS RE
New bank loans FTILIRITIE K 2,957,869 2,112,785
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (2,814,823) (1,721,796)
Repayment of super short-term note BEBRHRES — (100,000)
Withdrawal of pledged deposits REVE#HER 48,211 66,700
Placement of pledged deposits FAEBFR (20,000) (25,421)
Principal portion of lease payments HENROAS TS (15,242) (18,126)
Interest of lease payments HERNHRFE (542) -
Payment for purchase of ordinary shares EELBERORK — (53,737)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B FIEER R RS
shareholders (512) (1,844)
Dividends paid BT B (16,872) (87,184)
Interest paid EAHE (52,028) (52,943)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z 2024 F 12 531 HIFF/E

Net cash flows from financing activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CAS EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

Represented by
Cash and bank balances
Less: restricted bank deposits
and term deposits with original
maturity over three months

RELZHAERSRER

ReRRESEWEN,

OB ) 8
FNRELASEFED

EXEFHNTEFRA

FRASLBRSEFED

5
Be MIRTTHES

B RREIRITERKRE

HABE=EA
TEHITF R

%A

iy

Notes 2024 2023
oz 2024 F 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREET T AREEFIT
86,061 118,434
35,443 (95,074)
395,457 490,177
(326) 354
23
430,574 395,457
1,194,271 1,096,669
(763,697) (701,212)
430,574 395,457
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1.

Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% 3R AR B RE

37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

1. REIREEER

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman

Islands with limited liability. The registered office address of the
Company is P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the

Company's subsidiaries were primarily engaged in the production and

distribution of raw milk in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC").

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Inner Mongolia
Shengmu High-tech Farming
Co., Ltd. ("Shengmu High-tech”)*
(note (i)
NREEHERMCERR AR
(FEHEEHD (L)

Inner Mongolia
Shengmu Holding Co., Ltd.
("Shengmu Holding")*
(note (i)

AR HEBIERARAF
(FEEBHZERR ) (PREE (1))

Bayannur Shengmu Pangu Farming
Co., Ltd. ("Shengmu Pangu”)*

EE=mmEMBIHEER
BEERR([BhEE ] )

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

MRS,
AR ERnR

PRC/
Mainland China

e,
B A

PRC/
Mainland China

=
el

PRC/
Mainland China

hE
REA

Registered
share capital

AEMRA

RMB
988,700,000

ARE
988,700,000 7

RMB
280,000,000

ARE
280,000,000 7T

RMB
80,000,000

AR®
80,000,000 7T

ARAA—HRASFHESFMRZH
BHREMNBR AT - ARQAK M
% 2 R 4k A P.0. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands °

ARRH/—EAREERARF - RAEF
B ARARHMEARETZETEA
RAMBI(THEDIEEEERD HR

K4 -

BEKME R TNER

ARREEMBRRFFBEMOT

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company

RARRMERET DL

Direct Indirect
HiZ GiE:3
— 100

— 100

— 55

Principal

activities

Production and
distribution
of raw milk

R

Production and
distribution of

raw milk

Production and
distribution
of raw milk
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY

31 December 2024 2024 12 531 H

2.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

#

The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by the
management of the Company to directly translate their Chinese names as these
companies did not register any official English names.

Note:

(i) The entity was registered as a foreign investment enterprise under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards (which include all International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board ("IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for certain biological assets, agriculture produce and
derivative financial liabilities which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB") and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continvea)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,

including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the

investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that

such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.
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b 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continvea)

2. 5B E =
21 RREE »)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had

directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

GOING CONCERN

The Group had net current liabilities of RMB517,847,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: net current liabilities of RMB867,205,000). In view
of the net current liabilities position, the board of directors has given
careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.

Having considered the unutilised banking facilities and cash flow
projections for the year ending 31 December 2025, the directors are
satisfied that the Group is able to meet in full its financial obligations as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors have

prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS Accounting Standards
for the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in @ Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the 2020 Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting Standards are

described below:

(a)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate occurring from the date of initial application of
IFRS 16, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial

position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12

months after the reporting period.
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The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting Standards are

described below: (continued)

(b)  (continued) (b) (&)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the
classification of its liabilities as current or non-current remained
unchanged upon initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position

or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
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supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity's liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the

amendments did not have any impact on the Group's financial BEITE - AN ANEE W EME
statements. ERELH  ZEBIHAKE

M B RR W BT AZE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS Accounting

Standards, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised

IFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18

IFRS 19

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 21

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Accounting

Standards — Volume 117

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures®

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability'

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9,
IFRS 10 and IAS 7 ?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY

31 December 2024 2024 12 531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those IFRS Accounting Standards that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While a
number of sections have been brought forward from IAS 1 with limited
changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation within
the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals.
Entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to
present two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a single note and
introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the primary
financial statements and the notes. Some requirements previously
included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as |IAS 8 Basis of
Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance
of IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made to
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 33 Earnings per Share and IAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards. IFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with
earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of IFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group's
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards. To be
eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary
as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have
public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for public use
which comply with IFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is
permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect
to apply IFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of IFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the date on which
a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce
an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is
settled through an electronic payment system before the settlement
date if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets
with environmental, social and governance and other similar contingent
features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually
linked instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent
features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an
adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component of equity)
at the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or only the
amendments related to the classification of financial assets is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY

31 December 2024 2024 12 531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity clarify the application of the "own-use”
requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for
in-scope contracts. he amendments also include additional disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to understand the effects
these contracts have on an entity's financial performance and future
cash flows. The amendments relating to the own-use exception shall
be applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. The amendments
relating to the hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to new
hedging relationships designated on or after the date of initial application.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7
shall be applied at the same time. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between
the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the
IASB. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is
lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency
not being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in
a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A

2. ST BE
2.3 JEMAEERERDN

BB SR s 5T
Bll )

BRI 75 3R 5 RIS 9 9% Ko B BR A 75
WERERANE 7RISR K PE 5 AR BEIR
FLEEIMEFAEBREANARNA
RIRENER  AETBEARNER
REenEEMEEPREIFRBEMNE
FEMTE - BRI MEERBINEE - £/
BHRREAEEN TRAZSFCAHE
BUBRALKRKRSRENTE -
e AOISMERBREEER] BE W&
o BEMRBARY  TEETSE
BRERWBAT T TEY - BEHE
RIS AT B W e AR B IR E A
Z B ZRIETEH R RRER o SFF
REPER - BIRMEREEDE IR
Ko B B 755 e o5 YE R 5B 7 SR OB R T R
REER - AMZEE T8 AE
B BRRELEMNEATE -

BIFR M B 5 RS 105 R EIFR &5t
R 28 SRHIERT - BORBIFR R 5 4
HEBE105% KBRS £ERI% 28
FHEREREEREBEARNASE
TEZHNEEHERHLERHRED
—HHREE - BRI EREREIEA
BEBAEBE Z2EBIATHIS
EERWSNEE o HRNF R TEK
EBNEBENR S XpELN WS
HEBEREREENBETER
BAFBEREEEZHERRXA
LRERTFHED/R - RFETHR
RKER - B e E£REEESCM
PREIFR M B S ERF 105 RERE
FHHERIEE 28 SRIERT 2 AT AV 98l A2 A
Hi o AT - SRFIER]IRA A (HERAR -

SRR ERISE 21 SRISF] F A E e
AR —REEEE RS S —
BEE  ARERZALBENER
T BEREMAEEEE BB
[ER - ZEFTERKEEHR  EMB
BREREERN THEE TR L]
FE - NFRPER EEAREE
AN BERTSEILKER - AR
ERZFEAINEMNRATE - B
RN ERIER B HH R & N H )
R EE A ERENEBEANK
BoRMBREZRER)W R
THROHE - BHZFEITTEHAN
SENUBERRENEMNEARE -



Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 set
out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance
on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as
follows:

. IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of IFRS 7 and
paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing
IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving consistency
with other paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In addition, the amendments
clarify that the Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not
necessarily illustrate all the requirements in the referenced
paragraphs of IFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

° IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that when a
lessee has determined that a lease liability has been extinguished
in accordance with IFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply
paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss
in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments have updated certain
wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A of IFRS 9 to
remove potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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* 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. 5B E =
2.3I1SSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS 2. 30 EMEEAKRERM

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

. IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments
clarify that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of IFRS
10 is just one example of various relationships that might exist
between the investor and other parties acting as de facto agents of
the investor, which removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

. IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the term
“cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of IAS 7 following the
prior deletion of the definition of "cost method". Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.LE KSR

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES REFE R BNRE

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of BERARERNEEEESE — RO R
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it 0% IR ERENRRER  WHHE
has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate BEEATEINER EAXER
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not SHFIREENY B RLEREAT
control or joint control over those policies. | EIE IR EBERRE S -

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated RRERGHE  AEERBE QAN
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets WE - RS E B FEEREMR
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. BEE RESVBRRAKRIE T
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting A FENBEEEFRECELE
policies that may exist. JEFRR B ER—2 -
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is
included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for

Sale and Discontinued Operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the

separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other

comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is

accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or

groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for

goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and

the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its biological assets and agricultural produce at
fair value less costs to sell at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act

in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’'s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising

the use of unobservable inputs.
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* 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. 5B E =
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvess 2.4 B KREFHE 2

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) DNFEFEE)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in FIERMBHmEATFFENRELTE

the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, MEEREE  DRYEREAFER

described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to EMEBEANKEEMASEDE
the fair value measurement as a whole: ETHMAFEREX

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets F—E — WUHNEEFZBER
for identical assets or liabilities E R TS KT 5 W (E

(REEFE)

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level g - HERMNFAERAHEA
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is FTEFEMSEBEKXR
observable, either directly or indirectly HEEERASETD

AHEES MBS
13

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level F=ZE — [HERTAERHEA
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is FEFEMSEBEX
unobservable B K B AR D

TR

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements MR BHRERECERANEEREBE

on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have ME @ AEERSHERRZEER

occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation AEEFEMEBEANREEH A

(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value BEEHFEIE UETSEZH

measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. BELHREE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, contract assets,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties and non-
current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the assets’
recoverable amount is estimated. An assets’ recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit

to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-

generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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b 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

2. ST BE
2LERETTHR 2

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in

accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and

that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group

or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group; and the sponsoring employers of the post-

employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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b 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

2. ST BE
2LERETTHR 2

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is
not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working

condition and location for its intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property,

plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:
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M - BERREETE(E)

Buildings

EEEY)

Machinery and equipment
Mt N BB

Office and other equipment
WA R H AR

Motor vehicles

BRTE

78 Ty R A 6 P B B AR
HE EYE BERRESEEN
B 2 TR B RS = kL AT AR
MEBFEMT :

Useful lives Residual values
A £ F 5 5 FIerEE
20 years 5%
204F 5%

5-10 years 5%
5-104F 5%

5 years 5%

54 5%
5years 5%

5% 5%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales

proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of

property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Biological assets comprise dairy cows and beef cattle. Dairy cows include
milkable cows, heifers and calves which are raised by the Group for the
purposes of producing raw milk. Beef cattle are raised by the Group for
sale.

Biological assets are measured on initial recognition and at the end of the
reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss for the year in which it arises.
Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal
of an asset, mainly transportation costs and excluding finance costs and
income taxes. The fair value of biological assets is determined based on
its present location and condition and is determined independently by

professional valuers.

The feeding costs and other related costs including the depreciation
charge, utility costs and consumables incurred for the raising of heifers
and calves are capitalised, until such time as the heifers and calves begin

to produce milk.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

AGRICULTURAL PRODUCE

Agricultural produce represents raw milk. Upon harvest, agricultural
produce is recognised at its fair value less costs to sell, which is
determined based on market prices in the local area. The costs to sell are
the incremental costs directly attributable to the sales of the agricultural
produce, mainly transportation costs, excluding finance costs and income

tax.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are

reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on

a prospective basis.
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b 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

2. ST BE
2LERETTHR 2

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL) (Continued)
TECHNICAL KNOW-HOW

Technical know-how is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 to
20 years.

COMPUTER SOFTWARE

Computer software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 to
10 years.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as

incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding five to
seven years, commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-
of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
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Useful lives

5 F

Leasehold land

HE+

5 to 50 years
5E504F

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of
the asset.
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* 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. 5B E =
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvess 2.4 B KREFHE 2

LEASES (Continued) HE#E)
GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) REBEREBAGE)
(b)  Lease liabilities HeEaE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

LEASES (Continued)

GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

GROUP AS A LESSOR

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating

lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they
are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as

finance leases.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified and measured

at fair value through profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT (Continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (DEBT INSTRUMENTS)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (DEBT INSTRUMENTS)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised
in other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (EQUITY INVESTMENTS)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of
equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-

instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a
recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or
non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a
separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not
closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and
the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment occurs
if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position)

when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of

the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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b 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

2. ST BE
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DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the

Group could be required to repay.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are

integral to the contractual terms.

GENERAL APPROACH

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

GENERAL APPROACH (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there has been a
significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.
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* 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. 5B E =
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvess 2.4 B KREFHE 2

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

GENERAL APPROACH (Continued)

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

SIMPLIFIED APPROACH

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors

specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, an
amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative financial

instruments and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as
defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated aseffective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include any interest

charged on these financial liabilities.
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b 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

2. BFTHEK e
2LERETTHR 2

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and
only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from
the Group's own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit
or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST (TRADE AND OTHER
PAYABLES, AND BORROWINGS)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables and interest-bearing
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted
for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of
the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when

appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts

is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the

liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024 2024 12 531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on a weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting

short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is

presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and

practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences;

and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY

31 December 2024 2024 12 531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

TREASURY SHARES

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Group
(treasury shares) are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,sale, issue or cancellation

of the Group’s own equity instruments.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the grants are
recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary assets and released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant
assets by equal annual instalments.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

GOVERNMENT GRANTS (Continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no or at a
below-market rate of interest for the construction of a qualifying asset,
the initial carrying amount of the government loans is determined using
the effective interest rate method, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Financial liabilities” above. The benefit of the government
loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is
the difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and the
proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant

asset by equal annual instalments.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in

exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently

resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using
the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continuea)

SALE OF PRODUCTS

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the products.

REVENUE FROM OTHER SOURCES

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

OTHER INCOME

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the

dividend can be measured reliably.

CONTRACT ASSETS

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the contract terms, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to
impairment assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade

receivables when the right to the consideration becomes unconditional.
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b 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

/\\ Notes to Financial Statements

2. ST BE
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers

control of the related goods or services to the customer).

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
PENSION SCHEME

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operates in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal governments. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension

scheme.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for equity

instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are

also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance

and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY

31 December 2024 2024 12 531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share

dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

TERMINATION BENEFITS

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefits.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the purpose of
obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate has been applied to the

expenditure on the individual assets.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Interim dividends
are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company's
memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and

declared.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary

items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group's
net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or
loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on

those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also

recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

37 December 2024 20244 12 31 H

2. ST BE
2LERETTHR 2
s

ZEVBHREAARBRZY -
BTEEREITRERIGEEY
EERVBREANER L
BEHHE SEHETERHESEN |
RN S BHREENEEEY
ERAR - NS EENEBEE
BERRERREANNEEBES
BE  HAEIREERHEEEEANE
BRIBEERIER

i\%ﬂ%%

HE¥EAREREELNEZRE —
BRIEER R EEE/AEE
iiﬁ\\%ﬁ‘%%xé@%ﬁﬁ/**ﬁ DB B IR

BRON - 2 FZRNE M 2 MW T

CHEEHEZREFHERL - EE
/\ﬁ(ﬁ%ﬁi%ﬁ DREEBER - BRZ
FEWABELZENRIERX LK
RREMEEERETIE -

BE SR AR AINE S ER FEE R IR R
RERRZEMNEXRBZE - AT
ERINESIERFEEIRBIREER
FEEENEXRE -BRERAFE
AEMFEREAEEANKENERE
MBIET A - BMZIRA R TFEEHE
et BB RER A — (AR
Hi 2 ER Rk BRER A P EWRE

HEEWIAER - RMEZETD RN
Hip 2w s sk 8z iEsR)

ANNUAL REPORT F[E ¥R 2024

163



N

- &
QP
=

164

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY

31 December 2024 2024 12 531 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the

advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the

transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign

operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are

translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts

recognised in the financial statements:

WITHHOLDING TAX ARISING FROM THE DISTRIBUTIONS OF DIVIDENDS

The Group's determination as to whether to accrue for withholding taxes
arising from the distributions of dividends from certain subsidiaries
according to the relevant tax jurisdictions is subject to judgements on
the timing of the payment of the dividends or the amount of profits to
be retained by the relevant subsidiary. As at 31 December 2024, the

deferred tax liabilities recognised thereon amounted to nil (2023: Nil).

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described

below.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY

31 December 2024 2024 12 531 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

FAIR VALUE OF BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

The Group's biological assets are valued at fair value less costs to sell.
The fair value of biological assets is determined based on either the
market-determined prices as at each year end adjusted with reference to
the species, age, growing condition, cost incurred and expected yield of
the milk to reflect differences in characteristics and/or stages of growth
of biological assets; or the present value of expected net cash flows from
the biological assets discounted at a current market-determined rate,
when market-determined prices are unavailable. Any changes in the
estimates may affect the fair value of the biological assets significantly.
The independent qualified professional valuer and management review
the assumptions and estimates periodically to identify any significant
change in fair value of biological assets. Further details are given in note

17 to the financial statements.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at
its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out in
“Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised

less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

The fair value of a financial guarantee contract is determined based on
either the credit rating of the warrantee and the risk-free interest rate.
The determination of each warrantee and the risk-free interest rate
of each guarantee contract involves significant estimate. Any changes
in the estimates may affect the fair value of the financial guarantee
contracts significantly. The independent qualified professional valuer
and management review the assumptions and estimates periodically
to identify any significant change in fair value of financial guarantee

contracts. Further details are given in note 25 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

FAIR VALUE OF UNLISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on a market-
based valuation technique as detailed in note 22 to the financial
statements. The valuation requires the Group to determine the
comparable public companies and select the price multiple. In addition,
the Group makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group classifies the fair value of these investments as
Level3.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the
end of each reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised into business
units based on their services and only has one reportable operating
segment. Management monitors the operating results of the Group's
operating segment as a whole for the purpose of making decisions about

resource allocation and performance assessment.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

All of the Group's revenue was derived from customers located in
Chinese Mainland and all of the Group’s non-current assets were located
in Chinese Mainland, and therefore geographical segment information is

presented in accordance with IFRS 8 Operation Segments.
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EXREELBUMNTERRKRESR
B MERAEMBEREUGFEZSE
RenghifE-

RETHER
RERME - AEELIEE BB
PASEEHEL  MRE—ETZ
BEEHY - ERBEREEEES
BHBEEBBEE  MELERHE
REREEHORE -

h & & R

7N 5 [E A WA 3 B AL A T B i
NEF  MALEBREIRBEEDN
MR EAL - Eitibm o ER T
RIEBR G R EELFESFAAZE S

HE27
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/\\ Notes to Financial Statements

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME 5. SHEWA - HltA
AND GAINS K @
An analysis of revenue is as follows: SHEE I A BT -

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETTT

Revenue from contracts with customers RERFEELIMEERA 3,126,184 3,383,629
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS REEFEHNNHERA
(a) DISAGGREGATED REVENUE INFORMATION (a) SHEWAERAMHA
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Segment D EB XA AL Sale of raw milk
SHE R R SHE R
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREF T
Type of goods EmER
Sale of products EmiHE 3,126,184 3,383,629
Geographical market HETH
Mainland China R Y AT D, 3,126,184 3,383,629
Timing of revenue recognition LN
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—HEEENE R 3,126,184 3,383,629
Revenue recognised in the current reporting period that was SIAREHUNEHEERRKR
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting MEHNBERHEERARERAR
period amounted to RMB125,000 (2023: RMB232,000). 1125000 C(20234F : AR #&
232,0007T) °
(b) PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION (b) FEHNEME
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods BAEE TR RS & R EK
and invoice and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days from BERMNFBTAEEARE
invoice. 30E90 HAZRIHES -
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME 5. SHEWA - HUg A
AND GAINS (continued) &Wfﬁ(@)

EE—EEXEEFMNER
i 5 W A A R #2917,742,0007T

(20234 : A R #53,226,136,0007C )
FERE—FFPHEERRMY - BIER

INFORMATION ABOUT A MAJOR CUSTOMER

Revenue of RMB2,917,742,000 (2023: RMB3,226,136,000) was derived
from sales of raw milk to a single customer, including sales to a group of

entities which are known to be under common control of that customer.

EAEREP ARESN—HEHERH

ERE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
Other income and gains N N
Other income Ealg A
Beef cattle P 100,709 66,134
Others HAth 147,434 70,449
Total other income H AW A 4258 248,143 136,583
Other costs H AR
Beef cattle e (100,709) (66,134)
Others HAh (137,385) (70,721)
Total other costs HAthp AN 4258 (238,094) (136,855)
Government grants* AR Ak 44,816 45,198
Bank interest income RITF BUWA 25,464 18,733
Other interest income from financial assets BAVEGFABZNEREE
at fair value through profit or loss Z HAF) BULA 7,023 10,822
Foreign exchange differences, net SNPE = B FEE (326) 354
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BEE&E
plant and equipment TH B W18 (3,767) (5,141)
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets HEHEMEREENESE (110) -
Impairment of inventories FERE (20,799) (3,511)
Others HAh, 8,610 6,136
Total other income and gains H WA R 4a58 70,960 72,319

The government grants have been received for the Group's in line with local

government grants policies. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

attaching to these grants.

REE D WEIRT A S IR B BOR

RYERIFH B o %S H B I B A (AR

ERHR B EE
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6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY

37 December 2024 20244 12 431 H

6. BRBLAI(EE), EF

AEENRTAT(EER), 8RNk

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

S EEAUTREEEE -

Cost of inventories sold

Loss arising from changes in fair value
less costs to sell of biological assets

Fair value changes of financial
guarantee contracts

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Less: Capitalised in biological assets

Depreciation recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Less: Capitalised in biological assets

Depreciation recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss

Amortisation of other intangible assets
Less: Capitalised in biological assets

Amortisation recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss

Research and development costs
Lease payments not included
in the measurement of lease liabilities
Auditor’'s remuneration
Foreign exchange differences, net

Provision/(reversal) of impairment on financial

and contract assets, net

EEFERAN
EMEEATERZBRIHEER
EEMER

MBERAEON QT EZS
ME - BERRETE

B EMEEEARML
RiFR B RERITE

EREEENE
B EMEEERL

b_/\ﬂ' E?ﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬂﬂﬁ&

Hofth 8 & B R
B EMEEEARML

RER BB m R TR A B 3K

IELIBRN
Rt AHEREFENHEENR

A B D 32 A

SN 2= FL % RE

TRNMANEERE
Bl (BE)FE

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARET T
2,200,294 2,358,609
807,302 706,302
81 124
185,278 171,924
(63,475) (65,554)
121,803 106,370
19,832 20,847
(2,024) (1,375)
17,808 19,472
1,756 1,513
(229) (203)
1,527 1,310
2,663 7,093
31,930 14147
2,580 2,580

326 (354)

149 (1,651)
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6. (LOSS)IPROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

6. BRBIAT(EE), BR e

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 FF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFIT
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  WEKKREBER
plant and equipment R &8 3,767 5,141
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets HEEMEREENBE 110 -
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ EERFHESZ(BIEEEN
and chief executive's remuneration (note 8)): & TEA BHFB(F5E8)) ¢
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances TE& - Fe - B4 KoEeh 246,015 307,407
Other social insurances and benefits HEmtgRBREF 34,011 24,724
Share award expenses % 15 22 Ep B 2 34,201 32,475
Pension scheme contributions IR FT B 12,564 12,775
Total wEt 326,791 377,381
FINANCE COSTS 7. BB
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFIT
Interest on bank loans and other loans RITERMEMERFE 52,028 52,295
Interest on short-term notes RHRE ST B — 648
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE — 161
Total interest expense on financial liabilities RN FEFAEREN
not at fair value through profit or loss cRIBECFERZBE 52,028 53,104
Less: Interest capitalised B BAREF R (4,572) —
Total HEt 47,456 53,104
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY

37 December 2024 20244 12 431 H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

8. EERBREITHAE

7 BN
KEEEE BB TRABFHIE
5 T ARE BB A F 625 38301
(3) ~ (b) * (o) B(F) f A 2 22 71 (B B8
BRI AR ROIE BT BE - LB
BT

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AREET T AREFTT

Fees we

Other emoluments: H A E
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R EEMN =
Pension scheme contributions RIS FTEIER
Subtotal R

Total et

600 600
4,826 4,921
46 43
4,872 4,964
5,472 5564
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(a)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the

year were as follows:

EENRESITHRAE

M )

(@) BIUFHITES

FARAZNFEIIENTEETNHE
e/

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000

AREET T AREF T

Mr. SUN Yansheng BRIEA A 200 200

Mr. WU Liang RenfAE 200 200

Mr. WANG Liyan FUESREA 200 200

Total 5T 600 600
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non- FN - BEENTELIERITE

executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).

SHEMHM (20235 - &) o
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERBREITHAE
REMUNERATION (continved) M=)
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND (b) BITES - FHTESKE
THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE SITHAE

Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total

Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration

Fe =B E3 ) RIKE
e RENEN HETEAL AT B R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTRE ARETRT AR®TR ARETR

2024 2024 F
Executive director: HITES
Mr. ZHANG Jiawang RERAELAE — 2,266 2,560 46 4,872

Non-executive directors:  FFEITESE :

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun HERELE - — — — -
Mr. ZHANG Ping RELE — = = = -
Mr. CHEN Yiyi R5—kE — — — — —
Mr. SUN Qian oS St - - — - -
Ms. SHAO Lijun BEELL — — — - —
Total 4Bt — 2,266 2,560 46 4,872
2023 20234

Executive director: HiTES

Mr. ZHANG Jiawang RRAELE — 2,261 2,660 43 4,964

Non-executive directors:  FFHITESE :

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun HERELE — — - — -
Mr. ZHANG Ping RFEE - - - - -
Mr. LU Minfang ERMEE — — — — -
Mr. SUN Qian o i - — — - —
Ms. SHAO Lijun MBELZL — — — — —
Total @t - 2261 2,660 43 4,964
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.

REM U NERATI 0 N (continued)

(b) EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND

THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE (Continued)

Certain directors were granted share awards in respect of their

services to the Group under the share award scheme of the

Company, further details of which are set out in note 30.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year included one director

(2023: one), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.

Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2023: four)

highest paid employees, who are neither a director nor chief executive of

the Company are as follows:

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

EENBSITHRAR

M )

(b) ¥ITEE  FHTESKRE
EAMAB )
BIBAA AR SRS B - 2
T A A IR AT 1
B S8R+ e — B RN
30 °

hEEeTHNES
AEE AEERTHEERE—F
BEFQ03F: —%) HFBFE
R EXHEs e AEE  HTEA
(20234 : MB)WIHEARARESRIE
ERTBRAENEREEFMFBEN
T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions
Share-based payment expenses

Total

e o RMREWER
R &I
VAR 17 A B e O 15 3R 2

#Et

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFIT
12,593 13,148

186 167

8,437 7,003
21,216 20,318
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employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY

37 December 2024 20244 12 431 H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continved)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid

9. AZBEEFMES »

FEN T T oA R e R FENE R (3F
BB TBRABR)WABMT :

Number of employees

BEAZ

2023
20234

HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000
HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000
HKD5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000
HKD5,500,001 to HKD4,000,000

2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000 47T
2,500,001 7% 3,000,000 87T
3,000,001 7L% 3,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001 7T 4,000,000 47T
4,000,001 7T 4,500,000 87T
4,500,001 7C% 5,000,000/ 7T
5,000,001 #7L%E 5,500,000/8 7T
5,500,001 I 2 6,000,000 7T

HKD6,000,001 to HKD6,500,000 6,000,001 7T 6,500,000/87C 3 3
Total 4t 4 4
A=
10.INCOME TAX 10. T8 %%

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 FF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Current - PRC
Charge for the year

Total tax charge for the year

BN — &
FAMX

FRBIAF AR

1,231 3,074

1,231 3,074
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1 0 INCOME TAX (continued) 1 0

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory tax rate for the country in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows:

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

B

BB AT E FERMREM S (ER)
BARRRERZHHBRARMER
REVAER X BIZERB R HOR
ERAEREBIENT

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Loss/(profit) before tax BRELATEE, CaFl) (63,284) 97,686
Tax at the statutory tax rate (note (i) AT R ERNR B () (15,821) 24,422
Lower tax rate for specific provinces or FEEE D ot 5 i A

enacted by local authority (note (i) (note (iii))  HYBMEET 3 (B 7 (ii)) (BT 7 (iii) 15,786 (28,750)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the REBE P BB A A

interest paid by a PRC subsidiary of the Group 2 AT FI B3R 10%

FHREHIBOT S 741 3,074

Tax losses not recognised RIERTIAEE 716 4,328
Tax losses utilised from-previous periods BERARESAMIEGE (191) —
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate BAREEERILE 2%

at 2% (2023: 3%) (2023 %F : 3% )t EMBIAM X 1,231 3,074
Notes: MsE
(i) The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands are not (i) ARRREERERS MK B

subject to any income tax pursuant to the local rules and regulations. Hong Kong
profits tax has not been provided as there were no assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. Entities in the PRC were generally subject to the PRC
enterprise income tax rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
25%).

(ii) According to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the "EIT Law"), the
Group's income arising from agricultural activities, such as dairy farming and
the processing of raw agricultural products, is exempt from income tax.

(iii) In accordance with “The notice of tax policies relating to the implementation of
the Western China Development Strategy” (B IXE0 ~ /ERE4AE IR HER
CRARE B PR RS KRB EFTSHBERBIA %) ), the Group's taxable income
arising from the processing of grass is subject to a preferential tax rate of 15%
from 2021 to 2030.

A EIRIR & i 89 1R Al K R 51 8 78 B AR
EAFER - AEBELEREBFEH
FHREBME WLV BERFRLEERBE
ERERBUEF o REIE 2024512831
HIEFE  EHRBENEE—MAR25%
(2023%F : 25%) MOFHERBMA B3
FTiSHt -

(i) RE (hFEARKMBEREMSTE)
( TREMBIE] ) - AEEXBR
¥EE (MPFBRERYRRERDNIN
T) WRARRERPTER -

(i)  REFERI - GRHLEE BRXBBEER
(BAREEF S AFA S EMBRECR
ALY  AEEKRAERINIAER
U A B 2021 E2030F7BIR1 5% HIE
B RHH -
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11.DIVIDENDS 11.RE

178

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of
HKDO0.23 cents (equivalent to RMB0.21 cents) per share was proposed
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board on 26 March 2024 and
was approved at the annual general meeting of the Company on 14 June
2024. The aggregate amount of the final dividend declared and paid in
the current year amounted to RMB17,588,000 (2023: RMB87,184,000) and
was appropriated from the Company's distributable share premium.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

12.(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The basic (loss)/earnings per share amount is calculated by dividing
the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
8,207,944,000 (2023: 8,244,327,000) outstanding during the year.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A

RIEZESN 2024F 3 A 26 HEBH
RER - EERHEZE2023F12 A 31
HItFEIRESR0.23BIGEE R A
R¥0.219)KRERE - WERAR
RIFE2024F 6 A 14 HETHRRBEF
R LEMNE - ANFESREKEND
REARR S 2% /AR 17,588,0007T
(20234 : AR¥87,184,0007T) © B
KRR A D IREI D R E R o

BEETEEZREE2024F12 831 H
IFFEEIRB RS -

12. 8 AR EERERR

EANEBLEER(EE)
/B

BREAR(EIE), BRTARER A RIE
WA ABEFN(ER), &
FIBRARFE AR B TS BAR 60 i F
A% E8,207,944,000 B% (2023 4F :
8,244,327,000 J)EHHE -
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37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

=33 3¢
12.(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. 8RS BRERRET
— =
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY BEAERLER(EE)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (continvea) S BR )
The calculation of the diluted (loss)/earnings per share amounts is BEREE(ER), BRSBEHRES
based on the (loss)/earnings for the year attributable to ordinary equity NEIERREREA AR AREE (E
holders of the parent of RMB(65,495,000) (2023: RMB86,076,000). The 18),/ BF AR (65,495,000)7T(2023
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is F . AR¥86,076,00070)5TE - 3T E
the number of ordinary shares of 8,207,944,000 (2023: 8,244,327,000) REANEBERINETIHEAFARE
outstanding during the year. No adjustment has been made to the basic T MAYENE 8,207,944,000 J% (2023
(loss)/earnings per share amounts presented for the year ended 31 1 8,244,327,000%) - HE 2024 F
December 2024 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the share awards 12A3BIEFEZINERERE
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic (loss)/earnings per B,/ BNeETERE SN AR
share amounts presented (2023: 82,250,000). FREZ M ARITEARGD ZENE 255

BREASR) /BcEEREE
2 (20234F : 82,250,000%) °

Number of shares

R EE

2023
20234

Shares A5
Weighted average number of ordinary Rt EFRER(EER) BT

shares outstanding during the year used in FrAMFEARE &7

the basic (loss)/earnings per share calculation 3@ A% IN#E 1524 8,207,944,000  8,244,327,000
Effect of dilution — weighted average BEE e — @R m

number of ordinary shares: I8

Share awards Pt 221D — 82,250,000
Total wEt 8,207,944,000  8,326,577,000
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13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13.9% - MERRE

{%_84§
I

Machinery Office
and and other Motor Construction

Buildings  equipment  equipment vehicles in progress Total

WAR
REN BERRE  HGRE  ERIE  ARIE &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTI ARBTI ARBTI ARBTI ARMTR

31 December 2024 20264% 128310
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 818
Cost RiE 2,340,454 526,298 181,904 15,672 159,012 3,223,340
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (880,728)  (293,828) (97,068) (6,578) — (1,278,202
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,459,726 232,470 84,836 9,094 159,012 1,945,138
At 1 January 2024, net of R2024F1 818

accumulated depreciation MG REME 1,459,726 232,470 84,836 9,094 159,012 1,945,138
Additions NE 3,100 42,852 20,947 - 84,584 151,483
Reclassification bR - (2,195) 2,195 - - -
Transfers Wik 213,881 1,058 547 —  (215,486) -
Disposals e (9,187) (1,382) (962) (29) - (11,560)
Depreciation provided FRFERE

during the year (116,466) (39,617) (23,656) (5,539) —  (185278)
Transfers to other intangible ERTHNEVEE

assets (note 15) (BzE15) - - - - (13,858) (13,858)

At 31 December 2024, net of 20245128318
accumulated depreciation MR EFHMERRE

and impairment 1,551,054 233,186 83,907 3,526 14,252 1,885,925
At 31 December 2024 202412 4318
Cost [R{B 2,547,711 557,635 200,521 15,365 14,252 3,335,484
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTERAE

and impairment (996,657)  (324,449)  (116,614) (11,839) —  (1,449,559)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,551,054 233,186 83,907 3,526 14,252 1,885,925
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13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13.9% - MERRE

(continued) (#&)
Machinery Office
and and other Motor Construction
Buildings  equipment  eguipment vehicles in progress Total
/NS
BEY MHkEE  Enff#E  ESIAE  EERIR et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT AR®ETRH
31 December 2023 20235128318
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 818
Cost [RE 2,195,954 470,567 156,605 7,554 21291 2,851,971
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (771,405)  (284,612) (88,799) (3,173) —  (1,147,989)
Net carrying amount EBFE 1,624,549 185,955 67,806 4,381 21291 1,703,982
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023F1 818
accumulated depreciation MR 2HITE 1,424,549 185,955 67,806 4,381 21291 1,703,982
Additions NE 7,701 91,593 28,633 9,334 289,064 426,325
Reclassification Eibr 84 - (84) - - -
Transfers Lt 139,418 1819 7,715 - (148,952) -
Disposals HE (1,509) (8,028) (1,203) (114) — (10,854)
Depreciation provided FRFEEE
during the year (110517) (38,869) (18,031) (4,507) - (171,924)
Transfers to other HRTHENENEE
intangible assets (note 15) (PzE15) - — — - (2,391) (2,391)
At 31 December 2023, net of R2023F 128318
accumulated depreciation MR EFHMERRE
and impairment 1,459,726 232,470 84,836 9,094 159,012 1,945,138
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 128318
Cost RE 2,340,454 526,298 181,904 15,672 159,012 3,223,340
Accumulated depreciation ZEMTELAE
and impairment (880,728) (293,828) (97,068) (6,578) - (1,278,202)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,459,726 232,470 84,836 9,094 159,012 1945138
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13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13.9% - MERZE=

(continued)

/\\ Notes to Financial Statements

{%_843
I

During the year, there was reversal of an impairment amount of KFEE BREEME BE KK
RMB154,000 due to disposal of property, plant and equipment (2023: B HEeHETWE BELEE
RMB478,000) recognised for certain property, plant and equipment. There WRBERRL S AR 154,0007T
was no recoverable amount which has been determined at the level of (20234 : AR®478,0007T) © #E&A]
the cash-generating unit based on a value-in-use calculation using cash WEl&gE  ERSEIRREELS
flow projections. The cash-generating unit mainly consists of property, UERE EREFERBSRENNER
plant and equipment allocated to the one reportable operating segment. BEAEMETE HReELBNETE

BEIET —EN2HLENFNY
% BELEE-

=
14.LEASES 14.78
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE REEEREBEA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant used in its AEEFSANEEBEENZ ERE
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the HEMHAESY - DIRAEL —XMH
leased land from the owners with lease periods of 3 to 50 years. Leases NFUARMETWERBRAIES0FN
of plant and machinery, motor vehicles and other equipment generally HELH - ERHes BT AN
have lease terms of 12 months or less and/or are individually of low FEMEZENHEBRBEEA126A A
value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing T R/SEERREHEERE - —
the leased assets outside the Group. BmE  AEBETESEAEBELAINA

TERROMAHEEE -

(a) RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (a) EAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the FRAGESRELEENEEE
movements during the year are as follows: KEFHMT

Leasehold land

FHE L

RMB’000

AREET T

As at 1 January 2023 R 202341818 554,068

Additions NE 52,445

Depreciation charge TeEMx (20,847)

Lease modification HEEHE 10,063
As at 31 December 2023 and R2023F 12831 HM&2024F1A1H

1 January 2024 595,729

Additions NE 3,994

Depreciation charge meEMx (19,832)

Lease modification HEE 15,005

As at 31 December 2024 MR20246F12H31H 594,896
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14.LEASES (continued) 14.HE »)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEBEAEEBAE)

(b)

(c)

(d)

LEASE LIABILITIES

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during
the year are as follows:

(b) HEEE

FRHEEBENREERESHN
-

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREF T

Carrying amount at 1 January R1 A1 BREREE 51,933 13,383

New leases g 1,176 48,054
Accretion of interest recognised FNERNH BIEE

during the year 4,800 161

Lease modification HEEE 16,498 8,461

Payments (BN (15,784) (18,126)

Carrying amount at 31 December 7?12 A 31 HREREE 58,623 51,933

Analysed into: DT
Current portion BIHAER > 17,036 13,380
Non-current portion FEBNHARE 2 41,587 38,553

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as

() RESTHRIALBEEANESE

follows: wmr
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Interest on lease liabilities HERGENE 4,800 161
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ {# FAEE EFERI L 17,808 19,472
Expense relating to short-term leases HGEHEEEENAY 31,350 13,877

Expense relating to leases of HEEEEERE

low-value assets MRS 580 270
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIEEERNB SR 54,538 33,780

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32 to the
financial statements.

(d) MERSTLAERMBFHREM

T 324KEE -
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15.0THER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. Mt EE

Technical Computer

/\\ Notes to Financial Statements

know-how software Total

B R0 EEAF ECK
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBET T ARBT T AR®ET T

31 December 2024 202412 A 31 H
Cost at 1 January 2024, M 2024F 1 A1 BRIBA -

net of accumulated amortisation bR 25T #E — 10,893 10,893
Additions NE 400 — 400
Transfer from construction BEETRER(ME13)

in progress (note 13) 13,858 13,858
Amortisation provided FREERE

during the year (2) (1,754) (1,756)
Disposals HE = (110) (110)
At 31 December 2024 2024612 431 H 398 22,887 23,285
At 31 December 2024 M2024F 12 431 H
Cost RE 15,404 28,215 43,619
Accumulated amortisation REHEESE NORE

and impairment (15,006) (5,328) (20,334)
Net carrying amount REDFE 398 22,887 23,285
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15. 5EEBEREE»

Technical Computer
know-how software Total
il ANz E T wEEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARTIT AREFIT ARKETIT
31 December 2023 2023 12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of 7R2023F 1 A1 BMA
accumulated amortisation Bk 25T - 9,145 9,145
Additions NE - 870 870
Transfer from construction BEZIIREE (st 13)
in progress (note 13) — 2,391 2,391
Amortisation provided FREHERE
during the year - (1,513) (1,513)
At 31 December 2023 M 2023F12 8318 - 10,893 10,893
At 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H
Cost RE 15,004 14,778 29,782
Accumulated amortisation LT MORE
and impairment (15,004) (3,885) (18,889)
Net carrying amount BREVHE — 10,893 10,893
a2 — rL ~.
16.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 16. REEE QB RE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Share of net assets JE(hEEFRE 34,644 23,353

The Group's trade receivable and payable balances with the associates

are disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements.

REF B ENFNE H RN B
RERI B TS ERR MY AL 35 R IR ER -
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16.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continved) 16. REEE N RINIRE »)

186

Particulars of the associates as at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

2024128318 BE QAW

B

Place of

incorporation/

Percentage of
equity interests

Registered registration and attributable Principal
Name capital operations to the Group activities
DRI, REEEG
=L AAMEAR MR RS R READLE FEXEKIH
Food Union Shengmu Dairy Co., Ltd. Usb PRC/ 1.85% Dairy processing
("Food Union Shengmu”) 111,000,000 Mainland China
ERBEERIMBERLDA 111,000,000 FRE,~ 1.85% FLEMMNT
(MERBaEM]) En HER
Inner-Mongolia Mengniu Shengmu RMB  PRC/ 49.00%  Dairy products sales
High-tech Dairy Co., Ltd. 300,000,000 Mainland China
NEEREERSR ARY  HBE 49.00% FLEMIHE
AmBRATA 300,000,0007C R EIAH,
Inner-Mongolia Yiyingmei Dairy RMB  PRC/ 8.64%  Dairy processing
Co., Ltd. ("Yiyingmei") 250,000,000 Mainland China
NEERBEAEARAA ARY  HE 8.64% FLEEMT
2= =) 250,000,0007C FREIAHY
Mudanjiang Liang yuan Technology RMB  PRC/ 7.00% Feed processing
Co., Ltd. ("Liang yuan") 100,000,000 Mainland China
HATRIRE AR AR AR®E HB/ 7.00% #AEIINT
(TR 100,000,000 7T AR EI A
Inner-Mongolia Shengmu RMB  PRC/ 16.67% Dairy products sales
Low-Temperature 60,000,000 Mainland China
Dairy Products Co., Ltd.
ANEHERERIMERAF AR FE/ 16.67% FLEREE
60,000,0007C BRI
Bayannur Muyiyuan Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. RMB  PRC/ 49.00%  Organic manure
20,000,000 Mainland China processing
EEERmHMaREYRHR AR HE 49.00% HBHEILRE
BRATA 20,000,000 HEA

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A
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16.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continved)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the
Group's associates that are not individually material:

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

16. A& N F] E’Hﬁﬁ(@)

TERABAREGFEFERNEY 2
AIRARB T E R

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
RMB'000 RMB'000

AREET T AREF T

Share of the associates’ profit and JE(REEE AR FEEER
loss for the year

Share of the associates’ total FEGEE R RN SRR

comprehensive income

Aggregate carrying amount of AEBERBEAFIRE
the Group's investments in the associates RFRARE S

2,317 (10,174)
2,317 (10,174)
34,644 23,353

The Group's shareholdings in the associates comprise all the equity
shares held by the subsidiaries of the Company.

All the above associates have been accounted for using the equity method
in these financial statements. The Group has discontinued the recognition
of its share of losses of two associates because the share of losses of the
associate exceeded the Group's interests in the associate. The amount
of the Group’s total unrecognised share of losses of cumulatively was
RMB32,022,000 (2023: RMB3,970,000).

AREERBERAHFREEARA
/B8 X B PRF B O PR AR

MNZEFBImMEKRF - A Ll a5
REREAESZEAR - AEBEEE
IFERERWERE AR EGE
B ARZEERARNELEERER
AEERZERE RN ER - K&
ERAREROEGEEBEAA
K #32,022,0007T(2023F : AR #
3,970,0007¢) °
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17.BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

The biological assets of the Group comprise primarily dairy cows
held to produce raw milk and beef cattle raised for sale.

The quantity of biological assets owned by the Group as at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 is shown below.

Milkable cows paSEes
B - EF ALY

Heifers, calves and beef cattle

Total ET

17. 5 Y& E

EBME
AEENENEETIERERE
EERBDNDT RFASFEHE
RZAAL

ANEEFR202F12A8318 &
202312 A3 1 HIEARNAYWE
ESEE R -

2023
20234
Head
G}

62,842 64,193
93,639 83,836

156,481 148,029

The Group's biological assets include heifers and calves, milkable
cows and beef cattle. Heifers and calves are dairy cows that have
not had their first calves. In general, heifers are inseminated with
semen when they reach the age of approximately 14 months. After
approximately 9 months following a successful insemination, a
calf is born and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and the
lactation period begins. The heifers, at this time, will be transferred
to the group of milkable cows. A milkable cow is typically milked
for approximately 305 days before a dry period of approximately
60 days. The male calves will be sold when born while the female
calves will be bred for six months and then transferred to heifers.
Beef cattle will be bred for three to six months and then sold for
profits. The sale of biological assets is not the Group's principal
activity and the proceeds net of cost of sales are recorded as other
gains or losses.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its biological
assets. In addition to the financial risks disclosed in note 38, the

Group is exposed to the following operational risks:

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A

AEENENEERBRAERT R
B/ REERAY - BRTR
BEAREBBEFTONT - —RK
ME - BRFENI4ERKE
A5 NEBHOEAR B
T MR E REHY
WHIRTILE - L B KA
ABRE R - KEFELOOXR
HF W EART — AREYAI305 K »
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17.BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

(a) NATURE OF ACTIVITIES (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

REGULATORY AND ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which it operates breeding. The Group has
established environmental policies and procedures which
aim at complying with local environmental and other
laws. Management performs regular reviews to identify
environmental risks to ensure that the systems in place are

adequate to manage these risks.

CLIMATE, DISEASE AND OTHER NATURAL RISKS

The Group's biological assets are exposed to the risk of
damage from climatic changes, diseases and other natural
forces. The Group has extensive processes in place which
aim at monitoring and mitigating those risks, including

regular inspections, disease control, surveys and insurance.

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from changes in the

price of the dairy products. The directors of the Company are of the

opinion that there are no available derivatives or other contracts

which the Group can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in

the price of the dairy products.

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

17.5MEE =)

(a) EBHEE)

@i

(ii)

EERRERAR
AREEMABETHETER
P FE 3 B RO SR R BB ©
AEBECHEEHEETE
WIRE R EMARNIRE
BREERF - BEEETT
EHEE BRI E
% - I WER P E B B R
RAEEZERR -

RIR - KBEREMBERE

A
ag
2N

REBOEYEER LR
BREREL  RKEEEM
BANENBIERER - KN
SECHIEAREREBEE
YR EZERR  BHE
HmE - KBTS #E
AR AR

AEBEAZIHRERES S
KH R FERR - ARREER
R AEBYWERRNTETA
S EAM A AR L& M RN EE
A ERERTRORER o
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17.BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 17. 5 EE =
(b) VALUE OF BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (b) E=YEEEE
The values of the Group's biological assets at the year end were as RERAEBENEMEEEBED
follows: ™

Heifers,
Milkable calves and
cows beef cattle Total

BRAF - EF
SRS mEt
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBT T ARMET T

31 December 2024 2024%F 128 31H
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 A1 H 1,930,158 1,284,071 3,214,229
Additions NE = 118,767 118,767
Increase due to raising BA] &) 12 32 1
(feeding costs and others) (BERA R EAD) — 1,387,998 1,387,998
Transfer EE 894,269 (894,269) =
Decrease due to sales &R A (304,374) (142,797) (447,171)
Loss arising from changes in NEEEDHREEER
fair value less costs to sell EANEE (577,395) (229,907) (807,302)
At 31 December 2024 M2024%F12A31H 1,942,658 1,523,863 3,466,521
Current mE — 86,383 86,383
Non-current FEMED 1,942,658 1,437,480 3,380,138

1,942,658 1,523,863 3,466,521
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17.BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

17.5MEE =)

(b) VALUE OF BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) (b) *MEEEBEE)
Heifers,
Milkable calves and
cows beef cattle Total
B - BY
A R4 mit
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFIT AREEF T AREF T
31 December 2023 2023%F 12831 H
At 1 January 2023 20231 H1H 1,993,986 1,124,465 3,118,451
Additions NE — 2,404 2,404
Increase due to raising B £ W2 3 1
(feeding costs and others) (BB A R E M) — 1,227,900 1,227,900
Transfer R 733,554 (733,554) —
Decrease due to sales &R (324,562) (103,662) (428,224)
Loss arising from changes in NHEZEFIEESER
fair value less costs to sell EEREE (472,820) (233,482) (706,302)
At 31 December 2023 7R 2023F 12 A31H 1,930,158 1,284,071 3,214,229
Current D — 91,579 91,579
Non-current JERED 1,930,158 1,192,492 3,122,650
1,930,158 1,284,071 3,214,229

The Group's biological assets in the PRC were independently valued REBETEFREMEMEETIHIIT
by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited EBMTEETHRERER AR
([ThEBAT BB - miTE
BSE1T T /5 BN 5% [ T A A B 1) 0B
VEBREEEM HERE
MERITEEEDEE EA

("JLL"), a firm of independent professional qualified valuers not
connected with the Group, which has appropriate qualifications and
recent experience in the valuation of biological assets.
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17.BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair values of biological assets:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which all inputs which
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which any inputs which
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs)

Level 1

F—

RMB'000

ARET R

As at 31 December 2024 20246 F12 431 H -
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H -

17.5MEE =)

(c)

AFEER
REEEATISRETR R
Y AENATE

F-R-ENBEREEREER
BTG TR AR ER

F_R-ERNTEERIMEER
A 2EEHEENAF
BEREEAFZE)NBETE

FZR—ERNTABRITSH
BONERZ2EE(TARRZ2E
B)(HEHEHRATFERERY
B)mbEST A

Level 2 Level 3 Total
R 2=4 it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETR

= 3,466,521 3,466,521
— 3,214,229 3214,229
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17.BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

(d)

DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED AND KEY
INPUTS TO VALUATION ON BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the

determination of fair values within Level 3 of the hierarchy, as well

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

17. 5 MEE =)
(d) SPMEEMERE R AEEDS

LEER2EEFHE
TRINFREE R =R FER
FIT AR B 1B 75 5 DA R A (B B T PR
MR T ERBAE -

as the key unobservable inputs used in the valuation.

Type

bl

Valuation approach

fHE A

Key unobservable inputs

BETIRRSZE

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs
and fair value
measurements
BRTABE
SZEENTETE
ZBNHERE

Calves and heifers

BERERKT

The fair value of the heifers purchased
within 6 months prior to each reporting
date is determined with adjustment

by adding the feeding costs from the
purchase date to the reporting date.
REREAHAEAANEENEK
ERATEDNERRERREER
&Rz B FRKART FARZE -

For the calves and the rest of the
heifers, the fair value of 14-month-old
heifers is determined by referring to
the market price of the actively traded
market.
BESRAKRERIME - 14087
AEBRGNRATELERSERD
BRTHERETE °

Average market price of the heifers of
14 months of age:

RMB19,000 to RMB19,500 for the

year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB19,000 to RMB19,500).

16 {8 ARNE KA TIIHE :
HZE024F12ANALEFEAAR
19,000 TE AR 19,500 7T(2023
F: AR¥19,000 TE AR 19,500
) e

The estimated fair value
increases when the market

price increases.

DRI - 5 ATE
1 -
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17.BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED AND KEY

17.5MEE =)

INPUTS TO VALUATION ON BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

(d)

ST YA P RS E R

LEgsEEFEE)

Type

Valuation approach

(ERERS

Key unobservable inputs

BRTIEEZ2ZE

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs
and fair value
measurements
BERTTER
SEERNTENE
ZBNHERE

The fair values of the heifers over

14 months of age are determined by
adding the breeding costs required to
raise the heifers from 14 months old
to the respective specific ages plus
the estimated margins that would be
required by a raiser.
BE1GEARNERFNRTER
MERERFRIGEARREES
BREFRAFOARKA - L
A RBEMEROMNEERE -
The fair values of the heifers under

14 months of age and the fair

values of the calves are determined
by subtracting the breeding costs
required to raise the heifers or calves
from the respective specific ages to
14 months old and the margins that
would be required by a raiser.

MR EAROBR AR RTFER
BEOATEDRD BEERTHE
AREERTFRREZUWEAK
PR B B R B & PR SR A
HETE °
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(d)

DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED AND KEY (d)
INPUTS TO VALUATION ON BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

17.5MEE =)

FHEEMEEFMAGER
LERSEEFEE)

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs

and fair value

Type Valuation approach Key unobservable inputs measurements
BRTABE
SEZEENTENE
il HERE BRATHEEZZE ZEMEE R
Milkable cows The fair values of milkable cows are For the quantity of the The estimated fair value
KB determined by using the multi-period milkable cows, assuming decreases when the

excess earnings method, which is
based on the discounted future cash
flows to be generated by such milkable

COws.

REFORTEDER S BBERN
EET  ZNERBRERETE
EENBRATASRET

the number of the existing milkable
cows as at the year-end will decrease in
the projection period at certain culling
rates due to natural or unnatural factors,
which include illness, difficult birth, low
milk production or completion of all
lactation periods, the estimated overall
culling rate ranges from over 18% up

to 100% along with the increase of the
number of the lactation periods.
BREFNEEMS - REREKE
FHBRBASEEE TEAXHR
BRAFEBRRR(BERR  BE
BEENEF2BHABER)MRER
WD - B REEAXEEERILS
BRI A 18% Z 100% ©

estimated culling rate

increases.

DA LA - fiat
AFERD -
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1 7 BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)
DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED AND KEY (d) FEEYMEEMARERE

INPUTS TO VALUATION ON BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

17.5MEE =)

LEgsEEFEE)

Type

Valuation approach

(ERERS

Key unobservable inputs

BEAIERZZE

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs
and fair value
measurements
BERTTER
SEERNTENE
ZENHEERE

The calving interval (including

the dry period and open days) is
estimated based on historical data
and is assumed to be 400 days (each
milkable cow will give birth to a calf
every 400 days). This 400-day period
is one lactation cycle in this valuation

exercise.

REBEERMA  REE(BEEL
AR RS BRR B 400 R(FEK
BERERL00KE T —EET)
It 400 R UL 1B A —ELT
B -

A milkable cow could have as many
as six to seven lactation periods. The
estimated average raw milk production
volume per head for the lactation period
ranged from 10.8 tonnes to 12.8 tonnes
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023:10.5 tonnes to 12.8 tonnes)
depending on the number of the
lactation periods and the individual
physical condition.
BEKBFRLEE AL -
HZE2024512 A3 BIEFE MM
ﬂ%%%WtEFWFﬂ%FEM
TF10.8M % 12.8M8(2023 % -
M%vﬁ?%ﬂ%%m%&ﬁ%
REARRME °

The estimated feed costs per kilogram
of raw milk for the year ended 31
December 2024 ranged from RMB1.86
to RMB2.69 (2023: RMB2.20 to RMB2.95).

HZE2024F12A3BLEFEEST
RREDEOEHAERAR  ARE
186 TEARK 2.6970(2023%F : AR
B20TEARK2957T)

The estimated fair value
increases when the
estimated raw milk
production volume

increases.

TR BRI
AT -

The estimated fair value
decreases when the
estimated feed costs per
kilogram of raw milk
increase.
FTRERDO G PR
BAR ERRE - RSt ATE
B o
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17.BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 17.5MEE =)
(d) DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED AND KEY (d) FEEYMEEMARERE
INPUTS TO VALUATION ON BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) FEBRSEEFEE)

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs

and fair value

Type Valuation approach Key unobservable inputs measurements
BERTTER
SEERNTENE

bl LR BRTAIBRSZE ZENEERE

The estimated future local market prices ~ The estimated fair value
for raw milk per tonne for the year increases when the

ended 31 December 2024 ranged from estimated future local
RMB3,450 to RMB4,797 per tonne (2023:  market price for raw milk
RMB3,760 to RMB4,950 per tonne). increases.

BZE2024F 12 A3 BILFEMRE fhEt RRA SRR E
AAMARGERRNTE - BEA LR AR ATEEM-
R 3450 TE AR 4,79770(2023
FBEARBIOTEARY

49507T) °

The discount rate was 13.00% for the The estimated fair value
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: decreases when the
13.00%), calculated by using the capital discount rate increases.
asset pricing model.

EREREETERLYFE  BE HRERRRE - E AT
026F12ANALEFENRERXE @RS -

13.00% (2023 % : 13.00%) °
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17.BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

(e) QUANTITY OF THE AGRICULTURAL PRODUCE PRODUCED
BY THE GROUP’S BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

/\\ Notes to Financial Statements

17.5MEE =)

(e) ANEBLEVEEMELNE

Raw milk R

EmANEE
2023
20234
Tonne
TR
737,559 726,154

()  GAIN ARISING ON INITIAL RECOGNITION OF AGRICULTURAL
PRODUCE AT FAIR VALUE LESS COSTS TO SELL AT THE
POINT OF HARVEST

() RBERSZELIFEREEE
RmEIRERELENR

m

2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T

Raw milk JREH

3,080,614 3,324,055
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18.LONG TERM RECEIVABLES 18. REIFE IR
Contract amounts of Present value of
long term receivables long term receivables
REEWREENSE REEWRIERE

2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20234 2024 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT RELEEp ARETT RN

Within 1 year 1R 946 1,440 829 1,207
1t0 2 years 1E2F - 946 — 829
2to 5 years yEE:S - — — —
946 2,386 829 2,036
Less: Unearned finance income B RBERBERA (117) (350) — —
Present value of long term receivables ~ REIEKFERE 829 2,036 829 2,036
Portion classified as current assets FItEE A URIE R
under other receivables RBEELS (829) (1,207) (829) (1,207)
Non-current portion ERE I — 829 - 829
‘€
19.INVENTORIES 19.7&

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETTT

Consumables S iEm 24,826 24,714
Raw materials R 831,783 982,127
Total it 856,609 1,006,841
The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an expense was EREAYNGEEMREEAAR
RMB20,799,000 (2023: RMB3,511,000), which was recognised in revenue, 20,799,000 L (2023 F : AR
other income and gains (note 5). 3,511,00070) * IR SHE A - Efth

WA Ko Mezs (B RE 5) AP RERR ©
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. B 5 EUWFIE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFIT
Trade receivables B 5 WA 295,028 310,656
Impairment A (7,327) (7,327)
Net carrying amount REFE 287,701 303,329

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. In
2024, the credit period is generally one month, extending up to three
months for major customers. However, the Group normally allows a
credit limit to its customers credit terms which are adjustable in certain

circumstances and closely monitors overdue balances.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. The trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting

period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEETZAEETABERPETT
BE  -MN202uF FEH-RA—E
A XTE2EPRERE={A - A
AEE-RETEFP—EERBEH
RETHERTHE) LT SR

AER B Bk LB 5 R WK A R
BEMERRIELEMBERTR -
% E P EMGRIBYL EAT R

RE|BEHR - RIFHR B RNERE
AR ) & 5 R MR IR B R . 20 AT 40

/.

[mo

§

by

¥

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBET T AREFTT

Within 3 months 3EAR

7 months to 1 year TEAZE1F
1to 2 years 1824
Total w5t

287,701 302,688
= 228
= 413
287,701 303,329

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

20.E 5 EWFE )

At beginning of year REF
Impairment losses B E R
At end of year RER

B 5 R R E B R R 2B
T

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AT N R
7,327 7,327
7,327 7,327

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure ECLs. For special cases, management
will consider the corresponding expected credit losses separately. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more than one
year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

RERE B MO RABREREETR
BO - UFHERMEERRE - Kk
BT - BEEERDRIZ EHEERED
EEEE BEXDEARANAER
UBEBRRANZEEFL D EETHE
(RNEMER - FFPEHI MR - E/H
FREMEERBZANREEE)
B B BUETE AT H RBR B A0
BER SERSHEELRNREBH
ABNARBEEE - BRHIVREKR
KRBT EIE R SEER
—RmE ARBE-FNEZEK
SRR MEHRIE - A REUE( 98
B -
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21.PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND OTHER ASSETS

21. A RIEA - HEUW

MERHMBEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
RMB'000 RMB'000

AREET T AREF T

Prepayments SN

Deposits and other receivables e Rk E b FEWRIE
Prepaid expenses AT E R

Total 5T

Non-current prepayments FEBNHATES k1B
Current portion BIHAEL 5

36,856 85,032
16,789 32,866
10,755 11,003
64,400 128,901

= 49,848
64,400 79,053
64,400 128,901

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent receivables from sales
of biological assets, employee loans and financial support to distributors.
Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date by considering the probability of default of comparable companies
with published credit ratings. After applying IFRS 9, an impairment
analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix
to measure ECLs. ECLs are estimated by applying a loss rate approach
with reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate
is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A

B hEMEYHIBEEEEKBIHEE
EWEE BEERLEEHBMG
SE 2 RMGRIR - WE R - NERE
BEETRED T IEEREE AR
EEFRNAT LB AR EOBE -
FERBIR P BRELAFEIREK - 1
FHE O RAREREETRE
DI ARTERBMEEERE  A&E
Re2ZpEBRALENEBERABRE
FRYEYEEBRETHE - B8
TR EE R RE D AR
B R FERIAR KA EER ©
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22.0THER FINANCIAL ASSETS
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22 Hih e @& E

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T AR¥T T AREF T
Unlisted investment, at fair value BAFEG AHMEE YRS
through other comprehensive FELEMIRE (GERE)
income, non-current (a) 56,000 61,000
Short term investment deposits HHRERER (b) — 130,000
56,000 191,000
Current mE - 130,000
Non- current JEME 56,000 61,000
56,000 191,000
Note: M3
(@ The Group held a 9.12% equity interest in Bayannur Shengmu High-tech (a) AEEHEEEERMERSRAERE
Ecological Forage Co., Ltd. ("Shengmu Forage"). The Group designated the BEERAGEREZE]).12% %
equity investment as a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive o REEM2014F1A1BEXER
income upon initial application of IFRS 9 (2009) on 1 January 2014, as B PR B 75 R 45 2 Bl 8 9 57 (2009 4F ) B
management considered it a strategic investment for the purpose of securing BZBRAIEEETE RIEATET AHM
high quality raw materials in the long run. A decrease in fair value for the year HNENESHEE  REAEEER
ended 31 December 2024 with amounts of RMB5,000,000 (2023: increase in fair R —IEERKRE - B RAER
value, RMB4,000,000) had been recognized in other comprehensive income. BHERME - BE2024F128318
IEFEH A FER D AR 5000000
7T(2023F - RFELEN RARE
4,000,0007T) + B E AL 2 H U e
27“'( o
(b)  The above short term investment deposits were wealth management products (b)  EEEHREFREHPEANMIRITE

issued by banks in Mainland China. They were mandatorily classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest.

THEVER - FREHRREFRR
BB EARAFEAABENERE
E REAREBREFERNEGORDR
WIHEREAE RSN
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23.CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

/\\ Notes to Financial Statements

{%_844
I

23.RERBITHEBRRZ
BR %l $R 17 17 =K

204

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBEFIT
Cash and cash equivalents B MR EEBY 215,136 225,021
Time deposits with original maturity REEA BB =8 A8 EHFR
of more than three months 215,438 170,436
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the REEEREREREIIN
consolidated statement of cash flow HehkIReFEY 430,574 395,457
Time deposits with original maturity REHARE®E=E A5
of more than three months (note (a)) EHAF R (MI5E (a) 634,709 552,429
Restricted bank deposits (note (b)) SRR HIRITF R (KIEE (b)) 128,988 148,783
1,194,271 1,096,669
Less: Restricted bank deposits B ZBRBIERTTIER (128,988) (148,783)
Cash and bank balances e RIRITH R 1,065,283 947,886
Analysed as: AT
Current ikl 697,225 395,457
Non-current IERE 368,058 552,429
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTH R 1,065,283 947,886

The Group's cash and bank balances and pledged deposits were

denominated in the following currencies as follows:

REER D RIRITHE SR ERFHA

THEREEHE

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETIT

Euro B — 158
United States dollars x7T 1,519 1,983
Hong Kong dollars BT 3,559 143
RMB AR 1,189,193 1,094,385
Total HET 1,194,271 1,096,669

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A



Notes to Financial Statements

23.CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

Notes:

(a) Time deposits with original maturity over three months were held within
banks and carry interest at prevailing market rates of 2.35% to 3.49% (31
December 2023: 3.0% to 3.3%) per annum as at 31 December 2024. Commercial
acceptance bills with an aggregate balance of nil were secured by the Group's
deposits (2023: Certain commercial acceptance bills with an aggregate balance
of RMB50,000,000 were secured by the pledging certain of the Group's deposits
amounting to RMB50,000,000).

(b) As at 31 December 2024, restricted bank deposits mainly included deposits for
the issuance of bank acceptance and the bank accounts which were frozen by
the Intermediate People’'s Court of Hohhot, further details are given in note 33 to
the financial statements.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’'s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies

through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest rates.
Time deposits are made for varying periods depending on the cash
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective time
deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited

with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &
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23.RERBITHEBRRZ

PR&EISRITIER =

fsE

(a)  M2024F12A318 FARITHER
FHABR=-EANTHTFRIREF
2.35% F3.49% (2023412 318 :
3.0% £33%)MIBTMSF R E o N
AEBEARABROBERALEZRE
A RZT(2023F : REEHAARE
50,000,000 7T 8 & 5 7 225 BE ELAZR
£E 2585 AR 50000000 THE S
GRERAER) -

(b)  R2024F 128318 RHBITHE
REZBERAAERITARLEZGFEREH
MRS R T P AR A R R & IR IR
B BRE—SHBERT BRI T
330

ARBTHEEHBRAREMER - R
- AR P B RO E B IR AR B &
(BE EEMNEEERE) &A%
B A B R R IME R SRV IRTT
BARBLMAEMER -

RITFFERITHENERAE - EH
FROEFEFIHPT— BRFARENR
EFEME - WIZAARE BPFHRM X
FREUHI S, - SRITREBR R E M0 1F7
P BAY ER OR S A EER IR

-

17 e
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24.TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 24 B ENRIAREN
EE
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables of the Group as at the RBERRTEENE FENFHIER
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: JENERZEEEABHMIRE DTN
T

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AREET T AREFTT

Within 3 months 3EARA 1,036,986 1,031,541
4 to 6 months LE LA 596,909 620,504
7 to 12 months 7E121E A 3,689 44,257
1to 2 years 1227 5,898 4,982
2 to 3 years 2E3F 2,283 5,421
Over 3 years fBim3F 3,995 —
Total HEt 1,649,760 1,706,705
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled ZEEBSRNFIELEFE  HER
within 90-day terms. BHi—#"90H -
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25. HbETFIE R FER
g H

Notes 2024 2023
Mt 2024 F 2023 4
RMB'000 RMB'000

AREET T AREF T

25.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

RAFHINEATHIA (a)

Payables for taxes other than

corporate income tax 3,222 3,700
Payables for third parties’ deposits ERNE=F&s (a) 15,754 16,932
Salary and welfare payables B MEH (a) 72,341 86,896
Payables for acquisition of items WY « = R

of property, plant and equipment 18 B W FERT 5B 115,944 190,634
Dividends payable FET AR B (a) 1,585 —
Contract liabilities CR =N (b) 1,559 765
Provision for litigations and claims FA Mk RERE (d) 84,961 84,961
Financial guarantee contracts WG ERE K (c) 59 2
Others Hith (a) 9,140 6,889
Total it 304,565 390,779
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25.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continvea)

Notes:

These payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of 90 days.

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are
as follows:

25. E b &
Eﬁﬁ(ﬁ

g

#

SEYSEEE

ZEENRIAL EE R
/908

C B E R

72024 12 A31 B &% 2023F 12 A31H
BRBEFBUT :

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBT T

Short-term advances received from customers BN EF AT A

Sales of raw milk REHDHE 129 125

Sales of beef cattle R4 HE 691 636

Sales of other goods HivERIEE 739 4

Total HaEt 1,559 765
The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees given to banks in (c) MBERANERE FTEREERE

connection with facilities granted to Shengmu Forage. As at 31 December 2024,
the banking facilities guaranteed by the Company were RMB70,000,000 (2023:
RMB160,000,000), out of which RMB70,000,000 (2023: RMB68,963,000) was
utilised by Shengmu Forage, disclosed in note 33 to the contingent liabilities. The
Group has no consideration received from guarantee contracts.

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except for limited
circumstances.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of the ECL
allowance and the amount initially recognised less the cumulative amount of
income recognised. The ECL allowance is measured by estimating the cash
shortfalls, which are based on the expected payments to reimburse the holders
(i.e., the banks) for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the debtor (i.e., the associates and external distributors).

The credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts is classified as stage 1.
During the year, there were no transfers between stages (2023: Nil).

As of 31 December 2024, A civil judgement in relation to certain payment
obligations, provision has been made with amounting to RMB84,961,000 for
the probable losses, which was reflected in other expenses of the financial
statement. Further details are given in note 33 to the financial statements.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A

i [A) R 17 32 i 2 &R o % 20 BT 5 33
sEBEAMEE R2024F12831
H BARRERZBITRERE
A AR70,0000007T(2023F: AREE
160,000,0007T) + E A AR % 70,000,000
J0(20234F : AR¥5 68,963,000 T)FHE
HMEEFHH - NEBEWEBERE LK
EEAIRAE o

BRABERIEISN - A SR B MAR B 542
1R

IBERE OIREBMEEERBEFERY)
THERASEREERZRASENOR
BEE - REEEBRBEVRMGR
AeEstE  DENEEFE AN
RIT)MEEEEBE 2 AR FURA
SEEHE BB AN Z Q8 RN
s W Z (IR 2 -

ﬁﬂ%w% EHMEERBREEASE
o N FPEER 2 MBI EETS (2023
i CHE) o

HE2024F12A38 BRETH
FETHREBH R - CHAENEEE
AR 84,961,000 TTHBAS - 1hE Ak
EMBRENEMATF - GEAEZHF
15 BREIBEHRERME33 -
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26.INTEREST-BEARING BANK 26. ;T EERITERK

BORROWINGS
2023
20235
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
EBRA (%) HA  ARETT EGIHES IEE ARETT
Current B
Bank loans - unsecured RITIER — EEH 0.82-2.90 2025 666,565 0.87-3.26 2024 911383
Total - current et —BE 666,565 911,383
Non-current JEEE
Bank loans -unsecured RITIER — I 2.18-3.20  2026-2030 1,607,720 240-320  2025-2030 1,219,856
Total - non-current a5t —JERNHR 1,607,720 1,219,856
Total st 2,274,285 2,131239
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26.INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26.:t BB TER =

(continued)

/\\ Notes to Financial Statements

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREET T AREF T

Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: JEEZIRTTE
Within one year or on demand —FAFIREK 666,565 911,383
In the second year RE_F 1,055,120 —
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZFEFRTF
(EEMEREEN) 407,261 1,088,610
Beyond five years hE& 145,339 131246
Total st 2,274,285 2,131,239
Note: MsE
As at 31 December 2024, all of the Group's bank borrowings were denominated in RMB. R2026F 12318 - REBHZIIRITER

BAANRBEHE
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27.DEFERRED TAX

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 December 2024, no (2023: nil) deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB2,322,501,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB2,465,432,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of

dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of RMB5,512,000
(2023: RMB33,908,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the losses of
RMB5,512,000 (2023: RMB33,908,000) as they have arisen in subsidiaries
that have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax

losses can be utilised.

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &
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27.EER 1B

BEFRBEMCEMEDRE  MRTRER
MR INE R ERBIMNEEET IR
ARE - ZBIR10% B RN o IEIRER
20084F 1 A1 B ARk - I A 7 2007
F12A3NAEBMAAF o 8
Wi EE M E E TR AR 2
MATWHE - AEAMTENRER
K o REEEAERLER5%310% °
E it - A& [E 7B 5 0 R B R b Ak S Y
ZEWBARIAEBE2008F1A1H#E
EEMNEFT IR SN TET -

R20265F 124310 TERAEE
AR B A b R S RO B B R R BB TR
MR E B & F & e TR R R
BRERIIE(20234F - &) - BEFERE
RATBRER  ZEMBRRT KA
BEDIRZERT - RERBELEHIES
EEBRRENTRAANHE AR NY
BFE 4 = 502024 F 128318 4
A AR 2322501,0007C(2023
&+ AR 2465432,0007T) °

AN A A BORK A B B3 PR 1S TR &2
g%& o

AEBENEEFPRAMEE ZBR—
ERFRNERAKEBEERT T
2 BiIEEE AR %5,512,0007T(2023
F: AR 33,908,0007T) °

B EE A RS551200075(2023
& AR¥E33,908,0007T) 52k B 815
FlEEE—BREBEZHB AR BEER
Tt F) 4 58 7= 1 K AT g R R R 8 F] &)
Az BIEEE WL EEHEEEHE
RELEFRIBEEE ©
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28.SHARE CAPITAL 28. iR A
SHARES gl
2024 2023
2024 % 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Authorised: JETE
30,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HKD0.00001 30,000,000,000 f& &A% &
each (2023: 30,000,000,000 ordinary 0.00001 B ITH T
shares of HKD0.00001 each) (2023 4F : 30,000,000,000 %
FMEE 0.00001 BITHY
LA 236 236
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHME -
8,381,295,229 (2023: 8,381,295,229) 8,381,295,229 f%
ordinary shares (20234 :8,381,295,229 %)
T 69 69

29. TREASURY SHARES AND RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

TREASURY SHARES

The treasury shares of the Group represent the 135,067,000 shares
(2023: 237,344,000 shares) held by BOCI SECURITIES LIMITED, for
the benefit of eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme,
which further details are set out in note 30.

MOVEMENTS IN COMPONENTS OF EQUITY

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity in the financial statements.

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

The Group's contributed surplus represents the excess of the net
asset value of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company over
the nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company as
consideration pursuant to the Reorganisation and the warrants

exercised.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A

29.EERMP R HE

(a)

(b)

(c)

EFR 5
REBMEFRDIERREERFE
% AR QD F A" 135,067,000
% B% 13 (2023 4F © 237,344,000 f%
‘) BIBEROEBEAE
ERSHENNZRE &%
EAEE N IR

BENARIDEE
AEBENAFEER EFENRHE
KEZEH TN HRE 247
ERAEFHRK -

AEENEHESBREARRNE
M B ARMEEFEBEAR
ARBEEHAERNEEHITRN
K B 1T 18 R R A AE A (B A0 BB
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29. TREASURY SHARES AND RESERVES

(continued)
(d) RESERVE FUND

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and the articles
of association of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group, the PRC
subsidiaries are required to set up certain statutory reserves,
which are non-distributable. The PRC statutory reserves can only
be utilised for predetermined means upon approval by the relevant
authority.

(e) SHARE OPTION RESERVE

The share option reserve comprises the share options granted
which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the
financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are exercised or
be transferred to retained profits should the related options expire

or be forfeited.

30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 19 April 2022 (the "Adoption Date” and the “Grant Day I"), the Company
adopted a long-term share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”),
which shall remain effective for ten years, to recognise the contributions
by certain employees of the Group and to provide them with incentives
in order to: (i) improve the corporate governance structure to achieve
sustainable development of the Company; (ii) attract, retain and motivate
outstanding talents and build a common interest among shareholders,
the Company and employees; (iii) fully motivate the core employees and
continue to stimulate high-quality growth of the team performance; and
(iv) attract external talents for the Company. The board of directors had
approved three batches under the Share Award Scheme with amounting
to RMB35,000,000 in 2022, 2023 and 2024 for each batch, respectively,
which would vest 50% in the first anniversary of the grant date and
remaining 50% in the secondary anniversary of the grant date provided
that certain non-market performance and service conditions are met.
Upon acceptance of the Share Award Scheme, the grantee shall pay nil to

the Company as a consideration for the grant.
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29. @B

(d RFHEES

RBETEBREERAEETE
i A mEMERAA - PEM
BRBARLE TR DIREDE
TR - PEVEEREENEAR
FARE N BIBHLER TR AR
FERE e

(e) BBRERE

BREREERSROERKRTT
EOERE - BRBEIRMER
RUFFE 2.4 AR BERB A
METBRTE—THA - 8
5 FE AR B P A M JE T T (2 S 9 A B
R ERRF - SENERBERE
2RO B AREFE -

30. i 17 22 B 51 &

R2022F 4 A19B8(H M A H | &
[(HEBEBI  AAFTEMNTFRNE
ME R ERR 1 SB[ AR 1D 52 Eh T
2 UNEREAEEETEEELZ
B YA TEEZBANTEA
AURIEAERE BERARRIMRFER
B (i)Rkal - REFBEEFEAL -
BEKRE  ARHEBE T ZMNFEE
E8 : (i) Ty FAEZ OB TIERME -
SESBBRREENREENE &
(VAR ARRSIINBAS - EFE
EHE =R G R E - S e
2 Rl A A R 35,000,000 9 BIFE
2022 4F ~ 20234 K 2024F » R K
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30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continved) 30. R0 BB El =)

214

Subject to any early termination as may be determined pursuant to the
rules of the Share Award Scheme (the “Scheme Rules”), the Share Award
Scheme shall be effective from the Adoption Date and shall remain in
full force and effect for a period of ten years from the Adoption Date.
Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the shares under the Share Award
Scheme will comprise existing shares of the Company purchased or to be
purchased by the trustee (the “Trustee”, a professional and independent
trustee appointed by the Company to assist with the administration of the
Share Award Scheme) on the open market. The Share Award Scheme
shall be subject to the administration of authorised representatives
authorised by the Board and the Trustee in accordance with the Scheme

Rules.

The board of directors granted the first batch of shares of RMB35,000,000
to 60 selected participants (equivalent to a total of 95,246,531 shares
have been granted by the Company to a total of 59 middle and senior
management personnel of the Group on the Grant Day | and 13,695,580
shares to Mr. Zhang Jiawang on 30 November 2022) under the Share
Award Scheme.

The board of directors granted the second batch of shares of
RMB35,000,000 to 67 selected participants (equivalent to a total of
87,388,000 shares granted by the Company to a total of 66 middle and
senior management personnel of the Group and 12,566,000 shares to Mr.
Zhang Jiawang) on 21 April 2023 under the Share Award Scheme.

The board of directors granted the third batch of shares of
RMB35,000,000 to 62 selected participants, (RMB24,016,200 will
be settled by a total of 85,846,000 shares, and the remaining of
RMB10,983,800 award will be satisfied in cash), The award has been
granted by the Company to a total of 61 middle and senior management
personnel of the Group and Mr. Zhang Jiawang (equivalent to a total of
10,792,000 shares plus cash payment in the amount of RMB1,380,800)
on 19 April 2024 under the Share Award Scheme.
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30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (coniinved) 30. R0 B ET &l )
The following table discloses the number of shares of the Company TRPEREHANMERGD ER 2R
granted to selected participants of the Share Award Scheme during the FEL2EERTOARBROEE -

reporting period:

Outstanding Outstanding

as at Granted Forfeited Vested as at

1 January during during during 31 December

2024 the period the period the period 2024

R 2024 F 2024 F

1R1H 12A31H

8 RATE FERF FERRk EREB 8 RATE

Share Award Scheme Bfn 52 B 5T 8

First batch Efiid 53,889,040 = (831,094)  (53,057,946) =

Second batch EH 99,954,000 = (1,514,0000  (49,220,000) 49,220,000

Third batch E=H — 85,846,000 - — 85846000

153,843,040 85,846,000 (2,345,094)  (102,277,946) 135,066,000
The Group recognised a share award expense of RMB28,022,000 (for the RBERA - NEBRKG ER S
year ended 31 December 2023: RMB32,475,000) in respect of the Share T SR AR 10 22 B 5 S2 A R ¥ 28,022,000
Award Scheme during the reporting period. A total number of 53,057,946 TT(H £2023F 128318 It FE:
shares of the first batch of the Share Award Scheme and 49,220,000 A R #32,475,0007T ) ° B £2024
of the second batch Share Award Scheme were vested during the year FNAVALEFERNAGBENEILR
ended 31 December 2024. 19 2 B &T 8 IR 1D 48 81 & 53,057,946

f% B HE R RENET B R D B EA
49,220,000 B °
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31.PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MNEEEREERER
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS HEZEH B D E
Details of the Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling BEERFEREZNAEEIBER
interests are set out below: AIMFBHSINT ¢
Shengmu Pangu B 2023
20234
Percentage of equity interest held RS ETE D
by non-controlling interests 45% 45%
Profit for the year allocated to A E TR R F R T
non-controlling interests 7,124 16,556
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BT IERERRRE (1,382) (1,481)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling R s AR IR = 8
interests at the end of the reporting period EEE 3 188,782 183,040
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of T % [ B AR T W B TS B R o
Shengmu Pangu. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company i B e Ty B R TEM A R EE
eliminations: 3y -
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREET T AREF T
Revenue WA 261,266 281,574
Profit for the year F A5 K 15,832 36,790
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZTHER B 15,832 36,790
Current assets MEVEE 205,249 221,060
Biological assets EYEE 239,431 232,618
Other non-current assets HmIERBEE 94,311 102,008
Current liabilities mEAE (71,803) (46,854)
Net cash flows from operating activities KERBMBHREREFRE 65,460 60,337
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEDFIAR SRS FE (65,420) (27,567)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEESMABR S REFE (121) (32,887)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HehReFEMR D FE (81) (117)
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32.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Notes to Financial Statements

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of RMB1,176,000 (2023: RMB48,054,000)
and RMB1,176,000 (2023: RMB48,054,000), respectively, in respect
of lease arrangements for leasehold land.
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(a)

2.8 REMBRMTE

FEFRERS

REE  AEEFHEE LH0A9HE
ELH HERAREERMEE
BEWHFBSEENNAARE
1,176,000 7T (20234 : A R
48,054,000 7T ) &2 A R 1,176,000
JL(2023 4 : A R # 48,054,000
T °

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING (b) RETBELEMNEESEE
ACTIVITIES:
Lease
Bank loans liabilities
RITER HEAR
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREET T
At 1 January 2024 MR2024F1A1H 2,131,239 51,933
Changes from financing cash flows RERSREEEZEE 91,018 (15,784)
New Lease WHEE — 1,176
Lease Modification HEgE — 16,498
Interest expense FBFRXZ 52,028 4,800
At 31 December 2024 M20246F12H31H 2,274,285 58,623
Super
short-term Lease
Bank loans notes liabilities
IRITER  BEHmESH HEak
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREEF T AREF T
At 1 January 2023 ®2023%F181H 1,740,250 100,000 13,383
Changes from financing cash flows BIEREREELEZ
23 338,694 (100,648) (18,126)
New Lease EE — — 48,054
Lease Modification HE#SE - — 8,461
Interest expense FBEAZ 52,295 648 161
At 31 December 2023 7202312 A318 2,131,239 — 51,933
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32.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash

flows is as follows:

32.

REHEREBRME
(&)
(€ BERS R L

AR RERNEERSRL
MEWNT :

Within operating activities KRN
Within financing activities BVEEBIN
Total HEt

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AR®EFIT
(31,930) (14,147)
(15,784) (18,126)
(47,714) (32,273)

33.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group provided
guarantees to banks in respect of the bank loans of Shengmu
Forage amounting to RMB70,000,000 (2023: RMB68,963,000).
Further details are given in note 25.

On the civil judgement of the Inner Mongolia High People's Court
in relation to a claim against "Shengmu High-tech”, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the former directors
of the Group, a provision has been made with an amount of
RMB84,961,000 for the probable losses as at 31 December 2024
(31 December 2023: RMB84,961,000) to the Group after taking into
account the legal advice. The civil judgement of the instance has

not been issued by the reporting date.
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33.

HERE

(a) BHZ=2024F12A31BIEFE
ZSEIEE&JF&E%EU%EHF?XW
RITIRHER 2BAARY
70,000,00075(2023¢ CAR
68,963,0007T ) © #E— FFFIBEH
FAFTEE 25 ©

(b)) BARASTHSHARERE
HIEHSE(AARAF—HHE
BE2EMBAR) RAEEAF
EENERMTENREHA
E FAEERKEREIEERE
7202412 A 318 gt 7] g8
BRI B R IER AR 84,961,000
JL(2023F12A31H: AR
84,961,00070 ) KB - BLE R
HAH ARMRBHREHR
TE o



34.COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the

reporting period:

Notes to Financial Statements
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34.7KIE

REBERHRERROBEARALELNT

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREET T AREF T
Contracted, but not provided for: BRT4BERERE
Land and buildings T RIETF 5,195 43,733

35.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial (a)
statements, the Group had the following significant transactions

with related parties:

5.FEHE S IRE

PR % F R IRARE B e
X5 AEE R AT

BARS :

Notes 2024 2023
Bt = 2024 F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREF T
Associates: i A—/NG]|

Sales of products HEEm (i) 116,205 83,621

Affiliates of substantial shareholders: F ZXHEIE Q7] :
Purchases of raw materials BERME (i) (i) 249,302 211,538
Service charges Pk 7% & (i) (i) 2,571 1,481
Sales of products HEEm (i) (i) 2,924,816 3,229,483

Notes:

(i) The considerations were determined with reference to the then prevailing (i)

market prices/rates and the prices charged to third parties.

(ii) The related party transactions also constitute continuing connected (i)

transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

T -

REDSELERERITHEFIX
RABE=TTNEERTE -

BT XS IMER I ERER S
(EZRLTRAUE14AE) ©
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35.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continvea)

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL OF
THE GROUP

35. @B T IRE o

(b) AEEZZEEASAVIRE

REEE BT
BREFTEI R

Short term employee benefits
Pension scheme contributions

Total et

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
20,185 21,034
278 248

20.463 21,282

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive's emoluments
are included in note 8 to the financial statements.

OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

BEREFERESTRABFHHMH
E-THBENYBHRRWME
8 o°

(c) EREEEETS WAREEAER

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBEFIT
Amounts owed by/(owed to) ST AT & I Ay B 8 A
associates included in: K&/ (RSB E AT
B
Trade receivables 2 F WA 12,459 6,512
Affiliates of substantial shareholders: FTEREBBEAR
Trade receivables =) e 265,883 294,323
Trade and bills payables B 5 AN RIA R R E R (68,060) (3,492)
Prepayments, deposits and AR « e REAER
other receivable B 14,768 31,268
Other payables and accruals HEMEARIERTERER — (28,945)

Those balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed terms of repayment. Trade receivables and trade
payables with related parties have similar credit terms to those
offered by/to third parties.
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2024
FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets
Restricted bank deposits
Cash and bank balances
Trade receivables
Other financial assets

Total

STABNGE - EtEUIERR
HhEENEREE

RRAIRITER
Be RIRITHRR
BHREYGHIR
Hiv e mERE

st

Notes to Financial Statements
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6.2 T AN E
RBEHARANZESR T AREEN

T
2024 F
e
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income amortised cost
RAFETA R
Hith2EIKERN BBl BR &
SRIEE tREE &%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T ARETT
- 17,618 17,618
- 128,988 128,988
— 1,065,283 1,065,283
- 287,701 287,701
56,000 - 56,000
56,000 1,499,590 1,555,590
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36.€RITEMSE »)

(continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RERROSEER T ERBERN
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued) ™ (&)

2024 (Continued) 2024 F (&)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES Gzt =R

Financial
liabilities at fair
value through

profit or loss
RAYE

T AB&E
NERaesd

Designated
as such Financial
upon initial liabilities at
recognition amortised cost
e
R IR b RSB BR Y
EEAL cRIBE 5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTT ARETT

Financial liabilities included ST AE M FE A FRIE K

in other payables and accruals BIREANSREE — 304,506 304,506
Trade and bills payables B S ENFIBARENZE — 1,649,760 1,649,760
Interest-bearing bank and FTEIRIT R EMER

other borrowings = 2,274,285 2,274,285
Lease liabilities HEAE — 58,623 58,623
Financial guarantee contracts ST AH b FE T 78 K

included in other payables FEIREANPBEREL

and accruals 59 — 59
Total st 59 4,287,174 4,287,233
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36.€RITEMSE »)

(continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RERROSEER T ERBERN
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued) ™ (&)
2023 2023 F
FINANCIAL ASSETS THRERE
Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
fair value  through other Financial
through comprehensive assets at
profit or loss income amortised cost Total
BATERTA
/NS ] Hih2mE oz 323
STAEES Wase)  ARTIERE
TREE TRIEE TRIEE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREBTIT ARETT AREBTT ARETE

Long term receivables RHFEWFIE — — 829 829
Financial assets included STATBAFIE

in prepayments, E b WA K&

other receivables and HEMEER

other assets SREE — — 34,072 34,072
Restricted bank deposits SR HIERITIF K — - 148,783 148,783
Cash and bank balances HE RIBITHERS — — 947,886 947886
Trade receivables Z Z R EIA — — 303,329 303,329
Other financial assets HEthemEE 130,000 61,000 — 191,000
Total @t 130,000 61,000 1,434,899 1,625,899
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36.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36.€RITEMSE »)

(continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RERROSEER T ERBERN
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued) ™ (#&)
2023 (Continued) 2023 F(#)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES Gzt =R
Financial
liabilities at
fair value
through
profit or loss
EAFE
FFAER
HemasE
Designated
as such Financial
upon initial liabilities at
recognition amortised cost Total
REEER
RIIATE R R AR )
BEAL Ea =L st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT
Financial liabilities included in ST AE At JE < FRIE 2
other payables and accruals EIREAMESRARE — 390,779 390,779
Trade and bills payables B 5 AN FIA R R — 1,706,705 1,706,705
Interest-bearing bank and ETRIRITRAEMER
other borrowings — 2,131,239 2,131,239
Lease liabilities HEBE — 51,933 51,933
Financial guarantee contracts FT AE b FE T FIE &
included in other payables TEIRE AN BERE L
and accruals 2 — 2
Total 4@t 2 4,280,656 4,280,658
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37.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37. @@ TEWNAFER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NEEER
AEBSpTE(GRMEEANFESRE
HEERIINOEMERAFEWDT ¢

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to the fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
As at 31 December As at 31 December
REERT=-A=t—H AFERTZA=1+—H

2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20234 2024 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT RELEEp ARETT RN

Financial assets EREE
Long term receivables RHEAMEWUIR — 829 = 798
Financial liabilities Eay =R
Interest-bearing bank HEBRITER

Borrowings 2,274,285 2,131,239 2,263,240 2,126,142
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash EEEDHE ReRkRSEED -
equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, trade and bills payables, ERER -EZRWFIE - BSEN
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other RIEREMNEE - st ATENRIE - &
assets, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and EWRGBEREMNEENSRMEE
guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities granted to an STARMENFIERIBEREANSRE
associate approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short BENAERBE AR ERBE MR
term maturities of these instruments. REERMNAFELEEREAMRS

TERRZELANRNEHREIS -
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37.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37. @@ TEWNAFER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation

sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair

values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of long term receivables, the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank loans have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining

maturities.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of

the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

D[R ESHK=
SRMEERARNATERENZS
P EERTRENSEAR &
BISEH HENBIL -

TIIERBRBRGRFE :

RHREFENERBED - 5T 8K
TTREFREISERE B D A FETIRA
BEGES - EERBRESTEHAD
T RBRE A RS M RITRFAEHRIK
Rengm i AsE -

DNFHEER
TRAPAAEENER T AN FE

HEER

BAFEENEE

Fair value measurement using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Short-term investment deposits HHREFR

Unlisted investment, at fair value ELETRE  BAFEFTAEM
through other comprehensive income e

Total 5T

FRERTEEHABEN
ANEEFE(E=ZR)

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
— 130,000
56,000 61,000
56,000 191,000
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37.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37.2RTEMAFER
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) N EEHR =

7 faray =3
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) DFEFRAA)
RATEFTENEE

Liabilities measured at fair value:

Fair value measurement using
significant observable inputs (Level 2)

FRAERTEHREAZIEN

AFEFE(EZR)
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREF T
Financial guarantee contracts I BEREH 59 2
Total et 59 2

RAFEEENEE

Assets disclosed at fair value:

Fair value measurement using
significant observable inputs (Level 2)
ERERTHERBAHEN
AFEIHE(E=R)

2024
2024 5

RMB’000

2023
20234
RMB'000

ARETTT

Long term receivables

Liabilities disclosed at fair value:

RHRUGRIR

= 798

Fair value measurement using
significant observable inputs (Level 2)
ERAERTHRRAREN
AFEFE(EZR)

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREF T

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

AHERITER

2,263,240 2,126,142
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37.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of
financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as

at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

37.2®MITENAFER

NEEEH =

ARESH(E)

AT A7 20249%12 A 31 B R 20234
12 A3 BRI EGENERNA]

B A ABEBEHEEREEHRED

Vil
Valuation Significant Sensitivity of
technique unobservable input Range fair value to the input

BERTAEE NHEHEA

fEER* BARE BE BBNSEE
Short-term Future cash flow Expected yield Nil  10% (2023:10%) increase (decrease) in
investment deposits method (2023:1.6%  expected yield would result in increase
t03.22%) (decrease) in fair value by Nil (2023:

RMB153,000)
RERETK ARBREmAE  BAHREEX 0 78 HA Mo ss 42 OR 2) 10% (2023
(20235 : % :10%)  BEHQAFELZMORD)

Unlisted investment, at
fairvalue through
other comprehensive
income

FETRE - BRATE
AR R E U A

Market approach

mi5A

Discount for lack
of marketability
(‘DLOM")

EHPEITE
([EIEBEYTE])

1.6% % 3.22%)

20%
(2023: 20%)

20%
(20234 -
20%)

Z7(2023% : AR 153,0007T)

10% increase/decrease in DLOM would
result in decrease/increase in fair value
by RMB1,794,000 (2023: RMB1,600,000)

ERBEIT BRI, HD 10% B ER
NFERD /8 INARE1794,000
J0(2023 % « AR 1,600,0007T)

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank borrowings, pledged deposits and cash and bank balances. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade and bills payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group's policy
that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below:

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's long term debt obligations with a floating
interest rate.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-
rate bank borrowings. The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise. The Group's interest rate profile is set out in note 26.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax through the impact on floating-rate borrowings

and the Group's equity.

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

37 December 2024 20244 12 31 H

3. BEMEER TR
BR

AEEF2oRMIABEFBRITE
FBEREREREMRITER - &
%ﬁmﬁlﬂia%ﬁé%ﬁ%lﬁ@%@
ER8E2  AEEEZREMESEME
ERAE MESEYGEANES
ENFELENRIE(AELSEERE
£

REB—E 2K WHAEBEREBESF
ER - TEETEMTASE -

AEEBCRIAELNTIERREN

Rk - SRR - EERR &R
éﬁﬂw cEEEM T&Hiﬁﬁx
ZERBORR  ZFRRMED
T

A=

7K 55 B T 4 69 T 35 ) R S B AL B
EARSE @Hz/%%b?ﬁlh—\aﬁuﬂ’ﬂﬁ/ﬂﬂ%ﬁ%
REHR -

AEBHRAFEMNERREEERT S
fﬁmﬁih*ﬁl%ﬁ EHIJ N SERI

@;T)EPBZ CEEESEREM
IEEEEET%FE%T/EPEj(*'J

bz o REE IR ZH A FE26 o

TRERERA LS B RETE
B - A B 0 BLAT R 4R LA
RMYERAEEREYRIEART
BB B A -
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continvea)

INTEREST RATE RISK (Continued)

3. KRR EEBER
BUR )

Increase/
(decrease) in
basis points

BN LEE

/(TR&)

2024 2024 5
RMB AR
RMB AR
2023 2023 F
RMB AR
RMB AR

FIZ @\ b (45)

(Decrease)/
increase (Decrease)/
in profit increase
before tax in equity*
R A0 E A BY R
(TR) B (THR)/ER*
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
50 (4,879) (4,879)
(50) 4,879 4,879
50 (13,469) (13,469)
(50) 13,469 13,469

*

Excluding retained profits

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group's businesses are principally located in Mainland China and
substantially all transactions are conducted in RMB, except for the
purchases of imported machinery and equipment. During the year,
substantially all of the Group’s assets and liabilities were denominated
in RMB except that as at 31 December 2024, cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB1,519,000 (2023: RMB1,983,000) and RMB3,559,000
(2023: RMB143,000) were denominated in United States dollars
("USD") and Hong Kong dollars ("HKD"), cash and bank balances was
not denominated in Euro (2023: RMB158,000).The fluctuations of the
exchange rates of RMB against foreign currencies could slightly affect
the Group's results of operations.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in the USD exchange rate (2023: USD exchange rate) with all
other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities):

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A

- TEIEREEF

SN LB

AEBMNERETSMNRAPREALL - B
BRIDZHAANREEIT HBE
HOMBREBBERN  RFAR - K
EENBABIEERBEUAR
oo B M R2024F 128318 8
AR 1519,00070(20234F - AR
1,983,0007T ) & A R 3,559,000
(20234« AR®143,00070) IR &
RiRTHgAET(ET D RAT
(BT DEHE - WER S RRITES
LABRTEHE (20234 © AR ¥ 158,000
7o) o ANREEETHMNE Y FE FOR B A] BE IR
W BREBEMNEEEE -

TERBTEMBRMBEERF T E
B - AN SR A B B A s ) B SR T E R
(20234 : RILER) B A EHEHH
FRE(HNEEEERAENATE
#E) :



38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continvea)

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (Continued)
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.U KEREEEER

B )

SN RBR (42)

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in rate before tax
EXMIER BREADEFH
S (TRBE) R (TH)
% RMB’'000
ARBT T
2024 2024 F 5 1,093
(5) (1,093)
2023 20234 5 1,045
(5) (1,045)
CREDIT RISK FERE

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to
bad debts is not significant.

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. For
listed debt investments, the Group also monitors them by using external
credit ratings. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee
contracts.

AEEERERRMEEBRIENF =
TETRS - REAKREOBE - L

BEUEERARZNER H BAB
BEERSE - W AREERER
REW IR - BASEEEH
ZERERIY AEK o

B KRB K 5 R PE ER
TRHEJNERAEBEEBRYTH
EEEERBEAEERR  HNHEEZE
ER12 31 BNAMBER(KRIETFE
AN HTBERARNSNSE AN ES
MEMER) RFRPEEDIE - L LT
BBZREMS - NEBIMEAINBE
BT RHEETER - M2 EEA
CHEAERAABERTHERELN
ZERK o
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT .U KEREEBEEZER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (ontinvea) B )
MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING (Continued) BAREKFEREERE)

As at 31 December 2024 12-month
M 2024F 12 431 H ECLs Lifetime ECLs
T=EA B{HHRE
BHEEEE BHEEESE

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

F1BR F2RR FIER (k075
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥TR ARETr AR%TR AR%T:R

Trade receivables* B 5 G E - - - 295,028 295,028
Financial assets included in AN FIE - Efb el
prepayments, other receivables  FIBREMEER

and other assets* SREE"

- Normal* —E%" = = - 17,618 17,618
Restricted bank deposits XRHIRITER

— Not yet past due — AR A 128,988 - - - 128,988
Cash and bank balances Re RBTES

— Not yet past due —HARAH 1,065,283 - - - 1,065,283
Guarantees given to banks in BB AREREEEM

connection with facilities mRITRAAER

granted to associates

— Not yet past due — AR A 70,000 - - - 70,000
Total @t 1,264,271 - - 312,646 1,576,917
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continvea)

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING (Continued)

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

37 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

3. KRR EEBER
BUR )

RAREBRFERERE)

As at 31 December 2023 12-month
R20235 124318 ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=M@A B{EHE Total
BHEEER BHEEER @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
F1RER £ F3IER BlEm*
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETE ARETR ARt AR&TR
Trade receivables* B HEWIR" - - - 310,656 310,656
Long term receivables™ RGO
- Normal** —EE* 829 - - - 829
Financial assets included in STATERFUR - Efofelk
prepayments, other receivables FBREMEER
and other assets® PREE"
- Normal* —E®* - - - 34,072 34,072
Restricted bank deposits XRHFITFER
— Not yet past due —HARAH 148,783 - - - 148,783
Cash and bank balances Re RBTHEA
— Not yet past due — AR A 1,077,886 - - - 1,077,886
Guarantees given to banks in BEEAREREEEM
connection with facilities MR ER
granted to associates
— Not yet past due —HARAH 68,963 - - - 68,963
Total st 1,296,461 — = 344,728 1,641,189

For trade receivables, prepayments, deposits and other receivables to which
the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 20 and 21 to the financial statements,
respectively.

The credit quality of long term receivables and the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets are considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

*%

RAEEEABEHERENE SR
B - FENRE - e REHMEWRE
M @ ERBEEEANER TS R
FERAMTE 20 N2 21 R EE o

fis = B FE MR IR AT ATER 50 - B
AR EMEENEBEEL RE
B ArSERBEREREEFERR
B AR A RE B IN - BIRENE
BEZRAREIETR]  BREBEED
EEERWREIARE] -
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT .U KEMEEEER

234

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continvea)
MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit
risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and
by industry sector. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk
within the Group as the customer bases of the Group's trade receivables

are widely dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk
arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’'s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings and projected

cash flows from operations.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA K ZEER A A

B )
BREBRERBERE)

HRAEEERERRNEZRFHN
B=TETRS  MHAE=TRH
EEERY - EEETRBEETS,
BFHEMIGHERITERERNETE
2o AEEYTEEFNERNEEETA
B DHRAEEE S REGHIRN T
FPEREZD MR ZERFIRITE -

FRASEEYNHEZREGRRE
EREERREERENE—FTER
BB B TS MR RE 20 ©

BN ELR
AEEEHEBBERRITERARE
AREMBREREEESNFEN
SRR 2 M T o
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT .U KEMEEEER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continvea)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial

liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on contractual

undiscounted payments.

B )

BN RS ()

TERBMEREFTHOMARMBNK -
AEBRRERRNIMEREE -

Ondemand Lessthan 1year 1to 5 years Over 5 years Total
REX SR1E 125% BiB5E @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR
2024 202LF
Financial liabilities included in ~ sF AE A JER FIE R
other payables and accruals ~ TBIRBFMEREE 304,565 - - - 304,565
Trade and bills payables BHRNFERENRR 1,649,760 - - - 1,649,760
Lease liabilities MEaR - 18,909 43,235 - 62,144
Interest-bearing bank and TERTREMER
other borrowings (excluding  (TREREERE)
lease liabilities) = 718,003 1,513,588 145,016 2,376,607
Guarantees given to banks BRENREREEEM
in connection with facilities MRITIREMNER
granted to associates 70,000 = = = 70,000
Total #Bar 2,024,324 736,912 1,556,823 145,016 4,463,075
2023 20235
Financial liabilities included in st AR AL ERFER
other payables and accruals ~ FEIREBRNEREE 390,779 - - — 390,779
Trade and bills payables EHENFTERERNEE 1,706,705 - - - 1,706,705
Lease liabilities HERAE - 13,380 38,553 - 51,933
Interest-bearing bank and FERTREMER
other borrowings (excluding ~ (TBEEEEE)
lease liabilities) — 911,383 1,088,610 131,246 2,131,239
Guarantees given to banks BB AREREEEM
in connection with facilities MR TIREMER
granted to associates 68,963 - - - 68,963
Total @it 2,166,447 924,763 1,127,163 131,246 4,349,619
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OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continvea)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debt
divided by the total capital. Total debt includes interest-bearing bank
borrowings and lease liabilities. Total capital is the equity as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group's policy is
to maintain a healthy gearing ratio. The gearing ratios at the end of the

reporting periods were as follows:

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (note 26)

Lease liabilities HEBE
Subtotal /Nt

Total equity M AR
Gearing ratio IR R

FHRIRIT REME R (HFE 26)

B )

EAREE
FEEEAEEN TR REA
2 )45 00 A A A TB AR A b
S LS AR Al S
KB -

TEEGRBEERAE L REEE
ENEREHEELARAEINE
EENEARKNT TRENORE - M
IREGRERARLBEITHR - NEEL
EAEAIINGSE AT K - BIE 2024512
B31HN2023F12 A3 HILFE -
BEAEEMNEE  BRIRELEE
1t »

AEBEERERELERERERN &I
RIREBRBRARERTE - B
REEERRITEFMBEERE
BERREAMBARRKA AR -
AEEOBRRERFRBENERL
Ko MEHRNBRLEMT

o

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFIT
2,274,285 2,131,239
58,623 51,933
2,332,908 2,183,172
4,175,792 4,236,255
55.9% 51.5%
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39.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  39.7K A B B AR R+

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at

WIRE IR - B BIAR T B RR R
RERIT :

2

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

31 December

31 December

yJiyJA 2023
2024 F 20234
128318 12 A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries REBATRIRE 562,315 543,599
Due from subsidiaries JEUR B B A =) FRTE 2,852,920 2,852,549
Total non-current assets IEMENE EAETE 3,415,235 3,396,148
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, other receivables TE OB - EMEBGRER
and other assets HEmm&E 611 600
Cash and bank balance B MIRTT4# 6 5,264 32,693
Due from subsidiaries Y= NCIE L] 193,097 259,082
Total current assets MEVEEMRLE 198,972 292,375
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals HtEHRIERTERER 13,201 20
Total current liabilities mB B ELE 13,201 20
NET CURRENT ASSETS FEREEE 185,771 292,355
TOTAL ASSETS BEERABAR
LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,601,006 3,688,503
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHERITER — 70,000
Total non-current liabilities EREBELRRE — 70,000
Net assets HEE 3,601,006 3,618,503
EQUITY R
Share capital % 69 69
Reserves (note) R (KEE) 3,600,937 3,618,434
Total equity AR 3,601,006 3,618,503
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* 39.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONOF  39. KA TR AT =)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: PfitsE -

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARRFEER AT

Treasury
Share shares held Exchange
premium Share Other under share Accumulated fluctuation
account  option reserve reserves  award scheme losses reserve

BERG

B8 EX

ROEE BRERE HtEE SENERR  ZHER  KBRG o3t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETR ARWT:R

At 1 January 2024 R2024F1R10 3,615,480 93,953 131 (76,887) (141,240) 126,997 3,618,434
Loss for the year and FABRREZANGES
total comprehensive income - - - - (29,507) - (29,507)
Shares purchases for R EEBNRAER
share award scheme
Share Award Scheme R A3 SR 8l - 28,022 - - - - 28,022
Dividends distribution BENK (17,588) = = = = = (17,588)
Shares exercised under TRIERR (D Rt Bl TIERIRR LD
Share Award Scheme 1,150 (34,283) - 33,133 -
Others Eft - - 1576 - - - 1576
At 31 December 2024 M 2026F12 4318 3,599,042 87,692 1,707 (63,754) (170,747) 126,997 3,600,937
Treasury
Share shares held Exchange
premium Share Other under share  Accumulated fluctuation
account  option reserve reserves  award scheme losses reserve Total
RERH
122 32}
RiAEE  BRERE HibfE  #ANEER ZER RENGER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETRL  ARETT  ARETR ARETL  ARETRL  ARETT  ARETR

At 1 January 2023 202351 818 3,702,140 57,265 131 (26,188) (132,998) 126,997 3727347
Loss for the year and FRBERZANEEE

total comprehensive income — — - - (8,242) - (8,242)
Shares purchases for RN REEINRNEE

share award scheme - - - (66,657) - - (66,657)
Share Award Scheme 17 2B - 52,161 - - - - 52,161
Dividends distribution B8R (87,184) - - - - - (87,184)
Shares exercised under RER D REE B TER R

Share Award Scheme 524 (15,473) - 15,958 - - 1,009
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31R 3,615,480 93,953 131 (76,887) (141,240) 126,997 3,618,434
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39.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONOF  39. KA TR AT =)

THE COMPANY (continued)
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options BEBREREREEREBEHERITED
granted which are yet to be exercised. The amount will either be BRENATE ZeBEBEREBE
transferred to the share premium account when the related options are IRAEEITEREBEER O BEERN - 5
exercised, or be transferred to accumulated losses should the related i B R R e M o2 W - R 8
options expire or be forfeited. BE=ZRFEEA -

40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 40. #it B R R R
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the PERERN2025F3 4260 A EEE
board of directors on 26 March 2025. ok R T8 -
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Financial Summary

M HE

Unit: RMB'000 B ARBTR For the year ended 31 December
HE+-_A=Z+—HILtFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 F 2023 4F 2022 4F 2021 4F 2020 £
Revenue SHE WA 3,126,184 3,383,629 3,176,253 2,984,616 2,660,823
Profit for the year FWm A (64,515) 94,612 450,073 509,571 460,969
Of which: Profit attributable H/ : FRRHA A
to owners of the parent FEMRE (65,495) 86,076 416,460 471,713 406,680
Earnings per share a AR T B ER
ttributable to ordinary BE AEG
equity holders of SRAEF :
the parent:
Basic AR RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR AR AR AR ARHE
(0.0080)7c 0.01047C 0.04997T 0.05637T 0.05357TC
Diluted B RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR AR AR AR ARHE
(0.0080)7c 0.01037T 0.04967T 0.05637T 0.05357TC
At at 31 December
Rn+=—A=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 F 2023 4F 2022 F 2021 20204
Total assets BEE 8,464,252 8,516,911 7,887,632 7,131,585 6,725,226
Total liabilities BaEfE 4,288,460 4,280,656 3,625,950 3,242,400 3,305,700
Net assets FEE 4,175,792 4,236,255 4,261,682 3,889,185 3,419,526
Of which: equity attributable H/ : S RRHEA A
to owners of the parent: FE{GREE 3,963,007 4,023,068 4,055,187 3,679,833 3,196,732

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED R EIEEM AN E AR AR
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